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IMPORTANT NOTICE 
 

Please see section 14 for definitions used in this Prospectus. 

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the listing of the shares of Bakkafrost on Oslo Børs and the 
Offering as set out herein. The Prospectus has been prepared in an English version and a Danish version. The English 
language Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and related legislation and 
regulations including the EC Commission Regulation EC/809/2004. Oslo Børs has reviewed and approved the English 
language version of the Prospectus in accordance with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act Section 7-7 and the Directive 
2003/71/EC, Chapter IV, Article 13, as the home Member State. The Danish language version of the Prospectus has been 
prepared to comply with the Faroese Security Act of 10 February 2006. Oslo Børs has reviewed and approved the Danish 
language version of the Prospectus according to transferred approval authority from Finanstilsynet (the Danish FSA) 
acting as Faroese prospectus authority, for the purpose of the Faroese Retail Offering.  

The Company has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Managers make no representation or warranty, 
expressed or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information, and nothing contained in this Prospectus 
is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation by the Managers. All inquiries relating to this Prospectus must 
be directed to the Company or the Managers. No other person is authorised to give any information about or to make any 
representations on behalf of the Company in connection with the Listing or the Offering. If any such information is given 
or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Company or by the Managers.  

The information contained herein is as subject to change, completion and amendment without notice. In accordance with 
Section 7-15 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, every significant new factor, material mistake, or inaccuracy 
relating to the information included in the Prospectus, which is capable of affecting the assessment of the Shares 
between the time when the Prospectus is approved and the time of the Listing, will be published and announced as a 
supplement to the Prospectus. Publication of this Prospectus shall not create any implication that there has been no 
change in the Company’s affairs or that the information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of the 
Prospectus. 

In the ordinary course of their respective businesses, the Managers and certain of its affiliates have engaged, and may 
continue to engage, in investment and commercial banking transactions with the Company. 

The contents of this Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each reader of this Prospectus 
should consult with its own legal, business or tax advisor as to legal, business or tax advice. If you are in any doubt 
about the contents of this Prospectus you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other 
professional adviser before making any investment decision. 

Investing in shares issued by the Company, including the Offer Shares, involves inherent risks. Prospective investors 
should carefully consider the risks associated with the investment when reading the information contained in this 
Prospectus and be aware of the risk of losing such investment in its entirety before deciding to invest. Certain risk factors 
are set out in Section 2 “Risk Factors”.  

This Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. Any dispute arising in respect of or in connection with this Prospectus or the 
Offering is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts with Oslo District Court as legal venue, however 
so that any dispute arising in respect of the Faroese Retail Offering is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Faroese 
courts with Tórshavn District Court (“Sorinskrivarin”) as legal venue. 

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction other than Norway and the Faroe Islands by the Managers or the 
Company that would permit a public offering of the Offer Shares, or the possession or distribution of any documents 
relating thereto, in any jurisdiction where specific action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, this Prospectus may 
not be used for the purpose of, and does not constitute, an offer to sell or issue, or a solicitation of an offer to buy or 
subscribe for, any securities in any jurisdictions in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not lawful or 
authorised. The Company and the Managers require persons in possession of this Prospectus to inform themselves about 
and to observe any such restrictions. 

The Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
“Securities Act”), or with any securities authority of any state of the United States. The Offer Shares will be offered and 
sold in offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and in the 
United States to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Offer 
Shares may not be offered, pledged, sold, resold, granted, delivered, allotted, taken up, or otherwise transferred, as 
applicable, in the United States, except in transactions that are exempt from, or in transactions not subject to, 
registration under the Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable state securities laws. For a description of 
certain restrictions on transfer of the Offer Shares, see section 13.6 “Selling restrictions”.  

Neither the United States Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or 
disapproved of the Offer Shares or determined if this Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the 
contrary is a criminal offence. 

Explicitly, the Offer Shares may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into inter 
alia Canada, Japan or Australia 

Each prospective investor and Applicant must comply with all applicable laws and regulation in force in any jurisdiction in 
which it purchases, applies for, offers or sells the Offer Shares or possesses or distributes this Prospectus and must 
obtain any consent, approval or permission required for acquiring Offer Shares. 

Each purchaser of Offer Shares will be deemed to have acknowledged, by its application for Offer Shares that the 
Company and the Managers and their respective affiliates and other persons will rely on the accuracy of the 
acknowledgements, representations and agreements set forth herein. 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The following summary should be read as an introduction to this Prospectus, and is qualified in its entirety, by the more 
detailed information and the Appendices appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the Shares 
should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as a whole. 
In case a claim relating to the information contained in the Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff Investor 
might have to bear the cost of translating the Prospectus before legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches to 
those persons who have tabled the summary including any translation thereof, and applied for its notification, but only if 
the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus. 
For definitions and terms used throughout this Prospectus, please refer to Section 14 “Definitions and Glossary of Terms”. 

1.1 Description of Bakkafrost 

1.1.1 Introduction 
Bakkafrost is the largest salmon producer in the Faroe Islands. The company produced 30,650 tonnes 
gutted weight in 2009. Bakkafrost owns 44 % of total licenses on the Faroe Islands currently representing 
around 60% of total harvest volumes1. 

The Company operates five fully owned hatcheries and fourteen fish farming licenses for marine production 
of Atlantic salmon in the Faroe Islands in addition to one license currently being out of production. The 
licenses are located in thirteen different fjords.  

All primary processing takes place at the slaughtery facilities in Klaksvík and Kollafjørð, and all secondary 
processing takes place in the VAP (value added products) facility in Glyvrar. 

1.1.2 History 
The Bakkafrost business was established by the two brothers Hans and Roland Jacobsen in 1968. The first 
processing plant was built the same year. A second processing plant was built in Glyvrar in 1972. 

In 1979 the Company started up the farming activities as one of the first companies in the Faroe Islands.  

In 1992 Regin Jacobsen, Hans Jacobsen and Martin Jakobsen restructured the Group. At this time the Group 
had farming licenses for salmon in two fjords, slaugthering capacaties for salmon in Glyvrar, as well as 
pelagic processing capabilities and production of styropor boxes for transportation of fish. 

A Value Added Product (“The VAP”) factory for salmon was built in the factory in Glyvrar in 1995. The 
investment was limited, and the capacity low. The Group increased the capacity of the VAP to around 22 
tonnes gutted weight per day through two separate investments during 2002 in order to facilitate further 
growth. 

In 2006 the Group grew through acquisitions and mergers and increased its farming capacity with 15,000 
tonnes gutted weight to a total capacity of 18,000 tonnes gutted weight of salmon. The Group gained 
access to six new fish farming fjords and two hatcheries for production of smolts and fry. The Group made 
large investments to increase the VAP factory in Glyvar to manage the increased volumes and the factory 
reached a capacity of 55 tonnes gutted weight per day. 

In 2008 the shareholders of Bakkafrost and Vestlax agreed to merge the companies. The merger was 
scheduled for 1. January 2010. The P/f Vestlax Holding’s shareholders agreed to be remunerated in 
Bakkafrost shares. The Vestlax Group had a capacity of 11,000 tonnes gutted weight salmon and trout and 
a processing plant located in Kollafjørð. 

2009 became the best year ever in terms of produced volumes, revenues and operating profit. Decision 
made to list the company at Oslo Børs during 2010. 

In 2010 the merger with P/f Vestlax Holding was finalized. The merged company produced 30,650 tonnes 
gutted weight in 2009 on a total of 15 licenses. 

1.1.3 Business Description 
Bakkafrost controls the entire value chain from smolt to sales and marketing. Control of the entire value 
chain is considered important to be able to control the product flow on a daily basis. Both customers and 
processing facilities depends on daily availability of salmon, and depends entirely on a steady flow of 
harvested fish.  

The quality of the fish is a result of the whole operation from salmon egg to the processing of the fish. The 
documentation and traceability from finished product back to the salmon egg and even to the raw materials 
in Bakkafrost’s salmon feed is important for its customers and therefore important to Bakkafrost. 

                                                                  
1 2009 FIGURES 
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1.1.3.1 Smolt 

Bakkafrost owns a total of eight hatchery licenses. The Company operates five hatcheries with a total 
production capacity of around seven million smolts per year, making the Company self sufficient with 
smolts.  

Bakkafrost’s hatcheries are located in environments with large quantities of clean fresh water, where no 
villages or industries are competing for the water. The hatcheries are equipped with closed water circulation 
systems with bio filters, and the fish tanks are inside buildings in order to limit the effect of external factors 
such as weather, birds and other pollution.  

The workforce in the hatcheries is very experienced, of which many of the employees have been working at 
the hatcheries since the early nineties. 

Over the last four years Bakkafrost has changed its strategy and waited until the size of the smolts have 
reached 80-100g before releasing them into the sea. The Company believes this has had a positive effect 
when measuring productivity and mortality, and hence contributed to improving the Company results during 
this period. 

1.1.3.2 Farming 

The total harvested volume in 2009 was about 30,650 tonnes gutted weight.  

Going forward, Bakkafrost has decided to terminate the trout activities, and only focus on the production of 
Atlantic salmon.  

All the fish are harvested at the slaughtery factories in Klaksvík and Kollafjørð. The slaughteries have a daily 
capacity of around 220 tonnes lwe at the current run rate at 1½ shift in average. The fish is transported 
from the farming sites to the slaughteries in well boats with closed end water systems. 

Bakkafrost’s well boat fleet consists of two vessels: One smaller well boat (230m3/45 tonnes wfe) and a 
larger well boat (660m3/ 110 tonnes wfe), both with closed systems. 

1.1.3.3 VAP 

The 4,000 m2 VAP factory in Glyvrar has a capacity of producing 30 tonnes (product weight) of skin- and 
boneless 125g vacuum-packed portions in retail boxes per day.  

The primary customers for this product are the European supermarket chains. Opportunities to grow into 
new regions and to new customers are present. However, as demand from existing customers has grown 
rapidly, Bakkafrost’s strategy over the last years has been to show full commitment to existing customers 
rather than increasing the number of customers. 

Another market segment important for the VAP products is industrial customers buying whole fillets for 
further processing and by-products. This market has been developed during the last five years, and all by-
products are now sold at a margin. The customers in this segment are mainly European or from the Far 
East. 

1.1.3.4 Sales 

The strategy of the Company is to balance the sales mix between different geographical markets as well as 
different product segments. 

The two most important markets are the European market and the US market, in which Bakkafrost mainly 
sells VAP products and whole fish. In general, the VAP products are sold on long term contracts and the 
whole fish is sold in the spot market. 

Bakkafrost believes that its capability to serve both these geographical markets with the two categories of 
products efficiently reduces cross cycle fluctuations in both revenues and profitability. 

The strategy is to offer advantages to the larger super-market chains by securing product availability and 
stable high quality and preferred products. 

1.2 Summary of Risk Factors 

A number of risk factors may adversely affect the Company. Below is a summary of the most relevant risk 
factors described in section 2. Please note that the risks below are not the only risks that may affect the 
Company’s business or the value of the Shares. Additional risks not presently known to the Board or 
considered immaterial may also impair its business operations and prospects. 
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1.2.1 Market risk 
Market risk include risk for future development and depend to a considerable extent on the price of farmed 
salmon, the balance between total supply and demand for farmed fish, risk for fluctuations in feed prices, 
perceived health concerns or food safety issues may negatively impact the reputation of farmed salmon, 
even if there is no direct risk to human health, and may consequently have a negative impact on the 
demand for farmed salmon. 

1.2.2 Financial risk 
Financial risk includes risk for not obtaining necessary funding in a timely manner and on acceptable terms 
in addition to risk due to fluctuations in interest and exchange rates. The Company will attempt to minimise 
these risks by implementing hedging arrangements as appropriate. 

1.2.3 Operational risk 
Operational risk include risk for diseases of the fish, risk for loosing key personnel, regulatory risk and 
certain risk of sabotage (i.e. damage to production facilities with the intention of hurting the Group 
financially and/or exposing it to negative media coverage). 

1.2.4 Risk factors relating to the Shares 
Shares include price volatility of publicly traded securities, difficulties for foreign investors to enforce civil 
liabilities in Norway, significant restrictions on U.S. investors’ ability to transfer or resell their Shares; risk 
for foreign shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to participate in future offerings. 

1.3 Transaction structure 

1.3.1 Transaction overview 
The Offering consists of a primary offering of such number of New Shares representing gross proceeds of 
about NOK 82,000,000 (based on the current NOK/DKK exchange rate) and a secondary sale of minimum 
14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 Shares offered by the Selling Shareholders (the “Secondary 
Shares”). The new ordinary shares (the “New Shares”) are offered by the Company and subject to final 
resolution by the Board pursuant to authorization granted by the general meeting of the Company on 15 
February 2010. In addition, the Managers have an option, to over-allot 1,836,768 Shares as part of the 
Offering as further described under Section 5.16. The Company intends to issue such number of New 
Shares raising a NOK amount equalling DKK 75 million. The Offering comprises: 

• An Institutional Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to institutional investors and 
professional investors in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and to qualified 
institutional buyers (“QIBs”) in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act, 
subject to a lower limit per order of 40,000 Offer Shares;  

• A retail offering in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in Norway (the ”Norwegian 
Retail Offering”, and together with the Faroese Retail Offering, the ”Retail Offering”), subject to a 
lower limit per application of 500 Offer Shares and an upper limit per application of up to 40,000 
Offer Shares for each investor. There will be no allocations of shares constituting less than 500 Offer 
Shares; and  

• A retail offering in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in the Faroes Islands (the 
”Faroese Retail Offering”, and together with the Norwegian Retail Offering, the ”Retail Offering”), 
subject to a lower limit per application of 500 Offer Shares and an upper limit per application of up 
to 40,000 Offer Shares for each investor. There will be no allocations of shares constituting less 
than 500 Offer Shares.  

A non-binding Indicative Price Range for the Offer Price of NOK 27 – NOK 31 has been set by the Board and 
the Principal Selling Shareholder. The book-building process which will form the basis of the determination 
of the final Offer Price will only be conducted in the Institutional Offering. The final Offer Price may be set 
above, below or within this indicative range.  

1.3.2 Timetable 
The timetable set out below provides certain indicative key dates for the Offering: 

Start of Book-building/Retail Application Period:   8 March 2010 – 09.00 CET 

End of Retail Application Period:     23 March 2010 – 14.00 CET  

End of Book-building Period:      23 March 2010 – 17.30 CET  

Pricing and allocation:       On or about 24 March 2010  
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Board meeting Oslo Børs:      On or about 24 March 2010 

Distribution of allocation notices:     On or about 24 March 2010 

First day of trading:       On or about 26 March 2010 

Payment Date Retail Offering:      On or about 30 March 2010 

Delivery of Offer Shares Retail Offering:    On or about 30 March 2010 

Delivery versus payment (DvP) Institutional Offering:   On or about 31 March 2010 

1.3.3 Selling shareholders 
The Selling Shareholders have agreed with the Nordea Bank Norge ASA as one of the Managers to offer 
minimum 14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 Secondary Shares of the Company in connection with the 
Offering. The following table sets forth the Selling Shareholders and the number of Secondary Shares 
offered by each of the Selling Shareholders: 

Name Business Address Number of Shares
to be sold 

P/f Føroya Banki, ”Principal 
Shareholder” 

Húsagøta 3, FO-110 Tórshavn 14,649,752 

Framtaksgrunnur Føroya Hoyvíksvegur 51, FO-110 Tórshavn Maximum 1,377,575 

Hans Jacobsen Glyvravegur 30, FO–625 Glyvrar Maximum 925,000 

TF Holding Kongabrúgvin, FO-110 Tórshavn Maximum 925,000 

Regin Jacobsen Gerðisvegur 59, FO-600 Saltangará Maximum 462,500 

Sp/f JH Holding Traðagöta 20, FO-700 Klaksvik Maximum 305,444 

The Secondary Shares offered for sale by the Principal Selling Shareholder shall have priority before the 
Secondary Shares offered for sale by the other Selling shareholders. 

1.3.4 Transaction structure and use of proceeds 
The Offering and Listing of the Company’s Shares on Oslo Børs is an important element of the Company’s 
strategy. The main purpose of the Offering is to broaden the Company’s shareholder base and be able to 
provide a regulated marketplace for the trading of its Shares. The Listing on Oslo Børs will also facilitate the 
use of the capital markets in order to raise further equity if required, and is also expected to increase the 
attractiveness of the Shares as consideration in strategic acquisitions and / or mergers. The Offer Price paid 
for the Secondary Shares being sold by the Selling Shareholders as part of the Offering will not involve any 
proceeds for the Company. 

1.3.5 Proceeds 
The Board was at the general meeting on 15 February 2010 authorized, through an amendment of the 
Company’s articles of association, to increase the share capital of the Company with up to DKK 3,750,000 
from DKK 46,250,000 to DKK 50,000,000 by issuance of 3,750,000 new Shares, each with a par value of 
DKK 1. 

Gross proceeds will amount to minimum DKK 75 million corresponding to NOK 82 million (excluding 
proceeds from any own shares sold through the over-allotment and green shoe option). Net proceeds will 
amount to minimum DKK 61.8 million. 

1.3.6 Dilution 
The percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the Offering for existing shareholders is expected to 
amount to approx. 6.6% – 8.1%. 

1.3.7 Costs 
The total costs amount up to DKK 13.2 million. 

1.4 Summary of operating and financial information 

The selected financial information set forth in this Prospectus should be read in conjunction with the 
financial statements and the notes to those statements set out in Appendix 2, 3 and 4 in addition to section 
8 in this Prospectus. 
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1.4.1 Condensed consolidated income statement 
 IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Actual Actual 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

     

Operating income 596,565 365,634 365,634 229,525

Operating expenses -417,368 -275,771 -284,838 -172,373

Operating profit before deprec. and fair value 
adjustments of biological assets 

179,197 89,863 80,796 57,152

   

Income from associated companies 340 -110 546 0

Depreciation and amortisation -20,797 -18,963 -18,963 -15,592

Impairment  0 0

Operating profit before fair value adjustments of 
biological assets 

158,740 70,790 62,379 41,560

   

Fair value adjustments of biological assets 33,655 -7,632 0 0

Operating profit 192,394 63,157 62,379 41,560

   

Financial income 2,915 1,505 653 559

Financial costs -14,072 -18,515 -18,514 -11,682

Profit before income tax 181,237 46,148 44,519 30,437

   

Income tax (expense) / income -32,509 -7,810 -7,398 -5,606

Profit for the period 148,728 38,339 37,121 24,831

   

Minority interest   

Earnings per share (DKK) 49,71 12,81 12.40 8.30

Earnings per share fully diluted 49.71 12.81 12.40 8.30
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORTS 2009-2007 

1.4.2 Condensed consolidated balance sheet 
 IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Actual Actual 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

Assets   

Total non-current assets 257,741 247,657 244,979 223,243

Total current assets 363,291 304,873 293,905 248,159

   

Total Assets 621,032 552,530 538,884 471,401

   

Equity and liabilities   

Total shareholders' equity 388,887 241,650 229,444 196,309

Total long-term liabilities 91,431 111,184 129,438 98,943

Total short-term liabilities  140,714 199,696 180,002 176,148

Total liabilities 232,145 310,880 309,440 275,091

   

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 621,032 552,530 538,884 471,401
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORTS 2009-2007 
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1.4.3 Trends 
In the period between 31 December 2009 and the date of this Prospectus the Company has experienced a 
positive development. The market situation has improved in January and February 2010 compared with 
same months in 2009. Sales prices have increased, and the currency situation has changed so the prices in 
DKK have improved even more. The sold volumes in January 2010 has been higher than January 2009, but 
the biomass is reduced, and this will cause a lower sales volume during the the rest of Q1 and Q2-2010. 
Contracts on VAP products are on a higher price level than in 2009. 

Bakkafrost has not experienced any changes of trends outside the course of business, which is not 
mentioned elsewhere in this Prospectus, which are significant to the Company and the management of 
Bakkafrost. Please see Section 9 “Market information”, Section 10 “Financial information” and Section 13 
“Shareholder matters and relevant company and securities law” for more information about significant 
trends in the Group’s  business and relevant matters. 

1.4.4 Significant changes in the Company’s financial or trading position since 31 
December 2009 

Since last reporting period ended at 31 December 2009 the following events have occurred. 

The Bakkafrost Group and the Vestlax Group have merged with effect from 1 January 2010. P/f Vestlax 
Holding was merged into P/f Bakkafrost as the continuing company. 

In February Bakkafrost signed a new loan agreement with P/f Føroya Bank and Nordea Bank Norge ASA (se 
further detail on the loan agreement ref section 8.11.6). 

On the AGM held 15 February 2010 it was decided to pay out dividend amounting to DKK 18,000,000.  

1.5 Summary of capitalisation and indebtedness 

Year ended 31.12.2009 P/f 
Bakkafrost

P/f 
Bakkafrost

(DKK 1,000) IFRS Pro forma 
IFRS 

  
Total current debt 140,714 288,627 

Total Non-Current Debt 91,431 142,009 

Capital and Reserves 388,887 573,265 

Total Capitalisation and Indebtedness 621,032 1,003,901 

  
Total liquidity 35,319 35,680 

Current financial receivables -  

Current financial debt 98,262 215,237 

Net current financial indebtedness -62,943 -179,557 

Non-current financial indebtedness 34,350 66,100 

Net financial indebtedness  -97,293 -245,657 
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORTS 2009 

Effective 1 January 2010, the Vestlax Group (with P/F Vestlax Holding as the ultimate parent company in 
the Vestlax Group) merged with the Bakkafrost Group’s ultimate parent company, P/F Bakkafrost. P/F 
Bakkafrost is the continuing company to be listed on Oslo Børs as set forward in this Prospectus. 

The Bakkafrost Group has, since the date of the statement of financial position, changed its financing 
structure. In the future, it will primarily be the ultimate parent company in the merged Group, P/F 
Bakkafrost, which will finance all the companies in the Group. At the same time, P/F Bakkafrost has signed 
a new loan agreement with P/F Føroya Banki and Nordea Norge ASA. With the new agreement, the total 
loan facility is DKK 400 million, plus other loans from Føroya Realkredittstovni amounting to approximately 
DKK 58 million. The new bank financing is divided into 200 million as a revolving credit facility and a long-
term loan amounting to DKK 200 million. Payment into the long-term loan facility is agreed to be DKK 50 
million each year in 2010 and 2011. For further details on the loan see below under section 8.11.6 
“Borrowings”. 
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1.6 Directors, senior management and employees 

1.6.1 Board of Directors 
The Company’s Board of Directors consists of 6 members: Rúni M Hansen (Chairman), Johannes Jensen 
(Deputy Chairman), Trine Sæther Romuld, Annika Fredriksberg, Virgar Dahl and Odd Eliasen. 

1.6.2 Management 
The Company’s executive management comprises Regin Jacobsen, Chief Executive Officer, Teitur 
Samuelsen, Chief Financial Officer, Frederik Hansen, Sales manager, Kári Jacobsen, Manager VAP 
production and processing, Jón Purkhús, Manager Farming, Andrias Petersen, Manager Harvest and Leif av 
Reyni, Manager Fresh Water. 

1.6.3 Employees 
As of the date of the Prospectus, the Company has 514 full-time employees (post merger). 

1.7 Advisors and Auditors 

1.7.1 Managers 
Nordea Markets P/f Føroya Banki Carnegie ASA 

Middelthunsgate 17 Húsagøta 3 Stranden 1 
P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum   P.O. Box 3048 P.O Box 684 Sentrum 
NO-0107 Oslo FO-110 Tórshavn NO-0106 Oslo 
Norway Faroe Islands Norway 
Telephone:   +47 22 48 62 62 Telephone:   +298 330 330 Telephone:  +47 22 00 93 20 
Fax:             +47 22 48 63 49  Fax:             +298 319 936 Fax:            +47 22 00 99 60 
   
Allotments will not be affected by where the order is placed. 

1.7.2 Independent Auditor 
Inpact was appointed as the Company’s auditor in 2006 (financial year ended 31 December 2006). The 
auditor’s address is Sp/F Grannskoðaravirkið INPACT, R. C. Effersøesgøta 26, P.O. Box 191, FO-110 
Tórshavn, The Faroe Islands. Please see section 8.13. 

1.7.3 Legal Advisors 
The Company’s legal advisors are Wiersholm, Mellbye & Bech, advokatfirma AS (Norwegian law) and 
Advokatskrivstovan (Faroese law). 

1.8 Major shareholders and related party transactions 

1.8.1 Major shareholders 
As of the date of the Prospectus the Company has 15 shareholders of which 6 of the shareholders each 
holding more than 5 % of the Shares. One of the shareholders is Norwegian shareholder and the other 14 
shareholders are Faroese. 

  Shareholder No. Shares % 

1 P/f Føroya Banki 15,568,136 33.66% 

2 Havsbrún 7,806,540 16.88% 

3 Hans Jacobsen 5,519,437 11.93% 

4 Regin Jacobsen 4,953,717 10.71% 

5 T.F Holding 2,644,095 5.72% 

6 Kverva AS 2,533,052 5.48% 

SOURCE: COMPANY 
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1.8.2 Related party transactions 
Related Party Description of transaction DKK million 

2009   

Havsbrun Purchase of fish feed 151.0 

 Sale of transportation of feed 2.3 

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -15.0 

Føroya Banki Interest paid 5.6 

 Net Balance -11.1 

YTD   

Havsbrún Purchase of fish feed 23.1 

 Sale of transportation of feed 0.1 

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -24.1 

Føroya Banki Interest paid 1.2 

 Interest bearing debt 89.2 

 Other Receivables 21.5 

SOURCE: COMPANY 

Bakkafrost buys all its fish feed from Havsbrún, representing a value of DKK 151 mill DKK in 2009 including 
Farming North. The feed contracts are renewed on a three months basis and based on market prices. 

Føroya Banki has been the main bank for the Company during the last years. As of the date of the 
Prospectus, Føroya Banki has agreed to a new bank facility ref section 0 ”Borrowings”. The new bank facility 
is on market terms.  

Føroya Banki is a Manager in the Offering ref section 0 ”Managers” and receives a fee based on market 
terms ref section 5.23 ”Expenses and net proceeds”. 

For more information see section 10.11. 

1.9 Additional information 

1.9.1 Share capital and shareholders matters 
The issued share capital of the Company is DKK 46,250,000 comprising of 46,250,000 Shares fully paid 
with a par value of DKK 1 and issued in accordance with Faroese law.  

The shares of the Company may be freely transferred. No shares have any special rights. No restrictions 
apply with regard to sale or any other transition of shares.  

The Shares are registered in the VPS which maintains the Company’s share register. The Shares are 
registered with ISIN NO: FO0000000179. The share registry of the company is kept by Nordea Bank Norge 
ASA. 

The shares of the Company are registered in the share registry by name.  

All Shares are equal in all respects and each Share carry one vote at the Company’s general meeting. 

1.9.2 Articles of Association 
The following is a summary of provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association as of the date of this 
Prospectus. A complete copy of the Company’s Articles of Association is attached to this Prospectus as 
Appendix 1. 

The Company is a Public Limited Company, domiciled at Glyvrar, Faroe Islands with the purpose of holding 
shares in other companies, fish farming activates, trade and any business related to these activities. 

The share capital of the company is DKK 46,250,000 divided on 46,250,000 Shares each of par value of 
DKK 1. The shares of the Company are registered shares, registered in VPS. The shares of the company 
may be freely transferred. 

General meetings shall be convened with a deadline of no less than 8 days and not longer than 4 weeks. 
The ordinary General Meeting shall be held before the expiry of the month of April. From the notification of 
the shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange and as long as the shares continue to be notified on the Oslo Stock 
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Exchange, the convening and holding of General Meetings shall be done in accordance with the 
requirements from any rules which from time to time are prescribed by the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

At the General Meeting, each share shall have one vote. A shareholder may participate in the general 
meeting if the shareholder has requested an admission card not later than 5 days prior to the General 
Meeting. A shareholder may vote on the general meeting, if the shareholder not later than 5 days prior to 
the general meeting has requested a voting paper. 

Representatives of the press as well as representatives of the Oslo Stock Exchange are allowed access to 
General Meetings of the Company. 

The General Meeting shall nominate an election committee of 3 to 5 members. 

The company is governed by a Board of Directors of 3 to 7 members, which are elected at the General 
Meeting for periods of 2 years. Members may be re-elected. The Board of Directors nominates one or 
several managing directors to manage the daily business of the company. 

The management shall conduct the daily business of the company and shall adhere to any decisions and 
rules from as well as requests from the Board of Directors. The daily management does not cover decisions 
which according to the circumstances of the company are unusual or of a particularly great importance. The 
management may only make such decisions if the Board of Directors has given specific authorization 
thereto. The company is bound by the joint signature of the managing director together with one member 
of the Board of Directors. 

The annual accounts of the company are audited by an accountant who is elected by the general meeting 
for one year at the time. The fiscal year of the company is the calendar year. 

1.9.3 Documents on display 
For the life of this Prospectus, the following documents may be inspected as indicated in the list below: 

The incorporation documents of the Company may be inspected at the Company’s offices at Bakkavegur 9, 
FO-625 Glyvrar, Faroe Islands. 

The Articles of Association may be inspected in this Prospectus as Appendix 1. 

The Company’s historical financial information for the twelve months ended 31 December 2009, 2008 and 
2007 with auditors report may be inspected in Appendix 2 through 4 to this Prospectus or on the Company’s 
website www.bakkafrost.com. 

P/f Vestlax’s historical financial information for the twelve months ended 31 December 2009 with auditors 
report may be inspected in Appendix 5 to this Prospectus. 

Statement from independent Auditor regarding Pro forma Figures are attatched in appendix 6. 

Subscription Form is attached as appendix 7 and 8 to this Prospectus. 

1.9.4 Third party statement 
Information contained in this Prospectus which has been sourced from third parties has been accurately 
reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware and able to ascertain from the information published by 
that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. 
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2 RISK FACTORS 
Before investing in the Company, investors should carefully consider all of the information contained in this 
Prospectus, and in particular the following risk factors, which may affect some or all of the Company’s 
activities, the industry in which it operates and the securities being offered. The risk factors described below 
are not the only ones that will be faced by the Company. Other risks and uncertainties, including those not 
currently considered material by the Company’s management, may impair the Company’s business. The risk 
factors discussed below may materially adversely affect the business, financial condition, operating results 
or cash flow of the Company. The order in which risk factors appear is not intended as an indication of the 
relative weight or importance thereof. Such information is presented as of the date hereof and is subject to 
change without notice. An investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risk 
factors associated with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or a part of the investment. 
Such information is presented as of the date hereof and is subject to change, completion or amendment 
without notice. 

2.1 Risk factors related to the Company and the industry in which it 
operates 

2.1.1 Prices on Salmon 
The Company’s financial position and future development depend to a considerable extent on the price of 
farmed salmon, which has historically been subject to substantial fluctuations. Farmed salmon is a 
commodity, and it is therefore reasonable to assume that the market price will continue to follow a cyclical 
pattern. The balance between the total supply and demand for farmed salmon is a key parameter. 
Overproduction may cause prices to decline, as was the case in 2001 – 2003. This could in turn have a 
significant impact on the Company’s profitability and liquidity. 

2.1.2 Price on fish feed 
Feed costs account for a significant proportion of total production costs within the salmon farming sector 
(above 60% of total production costs at cage in the financial accounts for 2009), and fluctuations in feed 
prices could therefore have a major impact on profitability within the industry. Feed prices are affected both 
by the global market for fishmeal and marine/vegetable oils, and the feed industry is dominated by a small 
number of large, global producers. 

Natural limitations in the marine resource base could lead to global shortages of fish meal and oil for fish 
feed production. The feed producers have, however, come a long way in their efforts to replace some of the 
marine-based input factors with vegetable raw materials. 

Prices for fishmeal and fish oil have recently risen to record high levels, pushed up by strong global demand 
for fishmeal and fish oil as a main ingredient in the production of fish feed, mainly driven by increased 
health consciousness of consumers, which have led to increased demand for seafood products. 

2.1.3 Operational risks 
The rate at which farmed salmon grows depends, among other things, on weather conditions. Unexpected 
warm or cold temperatures can have a significant negative impact on growth rates and feed consumption. 
The Company operates at sea under sometimes challenging conditions. This can result in incidents or 
necessary measures that can have significant cost implications, i.e. unexpected maintenance/repairs or 
escaped fish. The Company is continually working on reducing risks using experience with equipment, 
location and operational organization. Bakkafrost’s facilities are located in areas where the weather 
conditions are well known and the facilities well secured, though other weather conditions, such as storms 
or floods, could also lead to unexpected losses at facilities. Although the Company does not tolerate the 
escape of farmed salmon, there is always a risk that escapes will occur, in which case the Company’s 
business could be materially adversely affected, directly through loss of farmed salmon and indirectly 
through spread of diseases, governmental sanctions, negative publicity, or other indirect effects. Procedures 
and new technological solutions in this respect are constantly monitored. 

Although operational risk is to a certain extent reflected in budgets by means of estimates for mortality and 
the percentage of fish whose quality is down-graded in connection with primary processing, such risks 
might, if occurring, materially affect the Company results and financial condition. The Company’s operations 
can also be materially impacted by what is classified as normal operating risks, i.e. quality from suppliers 
and sub-suppliers, etc  

The salmon farming industry is associated with a high level of biological risk, and the Company aims to 
reduce that risk through the entire production cycle by means of systematic group-wide bio security 
auditing. The Company’s production facilities are located within a relatively small geographical area limited 
to the Faroe Islands – and accordingly some operational risk, if occurring, can affect the Company strongly 
(i.e. weather conditions, some diseases, etc.) 
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2.1.4 Retention of key personnel 
The Company’s business and prospects depend to a significant extent on the continued services of its key 
personnel in its various business areas. Financial difficulties and other factors could negatively impact the 
Company’s ability to retain key employees. The loss of any of the members of its senior management or 
other key personnel or the inability to attract a sufficient number of qualified employees could adversely 
affect its business and results of operations. 

2.1.5 Production related disorders 
As the aquaculture industry has evolved and developed, the biological limits for how fast fish can grow have 
also been challenged. As with all other forms of intensive food production, a number of production-related 
disorders arise, i.e. disorders caused by intensive farming methods. As a rule, such disorders appear 
infrequently, but certain populations can be severely affected. The most important production-related 
disorders relate to physical deformities and cataracts. These invariably cause financial loss by way of 
reduced growth and inferior health, reduced quality on harvesting and damage the industry’s reputation. 
Research has shown that deformities can be caused by: 

• Excessively high temperatures during the fish’s early life 

• Too little phosphorous in the diet 

• Light management to speed up the rate of growth, particularly in combination with too little 
phosphorous in the diet 

• Acidic water, as well as too much carbon dioxide in the water during the freshwater phase 

• Exceedingly rapid growth in the freshwater phase is unnatural for the salmon. In the marine phase 
salmon has evolved to grow rapidly. However, growth should ideally be steadily incremental, 
allowing all tissue types to develop in parallel. 

2.1.6 Disease 
Operation of fish farming facilities involves considerable risk with regard to disease. In the case of an 
outbreak of disease, the farmer will, in addition to the direct loss of fish, incur substantial costs in the form 
of premature harvesting, loss of quality of harvested fish and subsequent periodic reduced production 
capacity. Salmon farming has historically been through several periods with extensive disease problems. 
Common for all of these is that a solution has been found through breeding, better operating routines, 
increased know-how regarding the fish’s biological requirements and the development of effective vaccines. 
During the 1990’s the health situation in Faroese salmon farming improved dramatically. For example, the 
development of effective vaccines against the most important bacterial diseases, as well as generally better 
operating routines, have led to a reduction in antibiotic use in the Faroe Islands.  

The economic importance of disease is measured in the form of mortality percentages (mortality), reduced 
growth or reduced quality on the end product. In addition, disease entails suffering for the fish. The 
percentage of loss per generation varies; both between generations and producing countries/regions, but an 
average for the industry would be around 8-15 % per generation. Over half of this is fish that is taken out 
of the sea before it reaches 500g, with correspondingly limited costs associated with it. Farmed salmon are 
particularly vulnerable when they are released into the sea. The rapid change from freshwater to the full 
salinity of seawater exposes the smolts for osmotic stress, in addition to other stressors such as handling, 
pumping and transportation. The production of a high quality smolt depends on a thorough control of the 
freshwater quality and the smoltification process. A high level of bio security measures in addition to good 
management practices and selection of good production sites and technology is an important factor to 
obtain good growth and improve health. 

Below is a description of the most common diseases affecting the aquaculture industry in the Faroe Islands 
and some important diseases in our neighbouring countries and thereby posing a risk for spreading to the 
Faroe Islands: 

2.1.6.1 ISA (infectious salmon anaemia) 

ISA is historically the disease with the biggest negative impact on the aquaculture industry in the Faroe 
Islands at all. The virus was first discovered in Norway in 1984, and led to substantial losses of fish in and 
around 1990. The virus caused severe problems in Scotland, the east coast of Canada and the USA before it 
was discovered in the Faroe Islands in early 2000 and more recently discovered in Chile.  

During the 33 outbreak in the ISA-epidemic from March 2000 till June 2005 almost all farms and sites were 
hit by the disease. Even if losses in direct mortality varied from farm to farm, the total economic losses 
were enormous. Enforced slaughtering of fish, often below optimal market size, combined with low prices 
and the destruction of fish below marketable size (around 1.2 kg) hit the companies very hard. Following an 
ISA-outbreak, the farm had to be fallowed for six month before a new production cycle could start up. 
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In the Faroe Islands the authorities together with the industry developed a national contingency plan 
including vaccination. The contingency plan was approved by the EU, and permission to vaccinate against 
ISA given thereby. The vaccination programme as outlined in the approved contingency plan, performed as 
a carefully supervised field trial but with all the farms involved, started in 2005 and is still running. All smolt 
that are transferred to the sea in the Faroe Islands are now vaccinated against ISA in addition to IPN and 
major bacterial diseases as furunculosis, vibriosis and winterulcers. 

ISA is in the Faroe Islands regulated in two departmental orders, one on handling of disease outbreaks and 
one on vaccination against ISA. In case of an outbreak the farm will be set under strict veterinary 
regulations and a time schedule will be given for slaughtering/destruction of the fish, washing and 
disinfection of equipment and start date of fallowing. The allowed timeframe for emptying the farm will 
depend on the severity of the outbreak and the vaccination status.   

The risk of an outbreak increases strongly with proximity to an infected farm, suboptimal farm operation, 
not allowing the facilities to lie fallow for an adequate length of time and poor quality smolt. Stressors, such 
as infections with salmon lice and handling of the fish, i.e. grading, and bad weather conditions seem to be 
important risk factors. 

There has been a significant geographic concentration of outbreaks in areas with a high density of 
aquaculture facilities. The disease is subject to government control measures, with harvesting and fallow 
periods as the most important methods. Fish from an infected facility are transported to a processing plant 
for slaughter in a closed well boat or tank and all fish from diseased farms are slaughtered in facilities 
approved for sanitary slaughter.  

In approved facilities all waste from the slaughtering process are collected, acidified and dispatched in a 
safe way to a sanitation plant. All effluents are collected in tanks and disinfected before outlet. Fish with 
clinical signs of disease are sorted out and handled as waste material. ISA infected fish and fish from 
infected farms represent no health risk for humans, and fish without clinical signs of disease are sold in the 
open market. 

2.1.6.2 BKD (Renibacterium salmoninarum)  

This bacterial disease caused great damage in the Faroe Islands during the years 1989 to 2004. It hit the 
smolt production to some degree, but was especially a problem in sea farming. The disease has been found 
in wild salmon and trout. The disease can be transferred vertically from fish to egg. Horizontal transmission 
occurs as well but seems to be mainly a local spreading inside a single farm. 

The only way out of problems with BKD is to keep the brood stock free of the infection and stamping out 
infected stocks, which has been done in the Faroe Islands  

The prevention of BKD is by cleansing/disinfection of all equipment, and further to only buy spawn from 
suppliers that have certificate to be BKD free and only buy spawn that has been properly disinfected 
beforehand. There have been two outbreaks in the Faroe Islands since 2004, but in both cases there were 
little to no mortality.  

2.1.6.3 Furunculosis (Aeromonas Salmonicida)  

A bacterial disease that was first discovered in the Faroe Islands in 1991. It consequently led to substantial 
mortality both in the smolt production and the farming production. The disease has not been registered in 
the Faroe Islands since 2004. Furunculosis derives its name from the boil-like lesions observed on the skin 
and in the musculature of infected fish. However, developments of ‘furuncles’ on the dorsal body are only 
seen in fish with long-term disease signs. Disinfection of inlet water to fresh water farms, bio security 
measures as washing and disinfection of all used equipment brought in to a farm, are steps used to prevent 
the disease. After development of oil based vaccines the problems disappeared, and the last outbreak in 
2004 was in unvaccinated presmolts reared in net pens in freshwater. Antibiotics can be used to treat the 
disease. 

2.1.6.4 IPN (Infectious pancreatic necrosis)  

A virus found throughout the world in a number of wild fish species, both in freshwater and in seawater. 
Previously, IPN was mainly considered a problem in salmon in freshwater, but since 1994 outbreaks in 
juveniles in seawater have been common. Vaccination is available, but as for other viral diseases it seems 
only to provide partial protection. IPN can still lead to substantial mortality in salmon fry. It is the general 
view today that IPN can mainly be prevented through a good water environment and a robust fish, as well 
as avoiding taking roe from facilities where IPN has been found. In addition, it is important to avoid stress 
and maintain good routines for hygiene in the facility. A promising new IPN vaccine is currently being tested 
in Scotland. 
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2.1.6.5 Caligus curtus (cod lice), Caligus elongatus (saithe lice) and Lepeophtheirus 
salmonis (salmon lice)  

These are external parasites which attack fish in seawater. In salmon production, lice infection leads to 
reduced welfare, health and growth for the fish, as well as additional costs for treatment and additional 
work load during slaughtering and harvesting. The parasite is treated chemically with delicing agents or 
biologically by using sucker fish. The sucker fish is caught wild and released in the salmon cages, where it 
eats the lice directly from the fish. Unfortunately wrasse or other cleaner fish are not natural inhabitants in 
the Faroese territory. 

The control of lice in the Faroe Islands is regulated by statutory measures, which, among other things, 
covers synchronised regional de-licing at the end of winter to protect the production. In addition, obligatory 
systematic lice counting in all farms as well as boundary values for infestation levels are parts of the new 
departmental order No. 163 issued on 21 December 2009. All delicing treatments must be evaluated, and in 
case of lack of effects reasons for this must be sorted out. If the lice have become multiresistant 
appropriate measures must be taken to ensure fish health and welfare.  

2.1.6.6 Cold Water Vibriosis  

The disease can cause significant mortality (≥50%) in fish culture facilities once an outbreak is in progress. 
Common names for Vibrio infections of fish include "red pest" of eels, "salt-water furunculosis", "red boil", 
and "pike pest". Vibrio infections can spread rapidly when fish are confined in heavily stocked, commercial 
systems and morbidity may reach 100% in affected facilities.  

Quarantine of new fish and good sanitation practices should be used at all times, and will minimize the 
spread of Vibrio infection from infected to uninfected fish, should a disease outbreak occur. New fish should 
always be kept away from existing fish. Before any treatment with antibiotics, a thorough investigation of 
water quality and husbandry practices should be conducted. Removal of underlying problems is essential to 
successful resolution of the problem. Vaccination can be administered by injection, immersion, or orally, 
and is used by the salmon industry to minimize the impact of vibriosis. The disease was very deadly in the 
Faroe Islands in the years 1988-1993, but since vaccination with oil based vaccines against the disease 
started it has not been a problem. 

2.1.6.7 CMS (Cardio Myopathy Syndrome)  

The disease was common in the Faroese farming areas some years back, but is very rare in the Faroe 
Islands today. Mortality is between 1-5 %. It generally infects fish larger than 1 kg. Good sanitation and 
fallowing of the areas are keys to avoiding or restricting the disease.  

2.1.6.8 Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI)  

The disease has occurred sporadically in southern Norway in recent years. The disease affects fish in the 
first half of the marine phase, with reduced growth and moderate mortality rates being the most important 
loss factors. It is assumed that the disease is infectious and therefore may be combated through 
vaccination. It has not been registered in the Faroe Islands. 

2.1.6.9 PD (Pancreas disease)  

PD is a viral disease that is frequently diagnosed in Norway, Scotland and Ireland. It has not yet been 
registered in The Faroe Islands. All marine farms in the Faroe Islands have been tested twice a year for the 
last two years and all results negative so far found. 

The PD virus can occur in the spring or autumn at any fish size. It attacks heart and skeletal muscle and 
pancreatic tissue. Mortality may vary from 0–15 %, but higher mortalities have been seen. The disease can 
occur as acute outbreaks followed by a more chronic disease with lower but long-lasting mortality. Very 
important is also the chronic damage imparted on the survivors in terms of reduced growth capacity and 
scars in skeletal muscle. These scars appear as patches of depigmentation and make the product unsuitable 
for smokehouses. A PD vaccine is available, but it provides only limited protection. The disease is fought 
with general methods in the same manner as HSMI and other diseases above. The fight against PD in 
endemic areas as in Norway has been concentrated on high levels of bio security: By avoiding risk transport 
into or through PD-free zones, demands on closed valve transport of fish from diseased farms and avoiding 
slaughter pens with PD-infected fish. 

PD-virus is considered to be more stable in the marine environment than ISA-virus, and therefore 
possessing the potential for a rapid spread to all Faroese salmon farms if first introduced. Avoiding getting 
the virus to the Faroe Islands should therefore be of high priority. 
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2.1.7 Environmental factors, toxins, algaes, pollution and animal welfare 
Environmental factors, toxins, algaes, pollution and animal welfare are risk factors that can affect any fish 
farming operation at sea. Choice of localization and the number of locations contributes to reducing these 
risks. 

Perceived health concerns or food safety issues may have a negative impact on the reputation of farmed 
salmon, even if there is no direct risk to human health. Such concerns may consequently have a negative 
impact on the demand for farmed salmon. In the past various perceived health concerns, e.g. the PCB 
levels in farmed salmon, have attracted negative attention in the media. Although such concerns have 
decreased, new perceived health concerns or food safety issues relating to farmed salmon, which may arise 
in the future could affect the Company’s ability to market and distribute the Company’s products. 

Bakkafrost’s products are for human consumption, and it is therefore of critical importance that attention 
and resources are dedicated to food safety. The product quality is subject to internal control, food authority 
monitoring programme and testing carried out by the Company’s customers. Increased quality demands 
from customers and legislators in the future, may adversely affect the Company’s results. 

Guidelines and legislation with tougher requirements are expected. Hence, higher costs for the food industry 
(e.g. traceability, level of documentation, testing variables, etc.) are expected. This may impact the 
Company’s activities. 

In addition to environmental toxins, algae and other pollution the market and other stakeholders will focus 
on animal welfare, transparency and sustainable development.  

2.1.8 Concluding remarks 
The farming of salmon is still a very young industry within the Faroe Islands. Considerable capital and 
efforts have been and still are being invested to build up expertise and fund research, and these efforts 
have largely produced very good results. Although the factors listed above have been addressed proactively 
and, with few exceptions, sound and effective solutions have been found, there can be no assurance that 
these or other similar risks will not occur and negatively affect the Company’s business and financial 
condition. 

The basis for all biological production will, however, be proximity to the living animal, an understanding of 
how the biological processes function and a fundamental respect for these. 

Disease-prevention and practical efforts to improve the fish’s living conditions are now being heavily 
emphasised. It is the belief and intention of the Company’s Board of Directors and Management that this 
will contribute to keep Bakkafrost among the best-in-class producers in Europe. The Company is highly 
motivated to continually address these issues. 

2.2 Risk factors relating to the financial situation 

2.2.1 General 
The Company’s ability to make payments on and to refinance its debt, and to fund working capital and 
capital expenditures, will depend on future operating performance and ability to generate sufficient cash. 
This depends to some extent, on general economic, financial, competitive, market, legislative, regulatory 
and other factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, as well as the other factors discussed 
in these “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in the Prospectus. 

If the Company’s future cash flows from operations and other capital resources are insufficient to pay 
obligations as they mature or to fund liquidity needs, the Company may be obliged to take actions that 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 

Due to restrictions on large exposures in the Faroese Financial Business Act the Company may not be able 
to obtain all its financial funding from a single Faroese bank, but may be dependant on using additional 
Faroese banks or credit institutions and/or foreign banks and credit institutions. This might affect the 
borrowing terms available for the Company or otherwise influence the Company’s financing. 

2.2.2 Risk factors related to covenants in loan agreements 
The Company’s principal borrowing facilities contain certain financial and other covenants as described in 
Section 0. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to meet all such covenants relating to 
current or future indebtedness contained in its funding agreements or that its lenders will extend waivers or 
amend terms to avoid any actual or anticipated breaches of such covenants. This could lead to acceleration 
of loans, including acceleration based on cross-default provisions in the loan agreements, which may in turn 
cause the Company to file for bankruptcy. 
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2.2.3 Currency and Interest rate risks 
The price of salmon has traditionally been strongly correlated to the value of NOK, the Norwegian currency, 
but there is no guarantee that future prices will follow the same pattern. The majority of the Company’s 
costs are in Danish Kroner (“DKK”), and its income in several currencies, according to the markets where 
the finished products are sold. The Shares of the Company are however denominated in NOK at Oslo Børs 
although the financial statements of the Group will be presented in DKK. This leaves the Company exposed 
to a range of currencies, above all the DKK. The Company may choose to hedge its exposure to currencies, 
but investors have no guarantee that the company will succeed if such an operation is initiated. In the event 
that the exchange rate between DKK and NOK may fluctuate or change dramatically, the performance of 
the Company or the Company’s Shares may be materially adversely affected. 

Bakkafrost is financed through a credit facility ref section 10 “Financials”. This credit facility has an interest 
rate based on CIBOR plus a margin. The Company does not have any interest derivatives or any hedging 
policy reducing the risk for the company regarding changes in interest rates at the date of the Prospectus. 
The Company may choose to hedge its exposure to interest rates, but investors have no guarantee that the 
company will succeed if such an operation is initiated. The performance of the Company or the Company’s 
Shares may be materially adversely affected. 

2.3 Risk factors relating to the Shares 

2.3.1 Volatility of share price 
The Offer Price of the Shares will be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors and the Principal 
Selling shareholder. The market price of the Shares subsequent to the Offering could fluctuate widely in 
response to a number of factors, including the following: 

• Actual or anticipated variations in operating results 

• Changes in financial estimates or recommendations by stock market analysts regarding the 
Company or its competitors 

• Announcements by the Company or its competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic 
partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments 

• Sales or purchases of substantial blocks of stock, future equity or debt offerings by the Company 
and its announcements of these offerings 

• Additions or departures of key personnel 

• General market and economic conditions 

• The market price of the Shares could decline due to sales of a large number of Shares in the 
Company in the market or perception that such sales could occur. Such sales could also make it 
more difficult for the Company to offer equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that 
are deemed appropriate 

• Moreover, in recent years, the stock market in general has experienced large price fluctuations. 
These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the Company's stock price, regardless of its 
operating results 

Furthermore the Offer Shares have not been registered under the US Securities Act and are subject to 
restrictions on transferability and resale. See ‘‘Important Notice’’ (Page 2) and section 13.6 ”Selling and 
transfer restrictions”. 

2.3.2 Shareholders not participating in future offerings may be diluted  
Unless otherwise resolved or authorised by the general meeting, shareholders in Faroese public companies 
such as the Company have pre-emptive rights proportionate to the aggregate amount of the shares they 
hold with respect to new shares issued by the company. For reasons relating to US securities laws (and the 
laws in certain other jurisdictions) or other factors, US investors (and investors in such other jurisdictions) 
may not be able to participate in a new issuance of shares or other securities and may face dilution as a 
result. 

2.3.3 Nominee Accounts and Voting Rights 
Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (e.g., through brokers, dealers or 
other third parties) are not able to vote on the general meeting unless their ownership is re-registered in 
their names with the VPS prior to the Company’s general meetings. The Company cannot guarantee that 
beneficial owners of the Shares will receive the notice for a general meeting in time to instruct their 
nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote their Shares in the manner 
desired by such beneficial owners. If the nominee shall participate in the general meeting, the nominee 
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must have the necessary power of attorney and the owner of the shares must also have notified and 
documented his acquisition with regard to registration. 

2.4 Other risk factors 

2.4.1 Regulatory challenges 
Regulatory impositions due to environmental or animal welfare concerns may materially impact the 
Company’s operations and financial condition. The Company emphasises to organize its operations so that 
the risk for unexpected measures is reduced, but there will always be a latent risk that the regulatory 
authorities will impose restrictions and/or sudden changes in the industry framework. 

Salmon farming is regulated by licenses. The Company has a good dialogue with the Faroese authorities 
regarding the prerequisites and restrictions that are connected to a farming license. The Faroese  
authorities may withdraw licences for fish farming operations if substantial preconditions have been 
changed since the licence was issued, or if the licence goes against overall development plans and 
protective measures, or if the licensee breaches the conditions set in connection with the issuance of the 
licence. The licence may also be withdrawn, if the company breaches the rule on maximum ownership of 
licenses, or if the company does not use the licence. The licence may also be withdrawn, if the 
environmental licence of the company is repealed. 

A salmon farming licence is issued for a period of 12 years from the date of issue. The Faroese government 
may prolong the licence period. If the company fulfils the conditions in the license and if a continuation of 
the activities is not contrary to overall development plans, which have been adopted, it must be assumed 
(but there can be no assurance) that the company has a legal claim to have the license period prolonged. 

2.4.2 Regulatory restrictions on ownership of licenses within the Faroe Islands 
The Company owns approx. 44% of the licenses on the Faroe Islands, and there are currently regulations 
limiting the number of licenses owned by one company to 50% of the total licenses on the Faroe Islands.  

2.4.3 Trade policy and market restrictions 
Trade policy and market restrictions are prominent topics for the fishing industry and the anticipation of the 
development of such has proven difficult in several markets. In addition the effects of foreign markets’ 
trade policies have affected fish farming companies asymmetrically so it is difficult to project the effects of 
policy changes on a single company. The Company believes that an attractive product combined with 
distribution to several different markets will reduce this risk.  

2.4.4 Limitations on enforceability of civil liabilities 
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in accordance with the Faroese Company’s act and 
subject to Faroese law. A majority of the Company’s directors and executive officers, and certain experts 
named in this Prospectus, reside outside the United States and Norway, and all or a substantial majority of 
the Company’s assets and the assets of those persons, are located outside the United States and Norway. 
As a result, it may not be possible for investors to affect service of process in the United States, Norway 
and other countries other than the Faroe Islands upon the company or those persons or to enforce 
judgements obtained against them in U.S., Norwegian or other relevant courts.  

The United States and the Faroe Islands do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition 
and enforcement of judgments rendered in connection with civil and commercial disputes. As a result, a 
final judgement for the payment of damages based on civil liability rendered by a U.S. court would not be 
enforceable in the Faroe Islands. If the party in whose favour the final judgment is rendered brings a new 
suit in a competent Faroese court, the party may submit to the Faroese court the final judgement that has 
been rendered in the United States. Such judgement will only be regarded by a Faroese court as evidence 
of the outcome of the dispute to which judgment relates, and a Faroese court may choose to rehear the 
dispute ab initio. 

Verdicts from Nordic courts can be executed according to Act No 635 from 15 September 1986 on the 
acknowledgement and execution of Nordic decisions regarding claims based on civil law. It appears from the 
act that enforceable verdicts regarding a claim, based on civil law, rendered in either a civil or penal case by 
a Finnish, Icelandic, Norwegian or Swedish court, are enforceable in the Faroe Islands. It is a precondition 
for execution of such verdicts that the case has been heard according to normal rules on jurisdiction and 
that the plaintiff has consequently had the opportunity to safeguard his interests in connection with the 
case. 
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2.4.5 Insurance risk 
The Company intends to maintain a level of insurance coverage for properties, assets, livestock and 
personnel that corresponds with the perceived risk within the industry sector and in accordance with 
regulation. Insurance policies will primarily cover catastrophe loss. 

All insurance premiums will carry a deductible in the form of an insurance excess that is based upon level of 
risk and cost of premium. Higher deductibles relate to stock mortality insurance which may be based upon a 
“per cage” or “per site” level of cover, the value of the maximum standing biomass, the Company’s claims 
history but is also influenced by a very limited number of specialist insurers. 

The largest challenge is the prevention of disease, waterborne parasites and control of the water quality in 
both marine and freshwater operations. Through the application of best animal husbandry practice and 
management to ensure bio security, these risks are sought to be minimised but they are not entirely 
eliminated. There may be times when it will be difficult to obtain insurance cover for certain fish diseases at 
premiums that are considered commercially viable. However, no assurance can be given that the Company 
will have sufficient insurance cover against such losses. 

2.4.6 The impact on the environment 
The operation impact on the environment is linked to discharge of organic material from feed and fesies, the 
fish population potential shedding of sea lice, and the risk of fish escape. The tangible risk associated with 
discharge of organic material is thoroughly assessed during consent application of sites to governmental 
bodies. The recipient capacity must adhere to the planned biomass on site. Secondly, benthic sampling is 
undertaken on a yearly basis to ensure compliance with recipient capacity and tolerance. Between each 
production cycle fallowing of the sites is mandatory. Sea lice is closely monitored, reported, and treated in 
line with national contingency plans. Under the provision that the Company adhere to legislation, there is no 
risk to become liable for shedding sea lice from fish farms. 

The Company aims at minimizing escapes and has implemented procedures to help reach this goal. 
However, coastal waterways represent a risk of boats accidentally harming farm constructions and thus 
make escapes unavoidable. Such events will inevitably damage the reputation of the company, but not 
cause liability as long as set regulations of signs and lighting are adhered to. The Company will be held 
responsible if gross negligence leads to escapes. 

2.4.7 Macro economical factors 
The development of the Company and industry may be affected by major changes in macro economical 
factors such as GDP growth, international trading patterns, government spending etc. which could give 
material changes to prices and demand/supply conditions for the Company. Such changes might, if 
occurring, materially affect the Company results and financial condition 

2.4.8 Integration risk 
The development of the Company may be affected by changes in the planned integration of Vestlax. The 
success of the integration is dependent on the possibility to integrate the businesses, organisations, farming 
operations and management, and might be affected by unforeseen issues or structures of the businesses. 
This might affect the timing, effects and results of the integration, materially affecting the Company’s 
results and financial conditions. 

2.4.9 Other risks 
Environmental organisations exist, both in Europe and North America, whose aim is to abolish all fish 
farming. The degree of fundamentalism varies from group to group, and the majority limit themselves to 
spreading disinformation and untruths about fish farming in general. However, a certain risk of bioterrorism 
(i.e. damage to production facilities with the intention of hurting both the Company and the industry in 
general financially and/or exposing it to negative media coverage) cannot be ruled out. 
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3 STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF P/F BAKKAFROST 
The Board of Directors of P/f Bakkafrost accepts responsibility for the information contained in this 
Prospectus. The Board of Directors hereby declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that 
such is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of our knowledge, in 
accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import.  

4 March, 2010 
The Board of Directors of P/f Bakkafrost  
 
Rúni M. Hansen 

Chairman 

 

Johannes Jensen  

Vice chairman  

Virgar Dahl 

Board member  

 
 
 

  

Annika Frederiksberg 

Board member 

Odd Eliasen 

Board member 

Trine Sæther Romuld 

Board member 
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4 CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS 

This Prospectus includes “forward-looking” statements, including, without limitation, projections and 
expectations regarding the Company’s future financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives. 
When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “seek to” and similar 
expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which 
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company and its subsidiaries, or, as the 
case may be, the industry, to materially differ from any future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Company’s present 
and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company and its subsidiaries will operate. 

Many factors could cause the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to materially differ 
from those in the forward-looking statements, including, among others risks or uncertainties associated 
with the Company’s products, technological development, disease control, environmental issues, growth 
management, available financing, relations with customers and, more generally, global and regional 
economic conditions, the competitive nature of the market in which the Company operates, changes in 
domestic and foreign laws and regulations (including those of the European Union and the United States), 
taxes, changes in competition and pricing environments, changes in political events, force majure events 
and other factors referred to in this Prospectus.  

Some important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking 
statements are included in chapter 2 “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus. 
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5 TERMS OF THE OFFERING  

5.1 Overview of the Offering 

The Offering consists of a primary offering of such number of New Shares representing gross proceeds of 
about NOK 82,000,000 (based on the current NOK/DKK exchange rate) and a secondary sale of minimum 
14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 Shares offered by the Selling Shareholders (the “Secondary 
Shares”). The new ordinary shares (the “New Shares”) are offered by the Company and subject to final 
resolution by the Board pursuant to authorization granted by the general meeting of the Company on 15 
February 2010. In addition, the Managers have an option, to over-allot 1,836,768 Shares as part of the 
Offering as further described under Section 5.16. The Shares are registered with ISIN NO: FO0000000179. 
The Offering comprises: 

• An Institutional Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to institutional investors and 
professional investors in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and to qualified 
institutional buyers (“QIBs”) in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act, 
subject to a lower limit per order of 40,000 Offer Shares;  

• A retail offering in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in Norway (the ”Norwegian 
Retail Offering”, and together with the Faroese Retail Offering, the ”Retail Offering”), subject to a 
lower limit per Application of 500 Offer Shares and an upper limit per Application of up to 40,000 
Offer Shares for each investor. There will be no allocations of shares constituting less than 500 Offer 
Shares; and  

• A retail offering in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in the Faroes Islands (the 
”Faroese Retail Offering”, and together with the Norwegian Retail Offering, the ”Retail Offering”), 
subject to a lower limit per Application of 500 Offer Shares and an upper limit per Application of up 
to 40,000 Offer Shares for each investor. There will be no allocations of shares constituting less 
than 500 Offer Shares.  

No action will be taken to permit a public offering of the Offer Shares in any jurisdiction outside of the Faroe 
Islands and Norway. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy 
any securities offered by this Prospectus to or from any person in any jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful to 
make such offer in such jurisdiction. For further details see “Important Notice” on page 2 and section 13.6 
“Selling and transfer restrictions”. Applications from investors outside the Faroe Islands and Norway will 
only be accepted if the Managers are satisfied that the Application is not in violation of the laws of any 
jurisdiction. 

A non-binding Indicative Price Range for the Offer Price of NOK 27 – NOK 31 has been set by the Board and 
the Principal Selling Shareholder. The book-building process which will form the basis of the determination 
of the final Offer Price will only be conducted in the Institutional Offering. The final Offer Price may be set 
above, below or within this indicative range.  

5.2 Purpose of the Offering and use of proceeds 

The Offering and Listing of the Company’s Shares on Oslo Børs is an important element of the Company’s 
strategy. The main purpose of the Offering is to broaden the Company’s shareholder base and be able to 
provide a regulated marketplace for the trading of its Shares. The Listing on Oslo Børs will also facilitate the 
use of the capital markets in order to raise further equity if required, and is also expected to increase the 
attractiveness of the Shares as consideration in strategic acquisitions and / or mergers. The Offer Price paid 
for the Secondary Shares being sold by the Selling Shareholders as part of the Offering will not involve any 
proceeds for the Company. 

5.3 Conditions of completion of the Offering 

The Company has applied for a listing of its shares on Oslo Børs. The listing application is expected to be 
considered at a meeting of the board of directors of Oslo Børs on or about 24 March 2010. The Shares are 
not listed, and no application has been made to list the Shares, on any other stock exchange or regulated 
market. 

Completion of the Offering on the terms set forth in this Prospectus is conditional upon Oslo Børs approving 
the Company’s application for listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs on terms acceptable to the Company and 
on any conditions imposed by Oslo Børs being satisfied through the Offering or otherwise. There can be no 
assurance that Oslo Børs will give such approval or that the Company will satisfy any conditions set for such 
listing. The publication of Oslo Børs’ decision is expected to be made on or about 24 March 2010. Assuming 
that Oslo Børs approves the Company’s listing application and the conditions set for such listing are 
satisfied, it is expected that the shares will be tradable on Oslo Børs starting on or about 26 March 2010.  

The Shares are expected to trade under the ticker symbol “BAKKA”. 
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The Offering will be cancelled in the event that approval of listing by Oslo Børs as described above is not 
obtained or the conditions set for such approval are not satisfied through the Offering.  

Completion of the Offering on the terms set forth in this Prospectus is otherwise only conditional on (i) the 
Company and the Principal Selling Shareholder having approved the Offer Price and the Board of Directors 
having approved allocation of the Offer Shares to eligible investors following the Book-building Period and 
(ii) applications having been received at the Offer Price for all of the Offer Shares determined to be issued 
and sold in the Offering. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be satisfied. 

5.4 Timetable  

The timetable set out below provides certain indicative key dates for the Offering: 

Start of Book-building/Retail Application Period:   8 March 2010 – 09.00 CET 

End of Retail Application Period:     23 March 2010 – 14.00 CET  

End of Book-building Period:      23 March 2010 – 17.30 CET  

Pricing and allocation:       On or about 24 March 2010  

Board meeting Oslo Børs:      On or about 24 March 2010 

Distribution of allocation notices:     On or about 24 March 2010 

First day of trading:       On or about 26 March 2010 

Payment Date Retail Offering:      On or about 30 March 2010 

Delivery of Offer Shares Retail Offering    On or about 30 March 2010 

Delivery versus payment (DvP) Institutional Offering:   On or about 31 March 2010 

5.5 Share Capital prior to the Offering 

As per the date of this Prospectus the Company’s share capital is DKK 46,250,000 divided on 46,250,000 
Shares each of par value of DKK 1. The share capital has been paid in full. 

5.6 Increase of share capital in connection with the Offering 

The Board was at the general meeting on 15 February 2010 authorized, through an amendment of the 
Company’s articles of association, to increase the share capital of the Company with up to DKK 3,750,000 
from DKK 46,250,000 to DKK 50,000,000 by issuance of 3,750,000 new Shares, each with a par value of 
DKK 1. 

As of the date of this Prospectus the Board of Directors has not used the above authorization to issue new 
Shares. In connection with the Offering, the Board will utilize the aforesaid authorization, and pursuant to 
the authorization, the Board resolved on 1 March 2010 that the Company through the Offering shall raise a 
NOK amount equalling DKK 75 million trough the issue of up to 3,750,000 New Shares. The Share Capital 
following the Offering will therefore be up to DKK 50,000,000, divided into up to 50,000,000 Shares. The 
resolution by the board to determine the Offer Price, the number of New Shares to be issued and the 
allocation of New Shares to the Applicants will be passed on or about 24 March 2010, after the expiry of the 
Book-building Period, as described in sections 5.9.6, 5.10.6 and 5.11.6. 

Nordea Bank Norge ASA will subscribe and pay for the New Shares to be issued by the Company in advance 
to facilitate the registration of the share capital increase in the Faroese Company Register and timely 
delivery of shares to the Applicants in the Offering. Nordea will receive a fee for this subscription and 
payment guarantee totalling NOK 40,000. 

5.7 Share Capital after the Offering 

After completion of the Offering, the Company’s share capital will be a maximum of DKK 50,000,000 divided 
into a maximum of 50,000,000 Shares, each with a par value of DKK 1. 

5.8 Dilution 

The percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the Offering for existing shareholders is expected to 
amount to approx. 6.6% – 8.1%. 
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5.9 The Institutional Offering 

5.9.1 Overview 
The Institutional Offering will be structured as an offer of Offer Shares to institutional investors and other 
professional investors in the Faroe Islands, Norway and certain other jurisdictions. Applications from 
investors outside the Faroe Islands and Norway will only be accepted if the Managers are satisfied that the 
Application is not in violation of the laws of any jurisdiction. 

The minimum Application in the Institutional Offering is 40,000 Offer Shares. Investors who intend to place 
an Application for less than 40,000 Offer Shares must do so in the Faroese Retail Offering or the Norwegian 
Retail Offering. Investors applying for Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering may not apply for Offer 
Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering or the Norwegian Retail Offering. In the event an Investor, or parties 
personally related to him, applies for Offer Shares in both the Institutional and the Retail Offering, the 
Managers may without further notice disregard the applications made in the Retail Offering by such parties. 
In the event a Manager for whatever reason does not disregard the applications made in the Retail Offering 
on the basis referred to above, this will not entitle the investor or its related parties to demand a reduction 
in the number of Offer Shares allotted to it/them.  

5.9.2 Offer Price 
As described above, the Company, the Principal Selling Shareholder and the Managers have set a non-
binding Indicative Price Range for the Offering of between NOK 27 and NOK 31 per Offer Share. The 
Indicative Price Range has been determined on the basis of an overall assessment including experience 
from previous transactions of similar character, the Company’s historic results, market prospects, economic 
prospects, pricing of comparable listed companies as well as a wider assessment of the stock market in 
general. 

The Company, the Principal Selling Shareholder and the Managers reserve the right to change the Indicative 
Price Range at any time. Any changes to the Indicative Price Range will be communicated by way of a press 
release distributed through the information system of Oslo Børs before the opening of trading on the last 
day of the book-building period. 

The Company’s Board and the Principal Selling Shareholder will determine the final Offer Price, the number 
of New Shares to be issued and the number of Secondary Shares to be sold after consultation with the 
Managers on the basis of orders placed in the Institutional Offering during the book-building process in 
which the Managers receive expressions of investor interest in the Offer Shares. The final Offer Price, the 
number of New Shares to be issued and the number of Secondary Shares to be sold will be determined in a 
board meeting of the Company expected to be held on or about 24 March 2010 and by the Principal Selling 
Shareholder on the same date. The Offer Price may be set below, above or within the Indicative Price 
Range. 

The final Offer Price will be announced through a stock exchange notification by the Company to Oslo Børs 
on or about 25 March 2010 and on the Company’s website www.bakkafrost.com. Upon an extension of the 
Book-building Period, the indicated dates will be extended accordingly. 

5.9.3 Book-building Period 
The Book-building Period for the Institutional Offering is expected to take place from 09.00 CET on 8 March 
2010 to 17.30 CET on 23 March 2010. The Company reserves the right to extend the Book-building Period 
at any time, depending on the number and size of orders or applications received in the Offering, in the 
aggregate or individually. Any extension of the Book-building Period will be announced through Oslo Børs 
and on the Company’s website www.bakkafrost.com on or before opening of trading on 23 March 2010. An 
extension will only be made once, and for no longer than until 17.30 CET on 26 March 2010. In the event of 
extension, the allocation date, the first trading date, the payment dates and the dates of delivery of Offer 
Shares may be extended accordingly upon notice. 

5.9.4 Applications for Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering 
Applications for Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering must be made during the Book-building Period by 
advising an Institutional Offering Application Office of the number of Offer Shares that the investor wishes 
to apply for and the price that such investor is offering to pay for such Offer Shares. Any oral order placed 
in the Institutional Offering will be binding upon the investor and subject to the same terms and conditions 
as a written order. An Institutional Offering Application Office can, at any time and in its sole discretion, 
require the investor to confirm any oral order by instrument in writing. Orders made may be withdrawn or 
amended by the investor at any time up to the end of the Book-building Period. After the end of the Book-
building Period, all orders that have not been withdrawn or amended are irrevocable and binding upon the 
investor, regardless of whether the final Offer Price is set within, above or below the Indicative Price Range 
(subject to any price limitation per Offer Share set by the investor).  
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5.9.5 Application Offices for the Institutional Offering 
The Institutional Offering Application Offices are: 

Nordea Bank Norge ASA Føroya Banki
Securities Services – Issuer Services  
Essendropsgate 7 Húsagøta 3 
P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum   P.O. Box 3048 
NO-0107 Oslo FO-110 Tórshavn 
Norway Faroe Islands 
Telephone:         +47 22 48 62 62 Telephone:        +298 330 330 
Fax:                   +47 22 48 63 49  Fax:                  +298 319 936 
  
Carnegie ASA  
Stranden 1  
P.O Box 684 Sentrum  
NO-0106 Oslo  
Norway  
Telephone:        +47 22 00 93 20  
Fax:                  +47 22 00 99 60  
  
Allotments will not be affected by where the order is placed. 

5.9.6 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares  

5.9.6.1 Allocation 

The Managers expect to issue notifications of allocation of Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering on or 
about 25 March 2010, by issuing contract notes to the Applicants by mail. 

5.9.6.2 Payment and delivery 

Payment by Applicants in the Institutional Offering will take place against delivery of Offer Shares. Delivery 
and payment for Offer Shares is expected to take place on or about 31 March 2010. Payment against 
delivery of New Shares in the Institutional Offering will be facilitated through Nordea’s subscription and 
payment of the New Shares being issued by the Company enabling the Company to register the share 
capital increase in the Faroese Register of Business Enterprises (Skráseting Føroya) on or about 25 March 
2010. Payment against delivery of Secondary Shares in the Institutional Offering will be facilitated through 
the Selling Shareholders transferring the Secondary Shares to the Managers in advance and accordingly 
make such shares available for settlement. All Offer Shares will accordingly be available for delivery against 
payment (DvP) on or about 31 March 2010. 

Investors in the Institutional Offering must ensure that payment with cleared funds for the Offer Shares 
allocated to them is available at the designated settlement account registered on the selected VPS account. 
If funds have not been made available and/or relevant instructions been given in accordance with these 
requirements and in time to be included in the DvP settlement, the investor’s obligation to pay for the Offer 
Shares will be deemed overdue. 

Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate from time to time under the 
Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payment of 17 December 1976 No. 100, currently 8.75% per 
annum. If an applicant fails to comply with the terms of payment, the Offer Shares will, subject to the 
discretion of the Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder, not be delivered to the Applicant, and the 
Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder reserve the right, at the risk and cost of the Applicant 
(however, so that the Applicant will not be entitled to any profit therefrom), to cancel the application and to 
re-allot or otherwise dispose of the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as the 
Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder may decide in accordance with Norwegian law. The original 
Applicant remains liable for payment of the Offering Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the Applicant, 
together with any interest, cost, charges and expenses accrued, and the Company, the Managers or the 
Principal Selling Shareholder may enforce payment for any such amount outstanding.  

No account-to-account transfers may be carried out in the VPS before settlement. 
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5.10 The Norwegian Retail Offering  

5.10.1 Overview 
The Norwegian Retail Offering is open to the public in Norway. Applications from investors outside Norway 
will only be accepted if the Managers are satisfied that the Application is not in violation of the laws of any 
jurisdiction. Applications from Faroese investors will not be accepted in the Norwegian Retail Offering. 

The maximum Application in the Norwegian Retail Offering is up to 40,000 Offer Shares.  Investors who 
intend to place an Application for 40,000 Offer Shares or more must do so in the Institutional Offering. 

5.10.2 Offer Price  
The Offer Price for the Offer Shares sold in the Norwegian Retail Offering will be the same as in the 
Institutional Offering. 

Applicants may indicate in the Norwegian Retail Application Form that they do not wish to be allocated Offer 
Shares should the Offer Price be set above the Indicative Price Range. If the Applicant so elects, the 
Applicant will not be allocated any Offer Shares in the event that the final Offer Price is set above the upper 
end of the Indicative Price Range as included in this Prospectus (i.e. disregarding any changes in the 
Indicative Price Range). If the Applicant does not make this reservation on the Norwegian retail Application 
Form, the Application will be binding regardless of whether the Offer Price is set within, above or below the 
Indicative Price Range. 

5.10.3 Norwegian Retail Application Period 
The period during which Applications for Offer Shares will be accepted in the Norwegian Retail Offering (the 
“Norwegian Retail Application Period”) will last from 09.00 CET on 8 March 2010 to 14.00 CET on 23 March 
2010 unless extended.  

Any extension of the Book-building Period will lead to a similar extension of the Norwegian Retail Application 
Period, with the exception that the Norwegian Retail Application Period will in any case end at 14.00 CET on 
the last day of the extended Book-building Period. 

5.10.4 Applications for Offer Shares in the Norwegian Retail Offering 
All Applications in the Norwegian Retail Offering must be made on the Norwegian Retail Application Form 
attached to the Prospectus as Appendix 7 (the “Norwegian Retail Application Form”). Norwegian Retail 
Application Forms can be obtained from the Company or the Norwegian Retail Application Offices together 
with the Prospectus. Norwegian citizens in the Norwegian Retail Offering can also apply for Offer Shares 
online at the following adresses www.nordea.no/bakkafrost or www.carnegie.no.  

Norwegian Retail Application Forms that are incomplete or incorrectly completed or that are received after 
the expiry of the Norwegian Retail Application Period may be disregarded without further notice to the 
Applicant. However, the Company reserves the right to accept any such Norwegian Retail Application Forms.  

Subject to any extension of the Norwegian Retail Application Period, properly completed Norwegian Retail 
Application Forms must be received by a Norwegian Retail Application Office by 14.00 CET on 23 March 
2010. All Applications made in the Norwegian Retail Offering will be irrevocable and binding on the 
Applicants upon receipt of a duly completed Norwegian Retail Application Form by one of the Norwegian 
Retail Application Offices, irrespective of any extension of the Norwegian Retail Application Period. 

5.10.5 Application Offices for the Norwegian Retail Offering  
The Norwegian Retail Application Offices are: 

Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Carnegie ASA
Securities Services – Issuer Services  
Essendropsgate 7 Stranden 1 
P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum   P.O. Box 684 Sentrum 
NO-0107 Oslo NO-0106 Oslo 
Norway Norway 
Telephone:         +47 22 48 62 62 Telephone:        +47 22 00 93 20 
Fax:                   +47 22 48 63 49 Fax:                  +47 22 00 99 60 
  
Allotments will not be affected by where the order is placed. 

All Applicants in the Norwegian Retail Offering must apply for Offer Shares at Nordea Markets or Carnegie 
ASA by using the Norwegian Retail Application Form. Norwegian Applicants in the Norwegian Retail Offering 
can also apply for Offer Shares through the Internet at the following addresses www.nordea.no/bakkafrost 
and www.carnegie.no. 
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Neither the Company, the Managers nor the Application Offices may be held responsible for postal delays, 
unavailable fax lines, internet lines or servers or other logistical or technical problems that may result in 
Applications not being received in time or at all by a Norwegian Retail Application Office. Norwegian Retail 
Application Forms received after the end of the Norwegian Retail Application Period and/or incomplete or 
incorrect Norwegian Retail Application Forms and any Application for shares that may be unlawful may be 
disregarded at the sole discretion of the Company and/or the Norwegian Retail Application Offices without 
notice to the Applicant. Any Faroese Retail Application Form sent to the Norwegian Retail Application Offices 
will be rejected without further notice. 

Multiple Applications (i.e., Applications on more than one Norwegian Retail Application Form) are not 
allowed. In the event one Applicant submits more than one Norwegian Retal Application Forms, the 
Norwegian Retal Application Offices reserve the right to only accept the first Norwegian Retail Application 
Form received by the Norwegian Retal Application Office and reject the other Norwegian Retail Application 
Form(s). However there is no guarantee that not more than one Application Form will be accepted. 

In the case of multiple Applications through the VPS online subscription system or Applications made both 
on a Norwegian Retail Application Form and through the VPS online application system, all Applications will 
be counted. 

5.10.6 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares in the Norwegian Retail 
Offering 

5.10.6.1 Allocation 

The allocation of Offer Shares in the Norwegian Retail Offering will take place after the expiry of the Book-
building Period/ Norwegian Retail Application Period on or about 24 March 2010. Notifications of allocated 
Offer Shares and the corresponding subscription amount to be paid by each Applicant are expected to be 
distributed to Applicant in the Norwegian Retail Offering in a letter from the VPS on or about 24 March 
2010. Applicants in the Norwegian Retail Offering having access to investor services through their VPS 
account manager will be able to check the number of Offer Shares allocated to them from 08.00 CET on or 
about 25 March 2010. Applicants in the Norwegian Retail Offering who do not have access to investor 
services through their VPS account manager may contact the relevant Norwegian Retail Application Office 
from 08.00 CET on or about 25 March 2010 to get information about the number of Offer Shares allocated 
to them. Upon an extension of the Book-building Period/Retail Application Period, the indicated dates set 
out above will be adjusted correspondingly. 

5.10.6.2 Payment 

Applicants in the Norwegian Retail Offering who have a Norwegian bank account must, and will by signing 
the Norwegian Retail Application Form, provide Nordea Bank Norge ASA with a one-time irrevocable 
authorisation to debit a specified bank account with a Norwegian bank for the amount payable for the Offer 
Shares which are allocated to the Applicant. Payment by direct debiting is only available for Applicants that 
are allocated Offer Shares for an amount below 5 million and who have a Norwegian bank account. 

The specified bank account is expected to be debited on the 30 March, the Norwegian Retail Payment Date, 
however there must be sifficient funds in the account from 29 March 2010, the day before the account is 
debited. Nordea Bank Norge ASA is only authorised to debit such account once, but reserves the right to 
make up to three debit attempts, and the authorisation will be valid for up to seven working days after the 
Norwegian Retail Payment Date.  

The Applicant furthermore authorises Nordea Bank Norge ASA to obtain confirmation from the Applicant’s 
bank that the Applicant has the right to dispose over the specified account and that there are sufficient 
funds in the account to cover the payment.  

If there are insufficient funds in an Applicant’s bank account or if it for other reasons is impossible to debit 
such bank account when a debit attempt is made pursuant to the authorisation from the Applicant, the 
Applicant’s obligation to pay for the Offer Shares will be deemed overdue.  

By signing the Application Form, Applicants who apply for an amount exceeding NOK 5 million gives Nordea 
Bank Norge ASA and Carnegie ASA an authorization to manually debit the indicated bank account on or 
after the due date of Payment.  

Applicants who do not have a Norwegian bank account established must ensure that payment with cleared 
funds for the Offer Shares allocated is made on or before 29 March 2009, however, prior to any such 
payment being made, the Norwegian Retail Application Offices must be contacted for further details and 
instructions. 

Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate from time to time under the 
Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payment of 17 December 1976 No. 100, currently 8.75% per 
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annum. If an Applicant fails to comply with the terms of payment, the Offer Shares will, subject to the 
discretion of the Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder, not be delivered to the Applicant, and the 
Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder reserve the right, at the risk and cost of the Applicant 
(however, so that the Applicant will not be entitled to any profit therefrom), to cancel the Application and to 
re-allot or otherwise dispose of the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as the 
Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder may decide in accordance with Norwegian law. The original 
Applicant remains liable for payment of the Offering Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the Applicant, 
together with any interest, cost, charges and expenses accrued, and the Company, the Managers or the 
Principal Selling Shareholder may enforce payment for any such amount outstanding.  

5.10.6.3 Delivery 

Subject to receipt of payment from the Applicant, delivery of the Offer Shares allocated in the Norwegian 
Retail Offering is expected to take place on or about the evening of 30 March 2010, in time to be available 
for settlement 31 March 2010 of any sales carried out by the Applicant the first trading day with standard 
T+3 settlement. Delivery of New Shares in the Retail Offering will be facilitated through the Managers’ 
subscription of New Shares on or about 25 March 2010 and delivery of Secondary Shares in the Norwegian 
retail Offering will be faciliteted by the Selling Shareholders transferring the Secondary Shares to the 
Managers in advance and accordingly make such shares available for settlement. 

The Applicants may trade with the allocated Offer Shares once they have been listed on Oslo Børs, however 
only with standard t+3 setlement the first three trading days. No account to account transfers may be 
carried out in the VPS the first three trading days after Listing. 

5.11 The Faroese Retail Offering  

5.11.1 Overview 
The Faroese Retail Offering is open to the public in the Faroe Islands. Applicaions from Norwegian investors 
or other foreign investors outside the Faroe Islands will not be accepted in the Faroese Retail Offering. 

The maximum Application in the Faroese Retail Offering is up to 40,000 Offer Shares.  Investors who intend 
to place an Application for 40,000 Offer Shares or more must do so in the Institutional Offering. 

5.11.2 Offer Price  
The Offer Price for the Offer Shares sold in the Faroese Retail Offering will be the same as in the 
Institutional Offering. 

Applicants may indicate in the Faroese Retail Application Form that they do not wish to be allocated Offer 
Shares should the Offer Price be set above the Indicative Price Range. If the Applicant so elects, the 
Applicant will not be allocated any Offer Shares in the event that the final Offer Price is set above the upper 
end of the Indicative Price Range as included in this Prospectus (i.e. disregarding any changes in the 
Indicative Price Range). If the Applicant does not make this reservation on the Faroese Retail Application 
Form, the Application will be binding regardless of whether the Offer Price is set within, above or below the 
Indicative Price Range. 

5.11.3 Faroese Retail Application Period 
The period during which Applications for Offer Shares will be accepted in the Faroese Retail Offering (the 
“Faroese Retail Application Period”) will last from 09.00 CET on 8 March 2010 to 14.00 CET on 23 March 
2010 unless extended.  

Any extension of the Book-building Period will lead to a similar extension of Faroese Retail Application 
Period, with the exception that the Faroese Retail Application Period will in any case end at 14.00 CET on 
the last day of the extended Book-building Period. 

5.11.4 Applications for Offer Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering 
All Applications in the Faroese Retail Offering must be made on the Faroese Retail Application Form 
attached to the Prospectus as Appendix 8 (the “Faroese Retail Application Form”). Faroese Retail Application 
Forms can be obtained from the Company, the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales 
Agencies set out below together with the Prospectus. 

Faroese Retail Application Forms that are incomplete or incorrectly completed or that are received by the 
Faroese Retail Application Office or by one of the Faroese Sales Agencies after the expiry of the Faroese 
Retail Application Period may be disregarded without further notice to the Applicant. However, the Company 
reserves the right to accept any such Faroese Retail Application Forms.  
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Subject to any extension of the Faroese Retail Application Period, properly completed Faroese retail 
Application Forms must be received by the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies 
by 14.00 CET on 23 March 2010. All Applications made in the Faroese Retail Offering will be irrevocable and 
binding on the Applicants upon receipt of a duly completed Faroese Retail Application Form by the Faroese 
Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies, irrespective of any extension of the Faroese Retail 
Application Period. 

It is a prequisite that Applicants in the Faroese Retail Offering have a Faroese bank account. If the investor 
does not have a Faroese bank account it will be necessary to open a new bank account in any one of the 
Faroese commercial banks prior to the end of the Faroese Retail application Period. Please refer to the 
general terms of bank accounts at Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency for more information. 

Applicants in the Faroese Retail Offering who have a Faroese bank account must also have a VPS account or 
a nominee VPS account in order to participate in the Offering. If the investor does not have a VPS account 
or a nominee VPS account it will be necessary to open a new VPS account or a nominee VPS account at the 
Faroese account-holding bank.  

VPS accounts can be established with authorised VPS registrars, who can be Faroese banks. 

Nominee VPS accounts can be established with a bank which either directly or indirectly is the holder of a 
VPS account. The nominee must be authorised by the NFSA. Most Faroese banks, including Føroya Banki 
and the Faroese Sales Agencies, have arrangements in place ensurering that custody accounts at these 
banks qualify as nominee VPS accounts. 

Please refer to the general terms of security accounts at Føroya Banki or the relevant Sales Agency for 
more information about VPS accounts, nominee VPS accounts and VPS nominee arrangements. 

By signing the Faroese Retail Application Form the Applicant, in order to provide the Managers with 
information enabling them to perform the allocation procedure and Oslo Børs with information enabling 
them to determine whether the requirements for listing of the Company on Oslo Børs have been met, 
authorizes the relevant Faroese Sales Agencies to provide Føroya Banki, and Føroya Banki as Manager, to 
provide Nordea Markets, as Manager, and Oslo Børs with the Applicants name, Date of Birth or V-tal, and 
number of Offer Shares allocated to the Applicant. 

5.11.5 Application office for the Faroese Retail Offering  
The Faroese Retail Application and Sales Offices are:  

Føroya Banki 
Húsagøta 3  
P.O. Box 3048  
FO-110 Tórshavn  
Faroe Islands  
Telephone:        +298 330 330  
Fax:                  +298 319 055  
  
The Faroese Sales Agencies:  
  
Eik Banki Norðoya Sparikassi 
Yviri við Strond 2 Ósavegur 1 
P.O. Box 34 P.O Box 149 
FO-110 Tórshavn   FO-700 Klaksvík 
Faroe Islands Faroe Islands 
Telephone:        +298 348 000 Telephone:        +298 475 000 
Fax:                  +298 348 862 Fax:                  +298 476 000 
  
Suðuroyar Sparikassi  
P.O. Box 29  
FO-900 Vágur  
Faroe Islands  
Telephone:       +298 359 870  
Fax:                 +298 359 871  
  
Allotments will not be affected by where the order is placed. 

All Applicants in the Faroese Retail Offering must apply for Offer Shares at the Faroese Retail Application 
Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies by using the Faroese Retail Application Form.  

The retail branches of Føroya Banki, Eik Banki, Suðuroyar Sparikassi and Norðoyar Sparikassi will be 
available to assist in delivering the Faroese Retail Application Forms to the Faroese Retail Application Office 
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or the Faroese Sales Agencies. Note however, that the Faroese Retail Application Forms must be received 
by such retail branches no later than the day before the end of the Faroese Retail Application Period, i.e. no 
later than 22 March 2010 to ensure that it will be received by the Faroese Retail Application Office or the 
Faroese Sales Agencies prior to the end of the Faroese Retail Application Period.   

Neither the Company, nor the Managers, nor ,the Faroese Retail Application Office, nor the Faroese Sales 
Agencies (including their respective retail branches) may be held responsible for postal delays, unavailable 
fax lines, internet lines or servers or other logistical or technical problems that may result in Applications 
not being received in time or at all by the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies. 
Faroese Retail Application Forms received after the end of the Faroese Retail Application Period and/or 
incomplete or incorrect Faroese Retail Application Forms and any Application for shares that may be 
unlawful may be disregarded at the sole discretion of the Company and/or the Faroese Retail Application 
Office without notice to the Applicant. Any Norwegian Retail Application Form sent to the Faroese Retail 
Application Offices or Faroese Sales Agencies will be rejected without further notice. 

Multiple Applications (i.e., Applications on more than one Faroese Retail Application Form) are not allowed. 
In the event one Applicant submits more than one Faroese Retal Application Forms, the Faroese Retail 
Application Office and/ or the Faroese Sales Agencies reserve the right to only accept the first Faroese 
Retail Application Form received by the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies and 
reject the other Faroese Retail Application Form(s). However there is no guarantee that not more than one 
Faroese Retail Application Form form will be accepted 

5.11.6 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering 

5.11.6.1 Allocation 

The allocation of Offer Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering will take place after the expiry of the Book-
building Period/ Faroese Retail Application Period on or about 24 March 2010. Applicants in the Faroese 
Retail Offering will receive a trade receipt of the allocated and received shares from the Faroese Retail 
Application Office or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency on or about 25 March 2010. Upon an extension of 
the Book-building Period/Retail Application Period, the indicated dates set out above will be adjusted 
correspondingly. 

5.11.6.2 Payment 

Applicants in the Faroese Retail Offering who have a Faroese bank account must, and will by signing the 
Faroese Retail Application Form, provide Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency with a one-time 
irrevocable authorisation to debit a specified bank account with a Faroese bank for the amount payable for 
the Offer Shares which are allocated to the Applicant. It is a prerequisite that the bank account and the VPS 
account or nominee VPS account is registered at the same account-holding bank. The Faroese Retail 
Application Form must be submitted to the Faroese Sales Agency or the Retail Application Office that holds 
the Applicant’s bank and VPS account or nominee VPS accounts. 

The specified bank account is expected to be debited on the 30 March, the Faroese Retail Payment Date, 
however there must be sufficient funds in the account from 29 March 2010. Føroya Banki or the Faroese 
Sales Agency is only authorised to debit such account once, but reserves the right to make up to three debit 
attempts, and the authorisation will be valid for up to seven working days after the Faroese Retail Payment 
Date.  

The Applicant furthermore authorises Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency to obtain 
confirmation from the Applicant’s bank that the Applicant has the right to dispose over the specified account 
and that there are sufficient funds in the account to cover the payment.  

If there are insufficient funds in an Applicant’s bank account or if it for other reasons is impossible to debit 
such bank account when a debit attempt is made pursuant to the authorisation from the Applicant, the 
Applicant’s obligation to pay for the Offer Shares will be deemed overdue.  

Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate from time to time under the Decree 
wich brings into force on the Faroe Islands the Act on Interest on Overdue Payment No. 638 of 21 
December 1977 as amended from time to time, currently 6.75% per annum. If an Applicant fails to comply 
with the terms of payment, the Offer Shares will, subject to the discretion of Føroya Banki or the relevant 
Faroese Sales Agency, not be delivered to the Applicant, and Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales 
Agency reserve the right, at the risk and cost of the Applicant (however, so that the Applicant will not be 
entitled to any profit therefrom), to cancel the Application and to re-allot or otherwise dispose of the 
allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales 
Agency may decide in accordance with Faroese law. The original Applicant remains liable for payment of the 
Offering Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the Applicant, together with any interest, cost, charges and 
expenses accrued, and the Company, Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency may enforce 
payment for any such amount outstanding.  
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The amount payable for the Offer Shares is in NOK. The drawn amount for the Offer Shares is a DKK 
amount calculated as the aggregated NOK amount of the allocated shares adjusted for the relevant 
DKKNOK exchange rate on 25 March. 

5.11.6.3 Delivery 

Subject to receipt of payment from the Applicant, delivery of the Offer Shares allocated in the Faroese 
Retail Offering is expected to take place on or about 30 March 2010. All shares allocated to investors in the 
Faroese Retail Offering will be registered at Føroya Banki or the relevant Sales Agency as nominee holder in 
the VPS. Please refer to the general terms of security accounts at Føroya Banki or the relevant Sales Agency 
for more information about nominee arrangements.  

5.12 Mechanism of allocation 

The Offering is divided into an Institutional Offering and a Retail Offering which again is divided into a 
Norwegian Retail Offering and a Faroese Retail Offering. The provisional allocation of Offer Shares between 
the tranches is approximately 85-90% for the Institutional Offering and 10-15% for the Retail Offering of 
which up to 50 % will be allocated with priority to the Faroese Retail Offering. However, the final allocation 
between the tranches will be determined following expiry of the Book-building Period /Retail Application 
Period based on the level of orders/Applications in the respective tranches relative to the overall application 
level in the Offering. The Company, the Principal Selling Shareholder and the Managers reserve the right to 
deviate from the provisional allocation between the two tranches without notice. 

In the Institutional Offering, the Company and the Principal Selling Shareholder will determine the allocation 
of Offer Shares after consultation with the Managers. An important aspect of the allocation principles is the 
desire to create an appropriate long-term shareholder structure for the Company. The allocation principles 
will, in accordance with normal practice for institutional placements, include factors such as premarketing 
and management road-show participation and feedback, timeliness of the order, price level, relative order 
size, sector knowledge, investment history, perceived investor quality and investment horizon. The 
Company, the Principal Selling Shareholder and the Managers further reserve the right, at their sole 
discretion, to take into account the creditworthiness of any Applicant. The Company and the Principal Selling 
Shareholder may also set a maximum allocation or decide to make no allocation to any Applicant. 

In the Retail Offering allocations will be made on a pro rata basis, no allocation will be made for a number 
of Offer Shares less than 500 Offer Shares. All allocations will be rounded down to a multiple of the nearest 
round lot of shares which is expected to be 500 or 200 Shares, depending on the final Offer Price. Smaller 
Applications, therefore, might be granted a higher relative allotment compared to larger Applications. Not 
withstanding the foregoing, the Company and the Principal Selling Shareholder reserve the right to allocate 
shares on a random basis using VPS’s simulation procedures (Norwegian Retail Offering) and/ or other 
random allocation mechanisms. The Company also reserves the right to limit the total number of Applicants 
to whom Offer Shares are allocated if the Company and the Principal Selling Shareholder deem this to be 
necessary in order to keep the number of shareholders in the Company at an appropriate level and such 
limitation does not have the effect that any conditions for listing set by Oslo Børs regarding number of 
shareholders will not be satisfied. If the Company should decide to limit the total number of Applicants to 
whom Offer Shares are allocated, the Applicants to whom Offer Shares will be allocated will be determined 
on a random basis using VPS’s simulation procedures (Norwegian Retail Offering) and/ or other random 
proceedures. 

5.13 The rights conferred by the Offer Shares 

The Secondary Shares in all respects carry full shareholders’ rights in the Company on an equal basis with 
the other existing shares of the Company, including the right to any dividends. Equally, the The New Shares 
will, from the time of registration of the capital increase in the Faroese Company Register (Skráseting 
Føroya), in all respects carry full shareholders’ rights in the Company on an equal basis with the existing 
shares of the Company, including the right to any dividends. 

For a description of rights attached to the shares in the Company, see section entitled “Shareholder matters 
and relevant Company and Securities law”. 

5.14 Mandatory anti-moneylaundring procedures in the Institutional Offering 
and the Norwegian Retail Offering 

The Institutional Offering and the Norwegian Retail Offering is subject to the Norwegian Money Laundering 
Act No. 11 of 6 March 2009 and the Norwegian Money Laundering Regulations No. 302 of 13 March 2009 
(collectively the “Anti-Money Laundering Legislation”).  

Applicants who are not registered as existing customers of the Managers must verify their identity to the 
respective Manager in accordance with requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation, unless an 
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exemption is available. Applicants who have designated an existing Norwegian bank account and an existing 
VPS account on the Norwegian Retail Application Form are exempted, unless verification of identity is 
requested by the Managers. Applicants who have not completed the required verification of identity prior to 
the expiry of the Norwegian Retail Application Period will not be allocated Offer Shares.  

Furthermore, participation in the Institutional Offering and the Norwegian Retail Offering is conditional upon 
the Applicant having a VPS account. The VPS account number must be stated in the Norwegian Retail 
Application Form. VPS accounts can be established with authorised VPS registrars, who can be Norwegian 
banks, authorised securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established 
within the EEA. However, non-Norwegian investors may use nominee VPS accounts registered in the name 
of a nominee. The nominee must be authorised by the NFSA. Establishment of a VPS account requires 
verification of identification to the VPS registrar in accordance with the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation.  

5.15 Faroese mandatory anti-moneylaundring procedures in the Institutional 
Offering and the Faroese Retail Offering 

The part of the Institutional Offering allocated to investors who participate in the Institutional Offering via a 
Faroese bank account and a VPS account or nominee VPS account with a Faroese bank and the Faroese 
Retail Offering is subject to the Danish Decree which brings into force on the Faroe Islands the Act on 
Measures to Prevent Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism No. 626 of 27 June 2008 as amended 
from time to time and the Faroese Money Transmission Services Act No. 467 of 17 June 2008 as amended 
from time to time (collectively the “Faroese Anti-Money Laundering Legislation”).  

Applicants who are not registered as existing customers of Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales 
Agency must verify their identity to Føroya Banki or the relevant Faroese Sales Agency in accordance with 
requirements of the Faroese Anti-Money Laundering Legislation, unless an exemption is available. 
Applicants who have designated an existing Faroese bank account and an existing VPS account or nominee 
VPS account (see below) with a Faroese bank on the Faroese Retail Application Form, are exempted from 
the verification process unless verification of identity is requested by Føroya Banki or the Relevant Faroese 
Sales Agency. Applicants who have not completed the required verification of identity prior to the expiry of 
the Application Period will not be allocated Offer Shares.  

Furthermore, participation in the Faroese Retail Offering is conditional upon the Applicant having a VPS 
account or a nominee VPS account with a Faroese bank. The VPS account number or the nominee VPS 
account number must be stated in the Faroese Retail Application Form.  

VPS accounts can be established with authorised VPS registrars, who can be Faroese banks. Establishment 
of a VPS account requires verification of identification to the VPS registrar in accordance with the Faroese 
Anti-Money Laundering Legislation. 

Nominee VPS accounts can be established with a bank which either directly or indirectly is the holder of a 
VPS account. The nominee must be authorised by the NFSA. Most Faroese banks, including Føroya Banki 
and the Faroese Sales Agencies, have arrangements in place ensurering that custody accounts at these 
banks qualify as nominee VPS accounts. 

5.16 Over-Allotment Facility, Greenshoe Option and Price Stabilization 

5.16.1 Over-Allotment Facility 
The Managers may over-allot to the Applicants up to 1,836,768 Offer Shares (all Secondary Shares) 
following determination of the Offer Price (the “Over-Allotment Facility”). To the extent the Over-Allotment 
facility has been exercised, the over-allotted Shares will be sold as part of the Offering and at the Offer 
Price and the other terms that apply for settlement in the Offering. The Managers expect to enter into a 
share lending agreement with the Principal Selling Shareholder and the Company pursuant to which the 
Managers will be entitled to borrow a total of 1,836,768 Shares equally didvided between the lenders for 
the purpose of over-alloting Offer Shares as described above. 

5.16.2 Greenshoe Option 
The Principal Selling Shareholder and the Company will in connection with the Offering issue an option to 
the Managers to purchase total of 1,836,768 Shares equally didvided between the lenders (the “Greenshoe 
Option”). The Greenshoe Option may be exercised by the Managers, at any time up to the end of the 
stabilization period as described in Section 5.16.3 “Price Stabilization” below. The Greenshoe Option can 
only be exercised if the Over-Allotment Facility has been utilized and is limited to the number of Shares 
which have been over-allotted. 

To the extent that the Managers have over-allotted Shares in the Offering, the Managers have created a 
short position in the Shares. The Stabilization Manager may close out this short position by buying Shares in 
the open market through the stabilization activities and/or by exercising the Greenshoe Option. 
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5.16.3 Price Stabilization 
Nordea Markets, on behalf of the Managers (the “Stabilization Manager”), may effect transactions with a 
view to support the market price of the Shares at a level higher than what might otherwise prevail, by 
buying shares in the open market at prices equal to or lower than the Offer Price. There is no obligation on 
the Stabilization Manager to do so. Stabilizing activities, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time, 
and will be brought to an end at the latest 30 calendar days from the announcement of the Offer Price. 

A stock exchange notice stating that stabilization activities may occur will be issued on the first day of 
trading of the shares on Oslo Børs. Within one week after the end of the stabilization period, the 
Stabilization Manager will publish a statement through the information system of Oslo Børs with information 
as to whether or not any stabilization activities have been undertaken. If stabilization activities have been 
undertaken, the statement will also include information on: 

• whether or not stabilization was undertaken; 

• the dates on which the stabilization period began and ended; 

• the prize range between which stabilization was carried out, for each of the dates during which 
stabilization transactions were carried out; and 

• the date at which stabilization activities last occurred. 

Stabilization activities will be conducted in accordance with Section 3-12 of the Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act and ancillary regulations. Stabilization transactions may result in a market price that is higher 
than would otherwise prevail. 

5.17 Publication of information in relation to the Offer 

The Company, the Managers and the Selling Shareholders intend to use the Oslo Børs information system 
to publish information with respect to the Offering and on the Company’s website www.bakkafrost.com, 
such as any changes in the Indicative Price Range and/or the Book-building Period, the Retail Application 
Period, the final determination of the Offer Price, allotment and first day of trading. The information will only 
be awailable in English. 

5.18 Selling Shareholders 

The Selling Shareholders have agreed to offer to sell minimum 14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 
Secondary Shares as part of the Offering. The following table sets forth the Selling Shareholders and the 
number of Secondary Shares offered by each of the Selling Shareholders: 

Name Business Address Number of Shares
to be sold 

P/f Føroya Banki, ”Principal Shareholder” Húsagøta 3, FO-110 Tórshavn 14,649,752 

Framtaksgrunnur Føroya Hoyvíksvegur 51, FO-110 Tórshavn Maximum 1,377,575 

Hans Jacobsen Glyvravegur 30, FO–625 Glyvrar Maximum 925,000 

TF Holding Kongabrúgvin, FO-110 Tórshavn Maximum 925,000 

Regin Jacobsen Gerðisvegur 59, FO-600 Saltangará Maximum 462,500 

Sp/f JH Holding Traðagöta 20, FO-700 Klaksvik Maximum 305,444 

The Secondary Shares offered for sale by the Principal Selling Shareholder shall have priority before the 
Secondary Shares offered for sale by the other Selling shareholders. 

P/f Bakkafrost and Føroya Banki will in connection with the Offering issue a greenshoe option to the 
Managers as further described under section 15.6.2. To the extent the Managers exercise the option P/f 
Bakkafrost and Føroya Banki will sell up to an additional 1,836,768 Shares in the Offering, with one half 
each.  

5.19 Lock up agreements 

The Managers has entered into a lock-up agreement with certain shareholders that are members of the 
Board and primary insiders of the Company. The agreement applies to the Shareholders themselves and 
their subsidiaries and affiliates. Under the lock-up agreement such shareholders have undertaken not to 
sell, issue put-options on, or in any other way transfer any rights to shares and options they as of today 
own or will receive in P/f Bakkafrost, within six months from the first day the shares of P/f Bakkafrost are 
listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, without the prior written consent of the Managers. 
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Consent from the Managers shall not be denied without just cause, and shall normally be given to the 
extent sale is necessary to pay tax in relation to the issuance or exercise of options. 

The lock-up agreement comprises Hans Jacobsen, Regin Jacobsen and Sp/f Havsbrun. Hans Jacobsen and 
Regin Jacobsen will sell a total of up to 1,387,500 Secondary Shares in the Offering. Adjusted for such 
Secondary Shares, the lock-up agreement comprises of a total of 15,504,694 Shares, which constitutes 
36.52% of the Company’s Shares. 

Exempt from the lock-up agreement can be granted by the Managers, upon written request. The Manager’s 
decision will be based upon the Manager's own judgment, and exemptions will be reported through the Oslo 
Børs’s news releases prior to a potential sale. In case of an identical offer for all of the Shares and the offer 
is recommended by Bakkafrost’s Board of Directors, exempt from the lock-up agreement will be granted. 

5.20 Interests of Natural and Legal Persons Involved in the Offering 

Nordea Markets is an integrated part of Nordea Bank Norge ASA, which is one of the main lenders to the 
Company (refer to section 8.11.6). Accordingly Nordea Bank Norge ASA may have conflicting interests 
between its role as Manager and other its role as main lender or other capacities and may act in its own 
interests or in the interest of any of its respective affiliates or customers and may act in more than one 
capacity in relation to the Offering. Nordea Bank Norge ASA has no obligation to use any information 
obtained from another source for the purposes of the Offering or to exchange information within its different 
business units. In accordance with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Commercial Banks Act, 
there is a duty of secrecy between the different units of Nordea Bank Norge ASA, including between Nordea 
Bank Norge ASA's lending department and Nordea Markets. 

Føroya Banki Corporate Finance is an integrated part of P/f Føroya Banki, which is one of the main lenders 
to the Company (refer to section 8.11.6) and a Selling Shareholders (refer to section 5.18). Accordingly P/f 
Føroya Banki may have conflicting interests between its role as Manager, Receiving Agent, its role as main 
lender, Selling Shareholder or other capacities and may act in its own interests or in the interest of any of 
its respective affiliates or customers and may act in more than one capacity in relation to the Offering. P/f 
Føroya Banki has no obligation to use any information obtained from another source for the purposes of the 
Offering or to exchange information within its different business units. In accordance with the Faroese 
Financial Business Act the management and employees of P/f Føroya Banki are bound by a duty of secrecy 
in respect of information obtained during the performance of their duties  

Nordea Bank Norge ASA and Føroya Banki or their affiliates are currently providing, and may provide in the 
future, investment and commercial banking services to the Company and its affiliates in the ordinary course 
of business, for which they may receive and may continue to receive customary fees and commissions.  

Carnegie ASA or their affiliates are currently providing, and may provide in the future, investment banking 
services to the Company and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business, for which they may receive and 
may continue to receive customary fees and commissions. 

Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Føroya Banki and Carnegie ASA are Managers of the Offering and receive fees and 
commission in this regard.  

Føroya Banki currently owns 15,568,136 Existing Shares in the Company and is also taking part in the 
Offering as the Principal Selling Shareholder. 

P/f Bakkafrost currently owns 918,384 Existing Shares in the Company and might also take part in the 
Offering with up to all 918,384 Existing Shares through the over-allotment and green shoe option as further 
described in Section 5.16. 

Regin Jacobsen currently owns 4,953,717 Existing Shares in the Company and is also taking part in the 
Offering as a Selling Shareholder 

The Company and Føroya Banki will be stock lenders in the issued green shoe option. 

To the extent known to the Company no major shareholders or members of the management or Board of 
Directors intend to subscribe in the offer. 

5.21 Managers 

The Managers for the Listing and Offering are: 

Nordea Markets  Føroya Banki Carnegie ASA 

Middelthunsgate 17 Húsagøta 3 Stranden 1 
P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum   P.O. Box 3048 P.O Box 684 Sentrum 
NO-0107 Oslo FO-110 Tórshavn NO-0106 Oslo 
Norway Faroe Islands Norway 
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As at the date of this Prospectus, neither the Managers nor any of their employees own any Shares in the 
Company, exempt from Føroya Banki which is the Principal Selling Shareholder, ref section 5.18 . 

5.22 Jurisdiction 

The Offer Shares will be issued pursuant to the relevant rules in the Company’s Act (Regulation no. 1356 
from 9 December 2007 with amendments) and the shares shall be offered according Act No 87 on Securities 
Trading from 10 February 2006 as amended from time to time, and according to executive orders, issued in 
accordance with this Act. 

This Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. Any dispute arising in respect of this Prospectus is subject to 
the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts with Oslo District Court as legal venue, however so that 
any dispute arising in respect of the Faroese Retail Offering is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 
Faroese courts with Tórshavn District Court (“Sorinskrivarin”) as legal venue.  

5.23 Expenses and net proceeds 

The gross proceeds of the Equity Issue is approx. DKK 75 million (excluding proceeds from any own shares 
sold through the over-allotment and green shoe option). 

Transaction costs and all other directly attributable costs in connection with the IPO will be bourne by the 
Company.  The total costs amount to maximum DKK 13.2 million, where the Managers receive approx. DKK 
9.1 million. 

The net proceeds of the Equity Issue is minimum DKK 61.8 million. The proceeds will be used for general 
corporate purposes among others according to section 8.11 “Capitalisation”.  
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6 PRESENTATION OF BAKKAFROST  
If not otherwise indicated, the source of the information in this chapter is Bakkafrost. Information which has 
been sourced from a third party has been accurately reproduced. As far as the Company is able to ascertain 
from information published by that third party, no facts have been ommitted which would render the 
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.  

6.1 General 

P/F Bakkafrost was incorporated in 1990 on 23 October 1990 under the name P/f Taravík and registered in 
the Faroe Islands Company register with registration number 1724. P/f Bakkafrost is a public limited 
company (Faroese: partafelag, P/f) which operates under the Faroese Public Company Act (Act no. 1356 of 
09.12.2007). The Company has existed for 19 years as of the date of the Prospectus. 

The Company’s postal address and contact data are: 

P/F Bakkafrost   Telephone:  +298 40 50 00 

Bakkavegur 9,    Fax:  +298 40 50 09 

FO-625 Glyvrar   E-mail:  bakkafrost@bakkafrost.com 

Faroe Islands    Web site:  www.bakkafrost.com 

Bakkafrost had an average of 360 employees in 2009.  

6.2 Historical background and company development  

Below follows a summary of the main events and milestones of the Company since its establishment: 

1968   
The Bakkafrost business was established by the two brothers Hans and Roland Jacobsen. The first 
processing plant was built the same year. The third brother Martin Jakobsen joined the company in 1971. 
 
1972  
A second processing plant was built in Glyvrar. The business idea was to catch herring in the Faroese fjords 
and to process and sell spiced and marinated herring fillets.  
 
1977  
Pacaging operation of flatfish from other Faroese fish producers for the UK market was started. This was 
mainly to stabilize the existing business, as the caught volumes of herring fell. 
 
1979  
Start up of the farming activities as one of the first companies in the Faroe Islands.  
 
1980s   
Development of the production of blue whiting into mince and surimi in the Faroe Islands. Blue whiting 
stock plummeted in 1990 causing financial distress for the Group and the rest of the sector.  
 
1990 
P/f Bakkafrost was incorporated as P/f Taravík, by Jón Purkhús and Heini Gregersen, and started production 
of farmed salmon and its own smolt   
 
1992  
Restructuring of the Group by Regin Jacobsen, Hans Jacobsen and Martin Jakobsen. At this time the Group 
had farming licenses for salmon in two fjords, slaugthering capacaties for salmon in Glyvrar, as well as 
pelagic processing capabilities and production of styropor boxes for transportation of fish. 
 
1995  
A Value Added Product (“The VAP”) factory for salmon was built in the factory in Glyvrar. The investment 
was limited, and the capacity low. The Group got the licence to produce smolt/fry in Glyvrar/Glyvradalur. 
 
1999-2001  
The Group increased the capacity of the VAP to around 22 tonnes gutted weight per day through two 
separate investments during this period in order to facilitate further growth. 
 
2006  
In 2006 the Group grew through acquisitions and mergers and increased its farming capacity with 15,000 
tonnes gutted weight to a total capacity of 18,000 tonnes gutted weight of salmon. The Group gained 
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access to six new fish farming fjords and two hatcheries for production of smolts and fry. The Group made 
large investments to increase the VAP factory in Glyvar to manage the increased volumes and the factory 
reached a capacity of 55 tonnes gutted weight per day. 
 
2008  
The shareholders of Bakkafrost and Vestlax agreed to merge the companies. The merger was scheduled for 
1. January 2010. The P/f Vestlax Holding’s shareholders agreed to be remunerated in Bakkafrost shares. 
The Vestlax Group had a capacity of 11,000 tonnes gutted weight salmon and trout and a processing plant 
located in Kollafjørð. 
 
2009  
Best year ever in terms of produced volumes, revenues and operating profit. Decision made to list the 
company at Oslo Børs during 2010. 
 
2010  
Merger with P/f Vestlax Holding finalized. The merged company produced 30,650 tonnes gutted weight in 
2009 on a total of 15 licenses. 
 
FIGURE 6-1: DEVELOPMENT IN OPERATING INCOME AND PRE TAX PROFIT (DKK MILLION) 
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6.3 Legal structure 

The figure below shows the Company’s legal structure of the Bakkafrost Group as of the date of the 
Prospectus. The figure provides an overview of the most important Group companies and associated 
companies. All companies are wholly-owned (100%), unless otherwise stated. 

FIGURE 6-2: ORGANISATION CHART P/F BAKKAFROST  
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6.3.1 Other companies not included in the chart above: 
Bakkafrost owns all shares in P/f Faroe Smolt, a company with no activity. Further P/f Sveipur, a company 
currently wholly owned by P/f Bakkafrost Harvest, is expected to cease to exist after a planned merger with 
P/f Bakkafrost Packaging. 

In addition the Company holds shares representing 56% of the capital and 30% of the votes in P/f Salmon 
Proteins (ref. section 6.15). 

6.4 Description of the companies in the Bakkafrost Group 

The Bakkafrost Group is the largest salmon producer in the Faroe Islands. The Group produced 30,650 
tonnes gutted weight salmon and trout in 2009. The Bakkafrost Group owns 44 % of total licenses on the 
Faroe Islands, currently representing about 60 % of total harvest volumes. 

The Group operates five fully owned hatcheries and licenses on 14 fish farming sites for marine production 
of Atlantic salmon in the Faroe Islands in addition to one license currently out of production. The sites are 
located in thirteen different fjords.  

The Group also carries out primary processing and secondary processing. All primary processing takes place 
at the Group’s slaughter facilities in Klaksvík and Kollafjørð, and all secondary processing takes place in the 
Group’s VAP facility in Glyvrar. 

6.4.1 P/f Bakkafrost 
P/f Bakkafrost is a public limited company and the holding and management company for the Group, 
headquartered in Glyvrar, Faroe Islands. This company has the full responsibility for the Group’s 
administration and management, including accounting and Group financing as its main activities. The Group 
administration presently employs 10 people. 

6.4.2 P/f Bakkafrost Farming North 
P/f Bakkafrost Farming North was established as sp/f Alistøðin á Bakka in 1992 by Regin Jacobsen, Hans 
Jacobsen and Martin Jakobsen, as a private limited company, with registered office in Glyvrar, Faroe 
Islands. Since then, the company has produced farmed salmon and produced its own smolt.  

The company is fully integrated in Bakkafrost and is managed by the Group management. The company 
owns 8 licenses and has a production of 18,700 tonnes gutted weight of salmon in 2009. The company 
presently employs 52 people.  

6.4.3 P/f Bakkafrost Farming West 
P/f Bakkafrost Farming West was established as Vestlax p/f in 1986 by Suni Durhuus and Jógvan Durhuus 
as a private limited company, with registered office in Vestmanna, Faroe Islands.  

Today the company is fully integrated in Bakkafrost and is managed by the Group management. The 
company owns 7 licenses and produced 12,000 tonnes gutted weight of salmon and trout in 2009. The 
company owns its own hatcheries and slaughery. The company employs 37 people.  

6.4.4 P/f Bakkafrost Harvest 
P/f Bakkafrost Harvest was established in 1990 by P/f Bakkafrost Farming West as a private limited 
company, with registered office in Kollafjørð, Faroe Islands.  

Today the company carries out the slaughery activity for the Group with addition of some fish from external 
customers. The company built a new slaughtery for salmon in 2002 in Klaksvik. The company has a second 
factory in Kollafjørð with a processing capacity of 100 tonnes gutted weight per day. P/f Bakkafrost Harvest 
was sold from P/f Bakkafrost Farming West to P/f Bakkafrost in January 2010. The company employs 120 
people. For a more detailed description of the operations see section 6.12. 

6.4.5 P/f Bakkafrost Processing 
P/f Bakkafrost Processing was established as P/f Kryvjing in 2001 by P/f Bakkafrost Holding and East 
Salmon as a private limited company, with registered office in Klaksvík, Faroe Islands. The VAP factory was 
built in 1995 with a major upgrade in 1999 to 2001 and 2006.  

The factory has a processing capacity of 60 tonnes gutted weight per day. The company employs 170 
people.  

6.4.6 P/f Bakkafrost Sales 
P/f Bakkafrost Sales was established as P/f Hellisvað in 1988 by Magnus Danielsen, as a private limited 
company, with registered office in Glyvrar, Faroe Islands.  
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The company is now used as sales company for the entire Group. The company employs 6 people.  

6.4.7 P/f Bakkafrost Packaging 
P/f Bakkafrost Packaging was established as P/f East Salmon in 1995 by Grímur Rasmussen, Líggjas í Bø 
and Símun Pauli Kunoy as a private limited company, with registered office in Klaksvík, Faroe Islands.  

Today the company’s is producing styropor boxes. The company has two factories located in Glyvrar and 
Argir. The boxes are used for the transportation of fresh fish to various markets. The styropor factories are 
capable of producing boxes for around 35,000 tonnes WFE per year. Around 1/3 of the sales is to external 
customers. The company employs 5 people. 

6.4.8 P/f Sveipur 
P/f Sveipur was established in 1988 by Bjarni Dalsgarð and Jørmund Tausen in Faroe Islands. The company 
operates a styropor factory in Argir. P/f Sveipur is wholly owned by P/f Bakkafrost Harvest and is expected 
to be merged into P/f Bakkafrost Packaging during Q2 2010 with accounting effect from 1 January 2010. 
The shares in P/f Sveipur to be received by P/f Bakkafrost Harvest as merger consideration will be sold to 
Bakkafrost. 

6.5 Business objectives and strategy 

6.5.1 Vision 
Bakkafrost’s vision is through long term relationships with its partners to offer its customers value added 
healthy quality products. Bakkafrost wants to build its operations on sustainable raw materials and 
resources.  

6.5.2 Strategy  
Bakkafrost’s main strategic goal is to be an independant company securing long term sustainable growth 
through efficient and cost effective production. 

Based on the Company’s experience and history, biological security is acknowledged to play an important 
part in the upstream production of salmon to achieve cost efficiency. Hence, the focus on biological security 
is given the highest priority within the Company. Through its experience from many years of salmon 
farming at the Faroe Islands and the results from veterinary and biological best practice, Bakkafrost aims to 
produce quality salmon products through balancing the production volumes between economies of scale and 
biological capacities.  

Downstream, Bakkafrost’s long term growth and financial stability is a result of a strategy based on a mix of 
contract sale of Value Added Products and spot sale of whole gutted fish.  

The Company’s long term fundamental goals for a healthy, attractive and competitive low cost salmon 
farming company are to be secured through: 

• Control of the entire value chain from smolt to retail product 

• Utilization of the benefits from the unique geographical placement of the farms 

• Implementation of, and non stop development of best veterinary-, biological- and sustainable 
practice 

• Implementation of best practice regarding quality assurance and traceability 

• Utilization of economies of scale through increased size of the harvested fish 

• Offering of both value added products as well as whole salmon in order to meet the specific 
demands of each main market 

Bakkafrost’s strategic goals shall be achieved through the following main operational strategies: 

6.5.2.1 Biological security 

Bakkafrost aims to keep the salmon in a good and healthy environment, ensuring the welfare and well 
being of its fish. All natural and physiological needs must be met to the widest extent possible in order to 
maintain a healthy sustainable production and reach cost efficiency.  

The fish farming operations have to be conducted in strict compliance with the directives and regulations of 
the Faroese food safety administration, which ensures that the Company’s fish flourish and grow under the 
most natural conditions possible. 
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Since the new veterinary model was introduced on the Faroe Islands in 2003, Bakkafrost has experienced 
very little losses due to disease, a significantly improved feed conversion ratio, lower mortality rates and 
increased productivity without the use of antibiotics.  

The graphs below shows the recent development in important parametes as average harvest weight, 
mortality and feed conversion rate for Faroe Salmon producers, clearly showing the positive development 
since the introduction of the new veterinary model. 

 

FIGURE 6-3: AVERAGE HARVEST WEIGHT (KG LWE) FIGURE 6-4: MORTALITY % OF OUTPUT 

  

FIGURE 6-5: BIOLOGICAL FEED FACTOR  

 

 

SOURCE: FARMCONTROL3/COMPANY  
 

The low weight and high mortality in 2002 was a result of disease and early harvesting on the remaining 
fish in order to prevent the disease from spreading. The average harvest weights have increased from a 
historical low average weight in the 2001 generation and a high mortality of approx. 30% to an average 
weight of 6 kg in the 2007 generation and a mortality of approx. 7%. The strong biological performance has 
given the possibility to harvest larger fish, reducing the feed costs per kilo to an average of approx. 1.12 on 
average in the Faroe Islands. 

6.5.2.2 Best Practice - Human resources  

The Company shall maintain its focus on human capital and high work satisfaction in order to keep the 
competence in house and benefit from their expertise in all parts of the process. The Company has 2 HR 
Managers responsible for the company’s human resource management. The annual turnover of staff is 1-
3% in the farming division, 3-10% in the harvest division and 10-20% in the processing division. Sales and 
management has had no changes in staff during the recent year. 

The managers of the farming sites have extensive experience, most of them since beginning of the 90’ties 
and some from mid 80’ties, contributing to the strong results within the farming division. On the high end 
the Processing division hires a lot of younger personnel looking for short term employment typically 1-2 

                                                                  
3 FARMCONTROL (WWW.WISEFISH.COM) HAS SINCE 1993 REGISTERED AND MONITORED DATA FROM FAROESE FISH 
FARMERS. NUMBERS SHOWN IN THESE GRAPHS REPRESENT BETWEEN 50-90% OF THE FAROESE FARMED SALMON 
FARMED FOR GENERATIONS 1993-2002, AND ~100% AFTER 2003 
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years, hence the higher turnover ratio. The Company are continuously working on improving the work 
satisfaction within the entire value chain. 

6.5.2.3 Cost efficiency 

The Company shall maintain a strong focus on production and cost efficiency, realising economies of scale 
within the limits for biological sustainable farming. Key parameters are:  

• Share, maintain and implement best practice in feeding regimes and husbandry 

• Continue to monitor and evaluate the various steps within the processing in order to utilize 
production capacity and find potential for improvements 

• Reward the ideas for new methods improving economy of scale and maintain/increase quality on 
products  

6.5.2.4 Value added production 

In 2009, value added products (VAP), as i.e. portions and fillets, represented 65% of the total revenues in 
Bakkafrost (pre merger). The VAP operation is based on contractual sale and is hence reducing the 
fluctuations of the company’s financial performance through a business cycle. In order to meet customers’ 
demands it is important to deliver high quality products and a wide range of products. 

Bakkafrost will continue to invest in state of the art process equipment in order to meet the market 
demands on both product quality and new products. The Company will continue optimizing the product 
portfolio in order to maintain the flexibility of the production between VAP and other products. 

6.5.2.5 New opportunities 

The merger between Bakkafrost and Vestlax as of 1 January 2010 will give new opportunities for growth 
through increased utilisation of farming locations and increased raw material base for processing. The 
company will be better positioned to meet the large volumes requested by both new as well as existing 
customers within the retail sector, building long term relationships, and at the same time be able to benefit 
from opportunities within the spot market or explore new opportunities. 

6.5.2.6 Growth strategy 

Since the new veterinary model was introduced on the Faroe Islands in 2003 Bakkafrost has demonstrated 
growth of 34 % compounded annually growth in terms of harvest volume. Further growth on existing 
facilities has to be evaluated after learning how the biological performance develops at this volume. 

The company also has the opportunity to grow on the Faroe Islands through increasing the number of 
licenses. However, as Bakkafrost owns 44% of the licences today and the regulations do not allow any 
company to own more than 50% of the licenses, the potential following this route is about 6% percent 
increase in licenses. 

The Company also considers acquisitions outside the Faroe Islands as an opportunity for further growth. 
Currently, there are no such plans, but the management believes that the operating model conducted on 
the Faroe Islands will be equally successful in other geographic locations with favourable naturally given 
conditions and will consider such opportunities when the timing is considered to be right. 

6.6 Key competitive advantages  

6.6.1 Low cost producer 
In terms of production costs, the farming operation has delivered strong results following the 
implementation of the new veterinary regime4 in the Faroe Islands during 2004. The improved biological 
control has improved fish health and reduced costs due to deceases and lice control. The increased 
biological control has also given the opportunity to increase the average harvest weight resulting in 
decreased costs per kg. 

6.6.2 Access to the US market free of import toll on whole fish 
Opposed to its Norwegian peers, Faroe salmon producers have no import toll on whole fish to the US 
market. The Company has established an experienced sales force with long term relations to customers in 
the US. The Company has a running operation and ongoing sales of large salmon supported by efficient 
logistical systems for the distribution of the products (both fresh and frozen) from the Faroe Islands to the 
                                                                  
4 A SET OF LAWS IMPLEMENTED FROM 2003 AND ONWARDS IN THE FAROE ISLANDS, STATING QUITE STRICTLY HOW 
SALMON FARMERS HAVE TO OPERATE. 
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US. The US market prefers the higher than average size and weight and the high level of omega-3 offered 
in salmon produced from the Faroe Islands.  

6.6.3 VAP 
The Company has long time experience in producing and selling VAP products. Production facilities are state 
of the art, with very high production efficiency. Sold volumes have increased by 34%5 per annum over the 
last three years and approximately 18% per annum over the last 10 years.  

6.6.4 Strong customer base 
By focusing on meeting existing customers’ demands, Bakkafrost benefits from its long term relationships 
with a large number of customers. The relationships to customers have proven to give a competitive 
advantage for both Bakkafrost and it’s customers through product development and marketing.  

6.6.5 Geographical location 
Bakkafrost’s salmon farms are located in areas with very attractive qualities for salmon farming in terms of 
water quality, water temperature and circulation. The Faroese fjords provide separation between locations, 
which improves biological control and area management. Relatively short distances between farming areas 
and processing facilities and well developed infrastructure offers cost efficient transportation of both feed 
and fish on land and at sea. 

6.6.6 Veterinary model 
The veterinary model implemented in the Faroe Islands from 2003 and onwards, states quite strictly how 
salmon farmers have to operate. The main objective of the veterinary model is to increase the biological 
and veterinary security and support a sustainable and healthy operation. 

Through total separation of salmon generations, vaccination against different diseases (ISA among others), 
strict regulation of movement of equipment and fish, and other regulations, the results for the 2005-2007 
generation on feed conversion ratio, mortality and productivity are among the best results ever seen in the 
Faroe history of salmon production and solid compared to Norwegian peers. (see figures in section 6.5.2) 

6.7 Description of the Company’s operations 

Bakkafrost is the largest salmon producer in the Faroe Islands. The company produced 30,650 tonnes 
gutted weight in 2009. Bakkafrost owns 44 % of total licenses on the Faroe Islands currently representing 
around 60% of total harvest volumes6. 

The Company operates five fully owned hatcheries and fourteen fish farming licenses for marine production 
of Atlantic salmon in the Faroe Islands in addition to one license currently being out of production. The 
licenses are located in thirteen different fjords.  

All primary processing takes place at the slaughtery facilities in Klaksvík and Kollafjørð, and all secondary 
processing takes place in the VAP facility in Glyvrar. 

6.8 The value chain 

Bakkafrost controls the entire value chain from smolt to sales and marketing. Control of the entire value 
chain is considered important to be able to control the product flow on a daily basis. Both customers and 
processing facilities depends on daily availability of salmon, and depends entirely on a steady flow of 
harvested fish.  

The quality of the fish is a result of the whole operation from salmon egg to the processing of the fish. The 
documentation and traceability from finished product back to the salmon egg and even to the raw materials 
in Bakkafrost’s salmon feed is important for its customers and therefore important to Bakkafrost. 

                                                                  
5 MEASURED IN VOLUME OF RAW MATERIAL 
6 2009 FIGURES 
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FIGURE 6-6:VALUE CHAIN 

Timeline: 

 

12 months 
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SOURCE: COMPANY 

The control of the entire value chain enables Bakkafrost to enter into long term delivery contracts and long 
term customer relationships, without being dependent on any third party to ensure the quality and 
predictability of its deliveries. Further it enables better utilisation of the facilities throughout the value chain 
and prevents sub-optimisation between cost centres. 

The Company’s core business areas are described in the following sections. 

6.9 Brood stock  

Bakkafrost purchases salmon eggs from several external suppliers based in the Faroe Islands, Iceland, 
Norway and Scotland. The capacity of Bakkafrost’s suppliers is sufficient to meet the current and future 
need of eggs. 

The vitality of the fish is very important. Therefore the selection of the best genetic properties is vital. The 
resistance to develop diseases is an important property of the fish. In order to ensure access to high quality 
eggs, Bakkafrost’s strategy is to buy eggs from selected external suppliers, where significant efforts and 
resources are invested to improve product quality and performance.   

6.10 Juveniles 

Bakkafrost owns a total of eight hatchery licenses. The Company operates five hatcheries with a total 
production capacity of around seven million smolts per year, making the Company self sufficient with 
smolts. Bakkafrost has been focused on producing smolts for its own production, and the number of smolts 
sold to third parties is limited. The Company will expand the hatchery capacity on existing facilities in line 
with the growth strategy, and this will be completed with limited investments 

Bakkafrost’s hatcheries are located in environments with large quantities of clean fresh water, where no 
villages or industries are competing for the water. This is important as there is no ground water available on 
the Faroe Islands. The hatcheries are equipped with closed water circulation systems with bio filters, and 
the fish tanks are inside buildings in order to limit the effect of external factors such as weather, birds and 
other pollution.  

The workforce in the hatcheries is very experienced, of which many of the employees have been working at 
the hatcheries since the early nineties. 

Historically, Bakkafrost has released smolts into sea when the weight is between 50-60g. Over the last four 
years Bakkafrost has changed its strategy and waited until the size of the smolts have reached 80-100g 
before releasing them into the sea. The Company believes this has had a positive effect when measuring 
productivity and mortality, and hence contributed to improving the Company results during this period. 
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TABLE 6-1: HATCHERY LICENSES FIGURE 6-7: HATCHERY LOCATIONS 

Licence. ID Location In operations 

S-03 Norðtoftir Y 

S-04 Húsar Y 

S-08 Gjógv Y 

S-13 Funningsfjørður N 

S-16 Glyvradalur Y 

S-21 Viðareiði Y 

 

FIGURE 6-8: AVERAGE SMOLT SIZE RELEASED INTO SEA FIGURE 6-9: ANNUAL SMOLT RELEASE 

 

 

SOURCE: COMPANY  

6.11 Farming 

Bakkafrost’s 15 fish farms are located in the central and northern part of the Faroese Islands. On average, 
each fish farm can produce around 2,500 tonnes gutted weight per year with present production regime 
within the next 3-5 years.  

The fish is kept, fed and nurtured in large sea cages providing the fish with abundant space to grow for a 
period of 16-18 months. During this period the fish grows from 100g to up to Bakkafrost’s average target 
weight of about 6.0-6.5 kg wfe. This weight is targeted as this is considered to provide an optimal 
breakdown/mix of sizes in order to serve both the fresh fish market and the internal VAP production. As a 
rule the larger fish are distributed as fresh fish and the smaller fish are used as raw material in the VAP 
production. 

The fish is fed several times a day, and the feed consumption is monitored continuously. Over the last three 
generations the biological feed conversion rate has decreased from around 1.20 to around 1.10, reducing 
the feed cost with approx. 8.5%. This is considered to be a direct result from the improved fish health 
achieved with new veterinary model introduced in 2003. 

During the entire production period each separate generation is kept in a separate fjord, and after all 
locations in a fjord have been harvested, the fjord is set aside for 3 – 4 months before a new generation is 
released. This operating model was introduced in 2003 and the observed effects are better productivity, less 
mortality and better utilization of the feed. On average, the mortality rate has been less than 10% for all 
farmers on the Faroe Islands since the new veterinary model in the Faroe Islands was implemented. 

The main goal of the farming operation is to produce salmon at a low feed conversation rate and with low 
mortality. In order to reach this goal, Bakkafrost believes the environment is very important, and therefore 
does its utmost to create and maintain a healthy environment for the fish. Following national regulations, 
environmental investigations are undertaken each year by external agencies on each farming location. The 
result of each survey becomes input data used in the tactical planning in order to achieve the best 
environmental sustainable farming results possible.  
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The environmental authorities also have to approve a 3-year production plan for the Faroese salmon 
companies on a yearly basis. 

FIGURE 6-10: HISTORICAL BIOLOGICAL FEED CONVERSION RATE PER 
GENERATION 

FIGURE 6-11: FARMING SITES 

 
 

FIGURE 6-12: HISTORICAL MORTALITY PER GENERATION 

 
SOURCE: COMPANY 
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6.11.1 Farming North 
The sites in Farming North (former Faroe Salmon, Bakkafrost) are located in the North-East part of the 
Faroe Islands. The operations in this region show a strong historical performance based on excellent 
conditions for salmon farming. 

TABLE 6-2: FARMING LICENSES FARMING NORTH 
 

Licence no. Location 

A-11 2 Hvannasund S 

A-21 2 Hvannasund S 

A-73 3 Hvannasund N 

A-72 7 Haraldsund N 

A-63 4 Árnafjørður 

A-13 5 Borðoyarvík 

A-12 6 Borðoyarvík 
Haraldsund S 

A-04 6 12 Lambavík 

A-04  
A-34/35 

13 Lambavík 
Skálafjørðurin 

A-34 13 Skálafjørðurin 

A-35 13 Skálafjørðurin 

 

 

SOURCE: COMPANY  

 
Farming North have historically shown very good productivity due to the general favourable environmental 
conditions in the sea. The Gulf Stream provides for very stabile conditions throughout the year as well as 
high water quality due to the non stop current. The water temperature in the region is steady with a 
fluctuation at only 6°C during a year. The lowest temperatures are usually reached in February at 
approximately 5.5°C and the highest temperatures are reached in the late summer months at 
approximately 11.5°C giving a total change in temperature of 5.63 °C through the year. 

FIGURE 6-14: SEA TEMPERATURE SKOPUM 2003-2009 AT 18 METERS 
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SOURCE: COMPANY 

Further, the occurrence of salmon lice has been very limited in these sites, again reflecting the favourable 
biological conditions combined with the veterinary model introduced on the Faroe Islands in 2003. 

The farming areas are large, and have capacity to support the quantities farmed on each site.  

FIGURE 6-13: FARMING LOCATIONS FARMING NORTH 
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In order to utilize the advantages to reach best practice regarding efficiency and cost minimizing, the 
company has invested in the best farming equipment available, and will continue to implement the best and 
newest technology. 

The biological situation in Farming North provides the opportunity to utilize higher than average weight of 
the fish, minimizing unit costs, biological feed factor and giving a best in class performance. The last three 
years the average weight has increased from 4.4 kg per fish to 5.3 kg gutted weight. The excellent 
biological situation is crucial to maintain production costs at current levels and to maximize the return from 
the invested capital. 

FIGURE 6-15: BIOLOGICAL FEED FACTOR FARMING NORTH FIGURE 6-16: AVERAGE HARVEST WEIGHT KG FARMING 
NORTH 
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FIGURE 6-17: COST DEVELOPMENT FARMING NORTH AT 
CAGE INCL. FINANCING AND DEPRECEATIONS 

 

 

 

SOURCE: COMPANY  
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6.11.2 Farming West 
The sites in Farming West (former Vestlax) are located in the central part of the Faroe Islands. The 
locations in Farming West have shown a somewhat lower performance than Farming North. The 
management of Bakkafrost is however confident that these locations have the same potential in terms of 
biological performance and corresponding low production costs as the natural given factors are more or less 
the same. 

 

As for Farming North, also these sites have constant supplies of fresh seawater due to the Gulf Stream. But 
opposite to the Bakkafrost sites in Farming North, where Bakkafrost operates regions without being close to 
other salmon farmers, the areas in region West are shared with other salmon farmers (Marine Harvest at 
two locations and Viking Salmon at one location). Unsynchronised operations between the companies have 
in the opinion of Bakkafrost been decisive reasons why the sites in Farming West have not performed 
equally well, i.e. contributing to occurrence of salmon lice in locations 14-16 during 2009. 

Going forward, all companies have agreed to act synchronised in terms of temporarily and regularly 
fallowing of the locations and halt of operations as from 1st July 2010 for two months before releasing new 
smolts into the area. This is a way of operations being similar to how operations are conducted in Farming 
North, and is expected to improve the biological situation in the area.  

Management believes the locations have potential to increase the size of harvested fish over time through 
adopting the best practice from Farming North. The farming areas are large, and have good capacity to 
support the quantities farmed on each site.  

Apart form the biological factors referred to above when comparing production costs in Farming North and 
Farming West, another reason is the fact that Farming West is in a process to scale up the production and is 
therefore not utilizing the production capacity in full. The increased production and investment in production 
equipment will continue during 2010. Performance for Farming West is shown in the figures below. 

 

FIGURE 6-19: AVERAGE HARVEST SIZE FARMING WEST FIGURE 6-20: BIOLOGICAL FEED FACTOR FARMING WEST 
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TABLE 6-3: FARMING LICENSES FARMING WEST FIGURE 6-18: FARMING LOCATIONS FARMING WEST 

Licence no. Location 

A-57 10 Fuglafjørður 

A-03 14 Sundini N 

A-80 15 Sundini S 

A-05 16 Kollafjørður 

A-81 16 Kollafjørður 

A-06 18 Nólsoyarfjørður 

A-69 20 Vestmannahavn 

A-07/37 20 Vestmannahavn 

 

 

 

SOURCE: COMPANY 
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FIGURE 6-21: COST DEVELOPMENT FARMING WEST AT CAGE 
INCL. FINANCING AND DEPRECEATIONS 

 

 
 

 

SOURCE: COMPANY  

6.12 Harvesting 

The total harvested volumes in 2009 were about 30,650 tonnes gutted weight.  

FIGURE 6-22: HARVEST VOLUMES FIGURE 6-23: PROCESSING PLANTS 
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SOURCE: COMPANY    

 

Going forward, Bakkafrost has decided to terminate the trout activities, and only focus on the production of 
Atlantic salmon. In 2009 trout volumes delivered 19% of the total volume, but will be fully phased out by 
2012. Expectedly, this will result in a better utilization of the existing facilities in the harvesting and 
processing capacity and an improved market position within the focus segments of the Company.  

The decline in the processing volumes in 2010 is due to reduced volumes in Farming West. The Company 
will continue to process volumes from 3rd parties to utilise spare capacity.  

All the fish are harvested at the slaughtery factories in Klaksvík and Kollafjørð. The slaughteries have a daily 
capacity of around 220 tonnes lwe at the current run rate at 1½ shift in average. The fish is transported 
from the farming sites to the slaughteries in well boats with closed end water systems. 

Bakkafrost’s well boat fleet consists of two vessels: One smaller well boat (230m3/45 tonnes wfe) and a 
larger well boat (660m3/ 110 tonnes WFE), both with closed systems. 
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FIGURE 6-24: PRIMARY PROCESSING INCL. 3RD PARTIES  
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SOURCE: COMPANY  

6.12.1 Slaughtery Klaksvík (North region) 
The Klaksvík slaughtery is a modern facility at 2,000 m2 built during 2002-03. The efficiency of the 
slaughtery is high and stable as it is equipped with the newest technology available. The capacity is 100 
tonnes lwe per day per eight hour shift. The slaughtery employs 50 people (full time equivalents). 

6.12.2 Slaughtery Kollafjørður (Central region) 
The slaughtery in Kollafjørður is from 1984 and was rebuilt during the early nineties for salmon harvesting. 
The daily capacity is 120 tonnes lwe running two 8 hour shifts. The facility also offers a freezing capacity of 
40 tonnes gutted weight per day. The slaughtery is scheduled for an update during 2010 to meet the 
Company’s goals on quality, efficiency and productivity. 

There are 70 people employed at the slaughtery in Kollafjørður (full time equivalents). 

6.13 Processing and refinement 

The 4,000 m2 VAP factory in Glyvrar has a capacity of producing 30 tonnes (product weight) of skin- and 
boneless 125g vacuum-packed portions in retail boxes per day.  

The primary customers for this product are the European supermarket chains. Opportunities to grow into 
new regions and to new customers are present. However, as demand from existing customers has grown 
rapidly, Bakkafrost’s strategy over the last years has been to show full commitment to existing customers 
rather than increasing the number of customers. 

Another market segment important for the VAP products is industrial customers buying whole fillets for 
further processing and by-products. This market has been developed during the last five years, and all by-
products are now sold at a margin. The customers in this segment are mainly European or from the Far 
East. 

The Company intends to continuously upgrade the VAP-factory in order to be able to deliver according to 
the market demands. Expansions of the factory and production capacity are evaluated, and a decision will 
be made when it is concluded to be favourable for the Company. 
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FIGURE 6-25: VAP FACTORY AND HQ  

  

FIGURE 6-26: PRODUCT SPLIT 2009 FIGURE 6-27: VAP PRODUCTION, FILLET AND PORTIONS 
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SOURCE: COMPANY  

6.14 Sales and distribution 

6.14.1 Sales strategy 
The strategy of the Company is to balance the sales mix between different geographical markets as well as 
different product segments. 

The two most important markets are the European market and the US market, in which Bakkafrost mainly 
sells VAP products and whole fish. In general, the VAP products are sold on long term contracts and the 
whole fish is sold in the spot market. 

Bakkafrost believes that its capability to serve both these geographical markets with the two categories of 
products efficiently reduces cross cycle fluctuations in both revenues and profitability. 

The strategy is to offer advantages to the larger super-market chains by securing product availability and 
stable high quality and preferred products. 
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FIGURE 6-28: SPLIT CONTRACT VS SPOT, % OF TOTAL SALES 
DKK, BAKKAFROST 2009, ACTUAL FIGURES 

FIGURE 6-29: SPLIT LARGE VS SMALL CUSTOMERS, % OF 
TOTAL SALES DKK, BAKKAFROST 2009, ACTUAL FIGURES 

  

SOURCE: COMPANY  

6.14.2 Distribution 
Current distribution network are based on boat to Europe and plane to the US. The Company are able to 
distribute both fresh and frozen fish to the market. 

With existing distribution network Bakkafrost are able to ship products to Scotland within 20 hours by boat. 
From Scotland the products are distributed by plane to major airports in the US within a total of 24 hours 
with a total cost of DKK 8-9 pr kg from factory to customer. 

Products planned for the European markets are transported by boat to Denmark within 2 days for further 
distribution on trucks. 

6.15 Description of associated companies 

6.15.1 P/f Salmon Proteins: 
P/f Salmon Proteins was established by all the Faroese fish farming companies in 2001 with registered office 
in Eiði. The purpose of the company is to optimize the output of ensilage economically and to establish and 
maintain a secure system to collect and distribute ensilage from all fish farmers and processing plants in a 
biologically secure system. 

The equity of the company was 9,152,347 DKK by 31 December 2009. Bakkafrost has not received 
dividends during 2009. 

P/f Salmon Proteins has as of 31.12.09 following amounts outstanding to/receivables in P/f Bakkafrost: 

DKK 129,375 

Shareholding percentage and future ownership: 

Bakkafrost Group: 56% of the shares; 30% of the votes  

The share capital was 5,060,000 DKK, fully paid, representing a total of 50,600 votes. The shareholders 
have agreed in EGM November 2009 to change the Articles of Association of the P/f Salmon Proteins so that 
no shareholder can vote with more than 30 % on the general assembly. Bakkafrost will after this 
ammendment be able to vote for a total of 30% of the total share capital corresponding to  15,200 votes.  

TABLE 6-4: SALMON PROTEINS, KEY FIGURES 

Salmon Proteins, results and balance over the last four years:  

DKK 1,000 FO-GAAP 
2006 

FO-GAAP 
2007 

FO-GAAP 
2008 

FO-GAAP 
2009 

(unaudited)

     

Profit after tax 918 2,148 -390 1,042

Balance 18,045 18,161 15,075 14,604

Equity 7,352 9,500 8,110 9,152

SOURCE: COMPANY 
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6.16 Description of potential operation sites 

One farm site (A05) has been leased out to another fish farming company. Bakkafrost will start production 
in this site late 2010 and the first salmon farmed under Bakkafrost from this site will be sold during 2012. 
There are potential capacities in some of the other sites (A06/A07/A69/A37 and A57) compared with 
historical production before the crisis in 2003. 

6.17 Trend information 

In the period between 31 December 2009 and the date of this Prospectus the Company has experienced a 
positive development. Market situation has improved in January and February 2010 compared with same 
months in 2009. Sales prices have increased, and the currency situation has changed so the prices in DKK 
have improved even more. The sold volumes in January 2010 has been higher than January 2009, but the 
biomass is reduced, and this will cause a lower sales volume during the the rest of Q1 and Q2-2010. 
Contracts on VAP products are on a higher price level than in 2009.  

Bakkafrost has not experienced any changes of trends outside the course of business, which is not 
mentioned elsewhere in this Prospectus, which are significant to the Company, and the management of 
Bakkafrost. Please see Section 9 “Market information”, Section 10 “Financial information” and Section 13 
“Shareholder matters and relevant company and securities law” for more information about significant 
trends in the Group’s  business and relevant matters. 

6.18 Other matters 

6.18.1 Regulations 
In the aquaculture industry there are extensive governmental regulations relating to technical and safety 
issues. These regulations apply to all participants and do not present any particular challenge for the 
Company. See chapter 13, “Legal Matters” for more information. 

6.18.2 The environment 
As of the date of the Prospectus the Company is in compliance with all environmental regulations in Faroe 
Islands and is not involved in any proceedings or investigation related to environmental issues. 

6.18.3 Patents 
The Company currently holds no patents material for its business or profitability  

6.18.4 Research and development (R&D) 
The Company does not undertake any significant research and development activities. 

6.18.5 Industrial, commercial or financial contracts 
Bakkafrost has feed contracts with Havsbrun. These contracts are renewed on a 3 month basis and are in 
line with market prices and conditions. 

Bakkafrost sells a significant amount of Value Added Product to customers on contracts. These contracts are 
based on market terms and prices and renewed on a regular basis. 

Other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries have 
not entered into material contracts or contracts which contain any provision under which any member of the 
group has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Company as of the date of the Prospectus. 
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7 MARKET INFORMATION 
This chapter The Market and the information presented herein, as text, numbers and graphs or otherwise, is 
prepared by and is the property of Kontali Analyse AS. The information is provided on the request of Nordea 
Markets/P/L Bakkafrost for the exclusive purpose of this Prospectus issued by P/L Bakkafrost in relation to 
its initial public offering on the Oslo Stock Exchange in 2010. The information shall not without the prior 
written consent of Kontali Analyse AS be used for any other purpose than the Prospectus or be reproduced, 
published or distributed by any recipient for in any way or for any purpose. 

The information provided in this chapter The Market represents the opinions of Kontali Analyse AS, and is 
subject to change at any time without notice. Kontali Analyse AS does not make any representation as to 
the accuracy or completeness of the information and it should not be relied upon as such. 

The information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the issuer is aware and is able to 
ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render 
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

When reference is made to the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), the 
publication referred to is ”The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2008” if not otherwise indicated in 
the text. The report is prepared by FAO and dated Rome, 2009.  

7.1 Seafood as part of World food supply 

7.1.1 Seafood Consumption Overview and Trends 
The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (the “FAO”) have estimated that in 2006 the 
total human consumption of seafood was approximately 110.4 million tonnes. According to the FAO, the 
demand for seafood has been growing and was expected to continue growing, at a faster rate than most of 
the other main food product categories. The following factors have been identified as the main drivers for 
continuing growth: 

Increase of per capita consumption: The global annual per capita consumption of fish has been predicted to 
increase from about 17.0 kilograms in 2008 to 19-21 kilograms by 2030. In particular, the FAO expected 
per capita consumption in North America and Europe, the main regions where farmed fish are currently 
regularly eaten, to increase rapidly over the next 10 years before slowing down to a more moderate growth 
level.  

Increased standard of living: Economic growth in Asia, Europe, the United States and parts of Eastern 
Europe has led to an increase in standard of living and this has increased the demand for premium food 
products such as salmon. 

Growth in world population: As world population continues to grow, with current projections of an increase 
from 6 billion people in the year 2000 to around 9 billion by 2050, farmed fish is expected to be one of the 
many food groups which will experience an increase due to larger demand for animal protein. 

Enjoyment, health and practicality: Seafood is considered to be a healthy and nutritious alternative to meat 
products. It is perceived as a healthy product due to its fairly low cholesterol content. Especially fatty fish 
such as salmon have a high percentage of Omega 3 fatty acids, which have scientifically proven health 
benefits. These factors are believed to be key drivers for further growth of farmed fish and salmon in 
particular, as an alternative to beef, poultry and pork. 

Farmed fish production is a more efficient source of protein relative to other sources of animal protein: Fish 
farming has been shown to have a more efficient rate of conversion of feed into protein. For example, 
farmed salmon requires less than 50 percent of the weight of feed required to produce an equivalent weight 
of other animal protein products. 

7.1.2 World food supply 
FAO have grouped and estimated the total supply of food in 2009 as follows: 

The total supply of agriculture is approximately 6,164 million tonnes of which 1,563 million tonnes are used 
for meat production 

The total supply of farmed foods for human consumption is approximately 6,010 million tonnes 

Cereals, sugar crops, grains, maize, rice and oil crops represent the majority of world food production (7 
157 million tonnes) 

Of the total supply of 6 867 million tonnes, just 143 million tonnes, or 2.1%, was seafood. Correspondingly, 
93% of the global food supply was based on agriculture products. However, just 3 %t of the earth’s surface 
is considered productive farm land. Productive sea resources are considered to be ten times bigger than 



PROSPECTUS P/F BAKKAFROST 
 
 

56 

productive land or 30% of the earth’s surface. Hence, sea water represents a huge potential for increased 
food production for an increasing population. 

TABLE 7-1: WORLD FOOD SUPPLY FIGURE 7-1: THE EARTH SURFACE 

Production mill tonnes 2003 2008
Cereals 2 081 2 525
Sugar crops 1 586 1 971
Vegetables 841 916
Starchy roots 765 729
Fruits 487 572
Oil crops 557 444
Total 6 317 7 157
Milk 614 693
Total agriculture 6 931 7 850
For meat production 1 160 1 470
For food manufacture and
direct consumption 5 771 6 380

Eggs 61 65
Meat 257 279
Seafood 130 143
Total supply for human
consumption 6 219 6 867  
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SOURCE: FAO  SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE/FAO  

Demand for seafood is growing at a faster rate than most other food items. Seafood is seen as a healthy 
and tasty source of protein, the development of processing has also improved its ease of use. The growing 
demand for seafood has put pressure on the supply for wild fish.  

The world catch of fish increased from a level of around 60 million tonnes a year around the 1970-ties to 90 
million tonnes in 1995 (+50%). Today most of the wild species are considered to be fully exploited and FAO 
estimate the global quantity of wild fish catches of 80-90 million tonnes per year to defend a sustainable 
level. Still, the per capita supplies will be maintained, and even likely to grow, and the rising world 
consumption of seafood must be supplied by the aquaculture industry.  

The figure shows historic and expected development in global supply of aquatic products for human 
consumption. 

FIGURE 7-2: GLOBAL OUTLOOK FOR SUPPLY OF AQUATIC PRODUCTS FROM 
FISHERIES AND AQUACULTURE FOR HUMAN CONSUMPTION 
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SOURCE: FAO  

7.1.3 Seafood consumption  
The world population is approximately 6.7 billion people. The world population has grown by 1.34% a year 
since 1990, corresponding to about 80 million people per year. The growth figures indicate a population of 
around 9-10 billion people by the year 2050.  
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Fish consumption has undergone major changes in the past four decades. World per capita consumption of 
fish has increased gradually from an average of 10 kg in the 1960s to about 17kg in 2009. The supply of 
fish has not grown uniformly in all fish producing regions. China is the major contributor to the growth in 
supply of fish. Their estimated share of world fish production increased from 21% in 1994 to 35% in 2005, 
while the Chinese per capita supply was about 26 kg.  

The figure shows world seafood production (for human consumption) and consumption per capita 1990 –
2009E: 

FIGURE 7-3:  WORLD SEAFOOD PRODUCTION AND PER CAPITA CONSUMPTION  
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There are large variations in the consumption of seafood, both between regions and in different countries, 
and also within each country. For main regions, the consumption per capita can be summarized by 
continent an economic grouping as follows (2005): 

Region Kg/per capita 

Europe 20.8 

North & Central America 18.9 

Asia 17.9 

South America 8.4 

Africa 8.3 

Industrialized countries 29.3 

Developing countries 16.2 

SOURCE: WWW.FAO.ORG 

The global increase in fish consumption follows the increase in general food consumption per capita. Over 
the last decades consumers in the most developed countries are more dynamic in their dieting habits, and 
the consumption of meat and seafood per capita has a strong relation to consumer revenues. Less food is 
prepared at home, the supermarkets offer ready to cook products and a larger share of the population can 
afford dining out. However, many countries continue to face food shortages and nutrient inadequacies, and 
major inequalities exist in the access to food. 

7.1.4 Health aspects and product development 
There is an increased focus on the health aspects related to food. Seafood is regarded as a healthy 
alternative to meat products. Furthermore, lower costs and stable supply of the raw material has increased 
the efforts related to the development of convenience products. Consumers have for a long time had the 
perception of fish as difficult to prepare and cook, and to date the largest element of growth has been from 
the catering and restaurant trade. 

However, this situation is rapidly changing, as sales through retailers of processed salmon have shown a 
substantial increase over the past few years and now account for a large proportion of consumption. The 
development of more user friendly “ready to cook” products is believed to be a key driver for further growth 
of salmon as an alternative to chicken, pork and red meat. 



PROSPECTUS P/F BAKKAFROST 
 
 

58 

7.1.5 Increased standard of living 
Economic growth in Asia, Europe, the US, and parts of Eastern Europe, has led to an increase in standard of 
living. The effect has been an increase in demand for premium products and salmon is characterized as a 
premium product in most markets. Hence, growth prospects are best in developed countries and among the 
rapidly growing middle class in countries such as Russia, India and China. 

7.1.6 Substitute products 
The last 30 years, new farming methods, breeding programs, improved fish feed and scale of operations 
have reduced cost of production and made farmed seafood more competitive to other food products. 
Farming of fish is a very effective production. The quantity of feed needed for producing 1 kg fish is much 
lower than for the production of 1 kg pork or chicken meat. Farmed salmon use about 1.2 kg feed for 
growing 1 kg, whereas several of the other meats and substitute products use much more, i.e. chicken use 
2.5 kg feed, while pork uses 3.0 kg feed for growing 1 kg. The use of marine raw material for producing 1 
kg farmed salmon is 1.5 kg. 

While production costs for chicken, pork and beef have been reduced very little over the past years, farming 
of Atlantic salmon has experienced a decline in production cost. The cost of producing one kg of farmed 
salmon in Norway is about NOK 20/kg (gutted weight), and approximately USD 2.0-2.1 per kilo in Chile. 

Figure 7-4:USE OF FEED FOR SALMON AND TROUT IN NORWAY 
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If there is a limit on the world production of cereals, oil crops, starchy roots, the switch from meat to fish 
products would result in a better utilization of the feed raw materials. 

From an environmental point of view fish farming should be considered more favourable than meat 
production.  

Global wild catches of fish have in most cases reached their natural limits and many of the most important 
species are showing declining yields. Conventional fisheries are threatened by over-exploitation and 
increasing costs, while production costs within aquaculture have shown a declining trend. Aquaculture is 

                                                                  
7 HTTP://WWW.FHL.NO/GETFILE.PHP/DOKUMENTER/FAKTAARK_FISKEFOR2009.PDF 
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thus becoming a cost effective solution to provide the consumer with fresh fish, at the expense of the 
stagnating supply of wild fish.  

Aquaculture is forecast to continue to grow to meet growing demand. However, the growth rate has slowed 
down the last years. Biological issues, costs increase and also lower market prices are important factors for 
reduced production in short terms. 

7.2 Main markets for salmon 

The EU, the USA, Japan and Russia are the main markets for Atlantic salmon. The EU market is the largest 
market in terms of volume. The EU market and especially the Russian market have shown solid growth over 
the last couple of years. These main markets seem to be partly independent of each other with regards to 
prices and demand, as one could see in 2003 when prices in Europe were very low compared to the 
relatively strong prices in the USA. 

FIGURE 7-5: PER CAPITA CONSUMPTION IN SELECTED MARKETS 1995 – 2008  
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The figure shows per capita consumption for farmed Atlantic salmon 1995–2008 for the selected main 
markets USA, EU, Russia and Japan. 

7.2.1 The US market 
The total supply of Atlantic salmon to the US market was approximately 278 800 tonnes in 2009, down by 
5% from 2008. The main reason for the decline in supply to the US is lower supply from Chile, which was 
caused by production problems, mainly ISA problems.  

FIGURE 7-6: SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON IN THE US MARKET 2000 – 2009E, 
TONNES WFE 
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

The figure shows the historical development in supply volume for the US market in the period 2000 to 
2009. 

The US share of the total supply has been reduced the last 5 years, from 25% in 2004 to approx. 20% in 
2009.  
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The largest supplier is still Chile with approximately 105.500 tonnes, but the ISA problems in Chile has 
changed the picture. The European supply to the US-market has increased by nearly 50,000 tonnes. The 
increased supply from other countries has partially compensated for the drop in supply from Chile and 
Canada, but the total supply to the US market has dropped by 5% last year.  

The US consumption of Atlantic salmon is estimated to 0,91 kg per capita in 2009, down from 0,97 due to 
reduced supply and increased population. Since 1995 the consumption has increased from 0,3 kg per 
capita, and the growth in the US consumption of Atlantic salmon is caused both by an increase in the 
availability and a fall in its price level to consumers. The total fish consumption in the US is also rising, 
which indicates an increasing preference for seafood. 

The current consumption has reached such levels that it probably will be more challenging in the future to 
achieve double digit growth rates as experienced in the past. The per capita consumption of salmon is 
nevertheless still relatively low, and considerably lower than the per capita consumption of for example 
poultry (< 50kg/capita). 

FIGURE 7-7: PRICE DEVELOPMENT FULTON FISH MARKET  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

The prices for the Atlantic salmon have been fluctuating over the last 3 years. During 2009 the prices has 
increased, and in Fulton Fish market, the price for whole Canadian Atlantic salmon has varied from about 
USD 2/kg in the beginning of the year to about USD 3/kg by the end of the year. 

7.2.2 The EU market 
The supply of Atlantic salmon increased from 736.600 tonnes in 2008 to 769.300 tonnes in 2009, 
constituting an increase of 4%. This was mainly due to increased imports from Norway (77%). The bulk of 
the salmon supplied to the EU market is still whole gutted fresh fish, while the processing takes place in the 
market. In contrast, the USA market can to a larger extent be characterized as a market for processed fish 
as the bulk of the supply is filleted fish from Chile. The EU consumption of farmed salmon constitutes 
around half of the global consumption, with the largest share of the supply coming from Norwegian and UK 
salmon farmers.  
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FIGURE 7-8: SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON TO THE EU MARKET 2000 – 2009E  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

FIGURE 7-9: RETAIL PRICES FRANCE  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

FIGURE 7-10:WHOLESALES PRICES  

Wholesaleprices, Rungis Scottish fresh salmon, 2‐3 kg
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

In 2009, the prices of farmed Atlantic salmon were higher than the 2 past years. This has not necessarily 
been reflected in the prices for the retail and wholesale markets, as shown in the figures above. 
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7.2.3 The market in Japan 
The supply of Atlantic salmon to Japan has decreased by 14% from 2008 to 2009 (6.700 tonnes wfe). 
Atlantic salmon constitutes a relatively small segment in Japan compared to red flesh salmon which includes 
large trout, coho and sockeye. While the total supply of Atlantic salmon to Japan constituted 46.800 tonnes 
in 2008, the supply of red salmon amounted to 272.400 tonnes (wfe). The main suppliers of Atlantic salmon 
to Japan are Norway with more than 70% of the market, while Chile had about 17% (2009). The supply of 
Atlantic salmon to the Japanese market fluctuates significantly from year to year.  

The Chilean supply in 23009 was reduced also to the Japanese market. This reduction was only partly 
compensated by increased supply from Norway. 

Japan has traditionally very high seafood consumption per capita than any other country in the world, 
constituting around 2.6 kg of Atlantic salmon and red salmon (trout, coho and sockeye) in 2008. However, 
the major part of Japanese seafood consumption is traditional fish species. In terms of quality 
requirements, the Japanese market is demanding. The country has a conservative culinary tradition, and as 
a result of this the Japanese market requires significant market development initiatives. Nevertheless, the 
market is considered to have a considerable growth potential in the long term as Atlantic salmon gradually 
improves its position in people’s consumption habits. 

The figure shows the historical development in supply volume for the Japanese market in the period 2002 to 
2009.  

FIGURE 7-11: SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON TO THE JAPANESE 
MARKET 2000 – 2009E 

FIGURE 7-12: VOLUMES TO THE TSUKIJII MARKET 
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TABLE 7-2: SUPPLY TO THE JAPAN MARKET  

Supply of other Red salmon to Japan market tonnes wfe
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009E

Trout 142 500      114 200      127 100      103 400      111 000      109 400      121 200      106 900      
Coho 134 500      95 500       107 700      114 000      104 700      102 600      111 900      114 600      
Sockeye 65 700       63 100       69 400       83 100       54 500       52 100       59 700       50 900       
Total 342 700      272 800      304 200      300 500      270 200      264 100      292 800      272 400      

SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE 

 

7.2.4 The Russian market 
During the last couple of years the Russian market has increased its importance as a major market for 
Atlantic salmon. The total supply of Atlantic salmon to the Russian market was approximately 78.100 
tonnes wfe in 2009, up from 74.800 tonnes in 2008, constituting a 4% increase.  

However, in a longer perspective the supply of Atlantic salmon to the Russian market has increased 
significantly, from less than 10,000 tonnes in 2000. Norway is by far the largest supplier of Atlantic salmon 
to the Russian market. However, the supply from Norway decreased considerably from 2005 to 2006, after 
experiencing significant growth for many years. The reason for the decline in 2006 is that Russia banned all 
fresh fish from Norway in the Russian market from 1 January 2006, as a result of the Russian veterinary 
authorities claimed they had found too high values of cadmium and lead in the fresh fish. As a consequence, 
only frozen fish from Norway entered the Russian market during the first quarter of 2006. However, ten 
salmon producing plants were later approved to resume exports to Russia again. Due to this situation other 
salmon producers increased their exports to Russia in 2006, compared to 2005. However, this could not 
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weigh up to the decreased quantity from Norway. In 2007, Norway is back on the levels before the import-
ban and supplies the Russian market with more than 60,000 tonnes wfe.  

The figure shows the historical development in supply volume for the Russian market in the period 2002 to 
2009E. 

FIGURE 7-13: SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON IN THE 
RUSSIAN MARKET 2002 – 2009E 

FIGURE 7-14: FOB PRICES NORWEGIAN SALMON TO RUSSIA 
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7.2.5 Other Markets 
Other markets primarily include Eastern-European countries not part of the EU and Asian countries other 
than Japan, not least China. These markets are considered to have a significant potential for further growth. 
Asian countries other than Japan are showing a positive development and good prospects. China and Hong-
Kong stand out as the most exciting areas, but consumers of farmed salmon also include countries such as 
Taiwan, 

South-Korea, Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, and the Arabic Emirates. Salmon exports to these countries 
are growing rapidly, but volumes are still relatively low. The Asian markets are characterised by a high 
population density, cultural tradition for seafood as well as improving purchasing power. 

South America is another region with strong potential in the future. The first indications are positive, with 
increased salmon consumption in Brazil, among others. The increased demand is expected to be met mainly 
by exports from Chile.  

In total, the supply of Atlantic salmon to the other markets increased from 313.900 tonnes wfe in 2008 to 
334.100 tonnes wfe in 2009. This constitutes an increase by 6%. Norway and Chile are the largest suppliers 
of Atlantic salmon to the other markets with a market share of 37% and 34 % respectively (2009). 

FIGURE 7-15: SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON TO OTHER MARKETS 2002 – 
2009E 
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The figure shows the historical development in supply volume for the other markets in the period 2002 to 
2009E. As these markets are relatively new, the growth is expected to be higher than the traditional 
markets going forward. 

7.3 Supply – Production regions 

7.3.1 Global supply of Atlantic salmon 
The global supply of farmed Atlantic salmon had a negative growth by 5% (75 000 tonnes wfe) in 2009 
compared to the year before.  

Norway, Chile, UK and Canada are the main suppliers of Atlantic salmon. The largest growth potential for 
production of Atlantic salmon is expected to be in Norway and Chile due to favourable growing conditions 
and availability of sites.  

The Global harvest quantity of Atlantic salmon for the period 2001 – 2009E is illustrated in the table below. 

TABLE 7-3: GLOBAL HARVEST QUANTITY OF ATLANTIC SALMON  

Global supply of Atlantic salmon tonnes wfe
Country 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009E
Norway 411 300 444 100 508 400 536 900 573 500 598 600 723 100 740 900 855 700
Chile 244 900 268 200 280 700 346 200 385 200 368 600 356 400 403 100 234 500
UK 131 400 140 100 160 900 149 800 119 700 127 400 134 800 136 500 144 900
Canada 99 300 112 000 92 000 89 000 107 500 115 000 109 500 118 500 113 700
Faroe Islands 41 000 42 100 47 000 36 700 17 100 11 900 19 200 37 800 47 900
USA 21 400 13 200 18 000 13 300 9 600 10 200 12 300 17 000 16 400
Ireland 23 700 22 300 18 400 12 400 12 400 14 500 15 300 11 400 15 500
Others 14 700 14 500 17 700 20 700 24 400 23 400 25 300 26 700 32 700
Total 987 700 1 056 500 1 143 100 1 205 000 1 249 400 1 269 600 1 395 900 1 491 900 1 461 300

FIGURE 7-16: GLOBAL SUPPLY OF ATLANTIC SALMON AND LARGE TROUT 
2001-2009E 
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

In addition to Atlantic Salmon, supply of farmed large trout in 2009 amounted to approximately 299 .600 
tonnes (wfe). Nearly 80 per cent of the global large trout production takes place in Chile and Norway. The 
figure below illustrate the development of global production of Atlantic salmon and large trout in the period 
2001-2009E. 

7.3.2 Norway 
 
Total harvest quantity of Atlantic salmon in Norway in 2009 was 855 700 tonnes (wfe). This represents a 
growth of 16% compared to the year before. 

The salmon farming industry was granted 65 new licenses during 2009, hereof 5 dedicated for organic 
production. Up to now, only few farmers have produced organic salmon, estimated to approx. 2 – 2 500 
tonnes (head on gutted) in 2009.  
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FIGURE 7-17: NORWEGIAN SUPPLY OG ATLANTIC SALMON, TONNES WFE  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

In 2005 the regulation in Norway changed from feed quotas to MTB (maximum allowable biomass) per 
licence, and represented a potential to further growth on existing licences. The result of this regulatory 
change was a higher release of smolt in the autumn, with higher harvest quantities in the summer months. 
From 2004 to 2009 the harvest quantity in Norway increased with approx. 318 000 tonnes (wfe), and the 
average harvest quantity per licence has increased from approx. 660 tonnes (wfe) in 2004 up to approx. 
1 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2009 (Including large Rainbow trout). The health situation in Norway has improved in 
2009 compared to previous years. The Pancreas Disease has led to high mortality in southern parts of 
Norway, and in Northern parts there has been relatively high existence of ISA (Infectious Salmon Anaemia). 
The industry has shown high degree of co-operation, and combined with vaccines both against PD and ISA 
the loss rate decreased last summer. There are still a notable numbers of outbreaks in Norway, but the 
situation is considerably better at the moment. The smolt release in Norway was approx. 237 million 
individuals in 2009, which is an increase of approx. 7 million smolts compared to 2008. The harvest 
quantity in 2010 is estimated to approx. 930 000 tonnes (wfe), and the result of the relatively low growth in 
the smolt release last year will give a lower growth in the harvest quantity in 2011. The main market for the 
Norwegian farming industry is the EU, but the USA has also become an important market due to the falling 
supply from Chile. 

The figure below illustrates the weekly development in the 1.hand prices of fresh superior Atlantic salmon, 
head on gutted, (NOS) since 2007: 

FIGURE 7-18: PRICES OF FRESH NORWEGIAN SALMON, SUPERIOR, GUTTED, 
FCA OSLO 
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7.3.3 Chile 
Chile harvested 234 500 tonnes (wfe) of Atlantic salmon in 2009, compared to 403 100 tonnes (wfe) in 
2008, down by nearly 50%. This reduction is caused by large problems in the production of Atlantic salmon, 
which started in 2007. In July 2007 the ISA virus was point out in Chile for the first time. This disease 
combined with a sea lice situation out of control has led to high mortality. The harvest quantity increased in 
2008 indeed, but the harvest was a result of forced harvesting of small fish with ISA virus. In the beginning 
of 2009 the biomass had dropped significant, and there was not possible to continue the high harvest 
quantities of Atlantic salmon. The smolt release in 2009 is estimated to approx. 32 million smolts, a 
decrease of approx. 100 million individuals compared to 2008. The drop in the smolt release will be the 
main reason for the further decrease in the harvest quantity this year, which is estimated to approx. 90 000 
tonnes (wfe). The production is reported to be better in Chile now, and signals from the industry are that 
the smolt release will be significant higher this year. With no outbreaks of ISA the coming years it is reason 
to believe that the harvest quantity will increase notable from 2011.  

In addition to Atlantic salmon, Chile also produced 151,000 tonnes wfe of trout and 97,000 tonnes wfe of 
Coho. Most farming takes place in Region X in the area around Puerto Montt and the main export market is 
US. 

FIGURE 7-19: CHILE; HARVEST QUANTITY 2001 – 2009E  
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FIGURE 7-20:CHILEAN FILLET PRICES FOB MIAMI, 3-4LB  

Chilean fresh Atlantic salmon fillet 2‐3 lb, 
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8 WWW.URNERBARRY.COM 
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7.3.4 UK 
United Kingdom harvested 144 900 tonnes wfe in 2009, up by 6% compared to 2008. In the end of 2008 
and start of 2009 it was several outbreaks of ISA on Shetland. This has reduced the potential of harvesting 
in this region in the end of 2009 and the first quarters of 2010. There has also been some problems 
regarding new sites, and the result of this is a lower smolt release in 2009 which is estimated to approx. 42 
million smolts. The production in other regions of Scotland has improved with good growth conditions and a 
higher harvest quantity in second half of 2009 and Q1 2010. Cause of the reduction in the smolt release in 
2009 it is estimated that the harvest quantity will decrease down to approx. 140 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2010. 
The smolt release in 2010 is estimated to approx. 45 million individuals, which can increase the harvesting 
in 2011. There is plan to establish some offshore sites in outer Hebrides in 2010 which can result in further 
growth of Atlantic salmon in UK. 

FIGURE 7-21: UK; HARVEST QUANTITY 2001 – 2009E  

 

Supply of Atlantic Salmon from the UK
 tonnes wfe

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009E

‐0.25

‐0.20

‐0.15

‐0.10

‐0.05

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20
UK Growth rate

 

 

SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

The EU including domestic market is the main market for the UK produced Atlantic salmon, while nearly 
20% of the harvested quantity was exported to the USA. There is some effort in this industry to produce 
organic salmon, estimated to approx. 5-6 000 tonnes, head on gutted. 

7.3.5 Canada 
Canada had a harvest quantity of 113 700 tonnes wfe in 2009, down by approx. 4 800 tonnes (wfe) from 
2008. The west coast of Canada is dominated by international companies with limited possibilities for 
further growth. The west coast has also had their problems in production caused by several diseases. The 
last years the problems has been caused by algae blooms with following drop in the oxygen in sea water 
sites. This has reduced the growth conditions, and led to higher mortality. It is expected an increased 
harvest quantity up to approx. 120 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2010, with limited growth in 2011 in Canada. 

FIGURE 7-22: CANADA; HARVEST QUANTITY 2001 – 2009E  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

Canada mainly exports fresh whole salmon to the USA market. Most of the salmon farming takes place in 
British Columbia on the west coast of Canada. 
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7.3.6 The Faroe Islands 
The harvest quantity in the Faroe Islands was 48 000 tonnes wfe in 2009, up from 38 000 tonnes in 2008.  

The Faroese had escalated problems with the ISA virus from the beginning of 2000 up to 2004. The harvest 
quantity peaked with approx. 47 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2003, but increasing outbreaks of the ISA virus 
reduced the harvest quantity step by step down to approx. 12 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2006. Since then the 
production on Faroe Island has improved rapidly, and new outbreaks of ISA has not been registered since 
summer 2005. The harvest quantity has increased from 12 000 tonnes (wfe) in 2006 up to approx. 48 000 
tonnes (wfe) last year. The loss rates have been historical low, and considerably lower than the other 
competitive countries. The average harvest weights have increased in line with the growing harvest 
quantities. The average harvest quantity was approx. 5.8 kg (wfe) last year, and the yield per released 
smolt (kg wfe per smolt released) on the 2007G is estimated to approx. 5.15 kg (wfe) which is historical 
high compared to all producing regions. In addition the average harvest weight was approx. 4.9 kg (wfe) in 
Norway at the same time. It is expected that the harvest quantity will decrease slightly in 2010, with a 
slight increase in 2011.  

FIGURE 7-23: THE FAROE ISLANDS; HARVEST QUANTITY 2001 – 2009E  
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SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE  

The main market for the Faroe production is the EU followed by the USA market, estimated to approx. 64% 
and 23% market share respectively. The USA market has increased significant the last year, from less than 
3 000 tonnes wfe in 2008 up to more than 11 000 tonnes in 2009. 

7.3.7 Other regions 
Other producing regions include Australia, Ireland, Iceland, US and others. In total, these countries 
harvested approximately 68,000 tonnes wfe of Atlantic salmon in 2009, an increase of 21% compared to 
2008. 

FIGURE 7-24: OTHER REGIONS; HARVEST QUANTITY 2001 – 2009E  
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The Irish harvest volume have shown a decreasing trend the latest years, but increased by 36% from 2008 
to 2009 (up to 15 000 tonnes wfe) Approx. 60% per cent of the Irish salmon production is certified organic. 

Production volumes in Australia have increased significantly during the last 3-4 years, up by 25% from 
2008 to 2009. The domestic consumption is 75-80% of the harvest quantity. More than 80 % of the 
Australian production is accounted for by the two main companies. Further growth is expected in Australian 
salmon production. 

7.4 The industry structure 

The salmon farming industry is characterized by strong competition between a limited number of 
multinational players and a large number of relatively small local players, particularly in Norway. Along with 
growth in the aquaculture industry the structure has changed significantly over the past decade. From a 
structure of only local players serving a limited number of markets, primarily with standardized products, 
the industry has seen increased industrialization and the emergence of multinational competitors serving all 
key markets on a global scale with a growing product portfolio. Large structural changes have taken place 
particularly in Norway and Europe the last couple of years.  

In Norway, operating margin has decreased from 31% in 2006, 11% in 2007 and 9% in 2008.  

FIGURE 7-25: BENCHMARK OPERATING MARGIN NORWEGIAN 
FARMING 
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FIGURE 7-26: NORWAY COST SPLIT 2009E FIGURE 7-27: FAROE COST SPLIT 2009E 
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The production costs are highly influenced by the feed cost, which constitute of nearly 55% of the 
production cost. Other main costs within the fish farming industry are smolt and harvest. The figure above 
shows the split of cost for Norwegian fish farmers in 2009, based on cost in Norway of approx. NOK 20-21 
per kg gutted weight In Faroe Islands cost of production is approx DKK 18 -19 per kg gutted weigth (in NOK 
approx. 21-22 per kg). The cost split is different in the Faroe Islands compared to Norway, due to both 
lower feed and smolt cost. 
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7.4.1 The market players 
In Chile, Scotland and Canada, more efficient larger players have gradually taken over most of the smaller 
producers, and the same trend has to some extent been apparent in Norway lately. Globally, the 10 and 15 
largest companies control approximately 50 and 60% of total harvest quantity, respectively. 

The figure below shows the increased consolidation in the market the last couple of years. 

FIGURE 7-28: MARKET STRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 2000-2009E 

 

Market structure development

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

2000

2005

2009

Top 10 Top 15 Top 20
 

SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE 

FIGURE 7-29: TOP 15 SALMON FARMING COMPANIES 2009E 

 

SOURCE: KONTALI ANALYSE 

Operational synergies may be generated from further consolidation, and it is expected that larger 
companies will benefit the industry in general. Size and integration tend to be advantageous for R&D and 
product development. 

The 15 largest salmon farming companies measured by estimated harvest volume of Atlantic salmon, Coho 
salmon, Chinook and Large trout in 2009 are shown in the table above. 
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8 FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
Accounting figures for Bakkafrost for the years 2009, 2008 and 2007 are presented below. International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been applied as the accounting principles for listed companies in 
Norway with effect as of 1 January 2005, and Bakkafrost has applied IFRS with effect as of 1 January 2008. 
The Annual Report for the Bakkafrost Group has, until 2008, been prepared according to the Faroese 
Financial Reporting Act. In the P/F Bakkafrost Holding’s Annual Report for 2009 the conversion from FO-
GAAP to IFRS is described and according to IFRS 1 a presentation of a reconciliation demonstrating the 
differences between the initially reported 2008 figures according to FO-GAAP and figures prepared 
according to IFRS is disclosed. 

The annual financial statements have been audited by Bakkafrost’s statutory auditor Sp/F 
Grannskoðaravirkið INPACT. The financial statements for the last three years are audited and the auditors 
have issued reports without qualifications. Figures for the years 2007 to 2009 are presented in this chapter.  

As of 1 January 2010 The Bakkafrost Group and the Vestlax Group merged, with Bakkafrost as the 
continuing Group. Therefore also pro forma figures for income statement and balance sheet for the financial 
year from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009 are presented in this chapter, as if the merger took place 
at 1 January 2009. The purpose of preparing the Pro forma figures is to illustrate how it could have look if 
the two groups merged as of 1 January 2009. The Pro forma figures have only been prepared for illustrative 
purposes. As the merger first will take place as of 1 January 2010 the pro forma financial figures only 
addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore does not represent the company’s actual financial position 
or result. 

The audited consolidated figures for 2008 and 2009 are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The annual reports for previous years are presented in accordance with 
Faroese accounting principles (FGAAP). 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgements in the process of applying 
the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgements or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed in the Company's accounts and explanatory notes, see the Annual reports for 2009, and the 
annual reports for  2008 and 2007 which are prepared in accordance with F-GAAP, attached as Appendix 2, 
3 and 4 in the end of this Prospectus. 
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8.1 Financial key figures for the Group 

 IFRS IFRS IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Pro forma Actual Actual Actual 

(DKK million) 2009 2009 2008 2007 

     

Sales revenue 922 597 366 230

     

EBITDA before fair value adj. of biolog. assets 243 179 90 57

EBITDA before fair value adj. of biolog. Assets % 26% 30% 25% 25%

  

EBIT before fair value adj. of biolog. Assets 205 159 71 42

EBIT before fair value adj. of biolog. Assets % 22% 27% 19% 18%

  

EBIT 239 192 63 42

EBIT % 26% 32% 17% 18%

  

Net Profit 165 149 38 25

Net Profit Margin % 18% 25% 10% 11%

  

Total Assets 1,004 621 553 471

Net interest bearing debt 246 97 243 226

Equity 573 389 242 196

Equity % 57% 63% 44% 42%

NIBD/EBITDA 1.03x 0.5x 2.7x 4.3x

  

Earnings per share (DKK) - 49.71 12.81 8.30

Diluted earnings per share (DKK) - 49.71 12.81 8.30

Number of shares at the beginning of the period 
(million) 

- 2.992 2.992 2.992

Number of shares at the end of the period 
(million) 

3.964 2.992 2.992 2.992

     

Definition of financial key figures:  

EBITDA before fair value adj. of biolog. assets %: EBITDA before fair value adj. of biolog. Assets/ Sales 
Revenues 

EBIT before fair value adj. of biologi assets %: EBIT before fair value adj. of biolog. Assets/ Sales 
Revenues 

EBIT % EBIT / Sales Revenues 

Earnings per share: Net profit / number of shares outstanding 

Equity %: Equity / Total Assets 
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007 
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8.1.1 Biological key figures (unaudited) 
 Pro forma Actual Actual Actual 

Years ended 31 December IFRS IFRS IFRS FO-GAAP 

 2009 2009 2008 2007 

     

EBIT/KG gutted weight 7.85 10,30 4,97 6,7

  

Harvest in tonnes, gutted weight 30,650 18,685 12,697 6,201

Harvest in tonnes, round weight 37,400 22,789 15,4834 7,562
SOURCE: COMPANY INFORMATION 

8.2 Income statement 

The table below summarizes the condensed consolidated income statements for the Group for the years 
ended 31 December 2009, 2008 and 2007. 

 IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Actual Actual 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

     

Operating income 596,565 365,634 365,634 229,525

Operating expenses -417,369 -275,771 -284,838 -172,373

Operating profit before deprec. and fair value 
adjustments of biological assets 

179,196 89,863 80,796 57,152

  

Income from associated companies 340 -111 546 0

Depreciation and amortisation -20,797 -18,963 -18,963 -15,592

Impairment 0 0

Operating profit before fair value adjustments of 
biological assets 

158,739 70,789 62,379 41,560

  

Fair value adjustments of biological assets 33,655 -7,632 0 0

Operating profit 192,394 63,157 62,379 41,560

  

Financial income 2,915 1,505 653 559

Financial costs -14,072 -18,515 -18,514 -11,682

Profit before income tax 181,237 46,148 44,519 30,437

  

Income tax (expense) / income -32,509 -7,810 -7,398 -5,606

Profit for the period 148,728 38,339 37,121 24,831

  

Minority interest  

Earnings per share (DKK) 49.71 12.81 12.40 8.30
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007 

8.2.1 Management discussion and analysis 

8.2.1.1 The year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 (IFRS) 

Operating income prepared in accordance with IFRS in 2009 was DKK 596.6 million compared to DKK 365.6 
million in 2008. The condition for fish farming was favourable in the period 2009 and 2008. Veterinary and 
environmental circumstances were good increasing growth rates and lowering the mortality rates, giving 
increased volumes for sales in addition to favourable market conditions increasing prices on all product 
groups.  
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The Operating profit has increased in the period from DKK 63.2 million in 2008 to DKK 192.4 million in 2009 
due to larger scale in production and hence a more efficient production and lower costs per kilo salmon. 
Included in the higher operating profit in 2009 is a positive fair value adjust on biological assets of DKK 
33.7 million compared to a negative adjustment in 2008 of DKK -7.6 million based on the previous 
mentioned increased price on salmon. Operating profit before fair value adjustment on biological assets was 
in 2009 DKK 158.7 million compared to DKK 70.8 million in 2008. Reduced cost price on the harvested 
generations of salmon in addition to high capacity utilisation contributed to stronger operating margins. 

The annual profit after tax for 2009 was DKK 148.7 million and 2008 DKK 38.3 million. 

8.2.1.2 The year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 (FGAAP) 

Operating income in 2008 was DKK 365.6 million compared to DKK 229.5 million in 2007.  

The condition for fish farming was favourable in the period 2007 and 2008. Veterinary and environmental 
circumstances were improving due to a positive development in salmon prices and volumes. The growth 
rates were good and the mortality rates low. 

The Operating profit has increased in the period from DKK 41.6 million in 2007 to DKK 62.4 million in 2008 
due to larger scale in production hence a more efficient production.  

The annual profit for 2008 was a profit amounting to DKK 37.1 million and 2007 DKK 24.8 million. 

8.2.1.3 Overall comments to the figures in the period 1 January 2007 – 31 December 
2009 

The overall results for the period 2007 to 2009 have been very good. The reason for this is the positive 
results from the improved fish health achieved with the new veterinary model introduced in 2003 in the 
Faroe Islands. In this model the entire production period for each separate generation of fish is kept in a 
separate fjord, and after all locations in a fjord have been harvested, the fjord is set aside for 3 – 4 months 
before a new generation is released. This operating model was introduced in 2003 and the observed effects 
are better productivity, less mortality and better utilization of the feed. On average, the mortality rate has 
been less than 10% for all farmers on the Faroe Islands since the new veterinary model in the Faroe Islands 
was implemented. For more information regarding the operations see chapter 6 “Company description”. 

8.2.2 Segment Information 

8.2.2.1 Revenues per geographic market 

The table below shows the distribution of the Company’s revenues per geographic market, in which the 
company operates. 
 
 2009 2008 2007 

EU 443,398 354,965 224,844 

US 128,210 943 0 

Other 24,956 9,726 4,681 

Total  596,565 365,634 229,525 
SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009,2008 AND 2007 

The main parts of the Company’s products are sold directly to customers in Europe or US importers. 
Bi products are sold to Asia which is included in others. 
 

8.2.2.2 Revenues per business segment 2008 and 2009 (IFRS) 

Bakkafrost Group has fundamentally two business activities (business segments), farming of fish including 
sale of fresh fish and value adding of salmonoid products. 

Farming including sale of fresh fish: 

The Group has production facilities in the north-eastern parts of the Faroe Islands. There are no significant 
differences in the production properties of the licences, and the Group therefore reports the farmed 
salmonids including the sale of fresh salmon as one segment. 

Value Added Products (VAP): 

A significant share of the farmed products are value added at the factory in Glyvrar. The output of the 
factory is predominantly portions for the retail market. Therefore this is reported as one segment. 
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Set out below is the consolidated segment information for the Company for 2008 and 2009. 

2009  Value Added  Bakkafrost

(DKK 1,000) Farming Products Elimin. Group 

  
External operating revenues 237,856 358,709 0 596,565

Internal operating revenues 250,011 0 -250,011 0

Total operating revenues 487,867 358,709 -250,011 596,565

Operating expenses -343,284 -74,085 0 -417,369

Internal operating expences 0 -250,011 250,011 0

Operating profit before deprec. and fair value 
adjustments of biological assets  144,583 34,613 0 179,196

Income from associates 312 28 0 340

Depreciation and amortisation -16,997 -3,800 0 -20,797

Operating profit before fair value adjustments 
of biological assets 127,898 30,841 0 158,739

Fair value adjustments biological assets 33,655 0 0 33,655

Net operating profit (EBIT) 161,553 30,842 0 192,394

Net interest revenue 7,765 14 -4,865 2,915

Net interest expense -16,615 -2,322 4,865 -14,072

Earnings before taxes 152,703 28,534 0 181,237

Tax -27,396 -5,113 0 -32,509

Net Earnings 125,308 23,421 0 148,728

  

ASSETS  

- Investments in associated companies 0 0 0 0

  

LIABILITIES 295,416 49,731 -113,002 232,145

  

INVESTMENTS  

Tangible operating assets 17,226 4,113 0 21,339

Intangible operation assets 0 0 0 0

Depreciation -16,997 -3,800 0 -20,797

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 AND COMPANY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PROSPECTUS P/F BAKKAFROST 
 
 

76 

2008  Value Added  Bakkafrost

(DKK 1,000) Farming Products Elimin. Group 

  

External operating revenues 122,463 243,171 0 365,634

Internal operating revenues 178,519  0 -178,519 0

Total operating revenues 300,982 243,171 -178,519 365,634

Operating expenses -221.407 -54,364 0 -275,771

Internal operating expences 0 -178,519 178,519 0

Operating profit before deprec. and fair value 
adjustments of biological assets 79,575 10,288 0 89,863

Depreciation and amortisation -15,348 -3,615 0 -18,963

Income from associates 238 -349 0 -111

Operating profit before fair value adjustments 
of biological assets 64,465 6,324 0 70,789

Fair value adjustments biological assets -7,632 0 0 -7,632

Net operating profit (EBIT) 56,833 6,324 0 63,157

Net interest revenue 2,967 6 -1,468 1,505

Net interest expense -17,156 -2,825 1,468 -18,514

Earnings before taxes 42,643 3,505 0 46,148

Tax -7,217 -593 0 -7,810

Net Earnings 35,427 2,912 0 38,339

  

ASSETS  

- Investments in associated companies 0 0 0 0

  

LIABILITIES 394,380 46,415 -129,915 310,880

  

INVESTMENTS  

Tangible operating assets 30,399 3,556 0 33,955

Intangible operation assets 0 0 0 0

Depreciation -15,348 -3,615 0 -18,963

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2008 AND COMPANY 

2009 2008 
Distribution of harvested and purchased 
volume gwt % gwt % 

Harvested volume used in VAP production 10,977 56.9% 8,416 59.4%

External purchase of salmon for VAP 
production 304 1.6% 0 0.0%

Harvested volume sold fresh/frozen 7,708 40.0% 5,763 40.6%

External purchase of salmon sold fresh/frozen 302 1.6% 0 0.0%

Harvested and purchased volume (gwt) 19,292 100.0% 14,179 100.0%

SOURCE: COMPANY 
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Gross external operating revenues for Bakkafrost’s Farming segment increased to DKK 237.9 million in 
2009, up from DKK 122.5 million in 2008. For the farming segment net Operating profit (EBIT) before fair 
value adjustment of the biomass totalled DKK 127.9 million, compared with DKK 64.5 million in 2008. This 
corresponds to a net operating profit before fair value adjustment of the biomass of DKK 6.63 per kg gutted 
weight, compared with DKK 4.55 per kg in 2008. The increase in the performance of the Group reflects the 
increase in the salmon price, the excellent biological situation and our dedicated staff. The Group’s farming 
segment harvested and purchased 19,292 tonnes gutted weight in 2009, compared with 14,179 tonnes in 
2008.  

The value adding segments external operating revenue amounted to DKK 358.7 million in 2009, compared 
with DKK 243.2 million in 2008. Net operating profit (EBIT) totalled to DKK 30.8 million, compared with 
DKK 6.3 million in 2008. This corresponds to a net operating profit (EBIT) DKK 2.73 per kg gutted weight, 
compared with DKK 0.75 per kg in 2008. The increase in the Salomon price during 2009 is reflecting the 
result from the value adding segment. The reason is that there is a time lag between the movement in the 
fresh salmon price and the contract price for value added products. Therefore the value adding segment is 
also reducing the volatility in the Group’s revenue and result. Therefore the contract price for 1st half of 
2010 is expected to catch up the strong price for fresh salmon towards the end of 2009. 
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8.3 Balance sheet 

Set out below is the consolidated balance sheet for the Company for the periods ending 31 December 2009, 
2008 and 2007: 

 IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Actual Actual 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

Assets  

Intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Property, plant and equipment 231,002 230,655 230,655 216,079

Investment in associated companies 2,723 2,417 2,675 1,115

Investments in stocks and shares 23,539 7,598 11,649 6,049

Non-current receivables 478 6,986 0 0

Total non-current assets 257,741 247,657 244,979 223,243

Biological assets 227,497 229,720 216,509 184,295

Inventories 20,527 17,373 17,595 11,242

Accounts receivables 66,644 42,469 42,469 37,638

Other current receivables 13,304 14,839 16,861 14,966

Cash and cash equivalents 35,319 471 471 18

Total current assets 363,291 304,873 293,905 248,159

  

Total Assets 621,032 552,530 538,884 471,401

  

Equity and liabilities  

Share capital and share premium 89,668 89,668 89,668 89,668

Retained earnings 299,219 151,982 139,776 106,641

Total shareholders' equity 388,887 241,650 229,444 196,309

  

Deferred taxes 57,082 23,802 22,362 15,371

Pension liabilities 0 0 0 0

Long-term debt 34,350 87,382 107,076 83,572

Total long-term liabilities 91,431 111,184 129,438 98,943

  

Trade payables and other debt 42,451 43,382 43,381 33,008

Interest-bearing short-term debt  98,262 156,313 136,621 143,140

Total short-term liabilities  140,714 199,696 180,002 176,148

       

Total liabilities 232,145 310,880 309,440 275,091

  

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 621,032 552,530 538,884 471,401

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 ,2008 AND 2007 
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8.3.1 Management discussion and analysis 

8.3.1.1 The year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 (IFRS) 

The Group total balance as of 31 December 2009 amounted to DKK 621.0 million, compared to DKK 552.5 
million at the end of 2008. During 2009, the Group invested approximately DKK 21 million, which closely 
corresponds to the Group’s depreciations in the year. Investments were made in buildings, processing 
equipment and general farming facilities. The company continues to invest in all activities to adjust 
capacity.  

The Group’s book value (fair value) of biological assets (fish in the sea) amounted to DKK 227.5 million at 
the end 2009, which is at the same level as in 2008. The total fair value adjustment of the biomass 
amounted to DKK 46.9 million year-end 2009, compared to DKK 13.2 million at the end of 2008. At the end 
of 2009, the biomass of fish at sea under 4 kg/each was 5,159 tonnes live weight, compared to 4,409 
tonnes live weight at the end of 2008. The biomass of fish exceeding 4 kg was 5,510 tonnes live weight, 
compared to 8,589 tonnes live weight at the end of 2008.  

The Group’s equity increased from DKK 241.7 million in 2008 to DKK 388.9 million at the end 2009. The 
increase in equity can primarily be attributed to the good net result in 2009. The Group’s total non-current 
liabilities decreased from DKK 111.2 million to DKK 91.4 million. The deferred tax increased by DKK 33.3 
million, while the long-term debt was reduced by DKK 53.0 million, to DKK 34.4 million at the end of 2009. 
The Group’s total current liabilities were reduced from DKK 199.7 million to DKK 140.7 million during 2009, 
reflecting the strong cash flow in 2009. The Bakkafrost Group’s net interest bearing debt amounted to DKK 
97.3 million at the end of 2009, compared to DKK 243.2 million at the end of 2008. The Group had an 
equity ratio of 62.6 percent as of 31 December 2009, compared to 43.7 percent at the same date in 2008. 
A healthy financial position is considered to be a crucial element in the Group’s strategy for further growth 
and profitability. 

8.3.1.2 The year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 (FGAAP) 

Total non-current assets amounted to DKK 223.2 million at the end of 2007 compared to DKK 245.0 million 
at the end of 2008. The Group invested DKK 34 million in 2008 in non-current assets. The investment 
relates primarily to the investment in a floating feeding station, boats, buildings, processing equipment and 
general farming facilities. 
 
Total current assets amounted to DKK 248.2 at the end of 2007 compared to DKK 293.9 million at the end 
of 2008. The increase relates primarily to the increase in biomass. 
 
Total assets amounted to DKK 538.9 million at the end of 2008 compare to DKK 471.4 million at the end of 
2007. 
 
Total shareholders’ equity amounted to DKK 229.4 million at the end of 2008 compared to DKK 196.3 
million at the end of 2007. No share capital increase took place in the period and the increase related only 
to increase in retained earnings. 
 
Long-term liabilities amounted to DKK 129.4 million at the end of 2008 compared to DKK 98.9 million at the 
end of 2007 the increase relates to an increase in deferred tax of approx. DKK 7 million and an increase in 
long-term debt of DKK 24 million. 
 
Short-term liabilities amounted to DKK 180.0 million at the end of 2008 compared to DKK 176.1 million at 
the end of 2007. 
 
Total liabilities amounted to DKK 309.4 million at the end of 2008 compared to DKK 275.0 million at the end 
of 2007. 
 
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities amounted to DKK 538.9 million at the end of 2008 compared to 
DKK 471.4 million at the end of 2007. 
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8.4 Cash flow statement 

Set out below is the consolidated cash flow statement for the Company for the periods ending 31 December 
2009, 2008 and 2007: 

 IFRS FGAAP 

Years ended 31 December Actual Actual 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

Cash Flow from Operations     

Operating profit for the period 192,394 63,157 61,834 41,560

Depreciation 20,797 18,963 19,045 16,117

Adjustment for fair Value adj. on biomass -33,655 7,632 0 0

Capital gains/losses 0 0  

Paid taxes 0 0 0 -88

Change in inventories, trade receivables, trade 
payables 

9,154 -40,756 -34,993 -70,447

Change in other balances 0 0 -923 923

Net cash flow from operations 188,691 48,995 44,963 -11,935

  

Cash Flow from investment activities  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
(PPE) 

-21,194 -33,539 -33,955 -51,371

Purchase of shares -11,967 -113 -5,600 -214

Proceeds from sale of shares  

Change in long term receivables 6,509 -6,899 0 0

Proceeds from sale of PPE  50 0 0 0

Net cash flow from investment activities -26,602 -40,551 -39,555 -51,585

  

Cash Flow from financing activities  

Proceeds from borrowings 0 14,017 17,906 73,714

Repayments of borrowings -111,084 0 0 0

Received interests 2,915 1,505 653 559

Paid interests -14,072 -18,514 -18,514 -11,682

Payment of dividend -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 0

Net Cash Flow from financing activities -127,241 -7,992 -4,955 62,591

  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 34,848 452 452 -929

  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 471 18 18 946

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 35,319 471 471 18

Restricted cash as at 31 December 0 0 0 0

  

Cash and cash equivalents adjusted for 
restricted cash 

35,319 471 471 18

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007  
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8.4.1 Management discussion and analysis 

8.4.1.1 The year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 (IFRS) 

Net cash flow from operations was in 2009 DKK 188.7 million compared to DKK 49.0 million in 2008. The 
increase in net cash flow from operation in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily affected by an increase in 
operating profit from DKK 63,1 million in 2008 to DKK 192.4 million in 2009.  
 
Cash flow from investments in 2009 amounted to DKK -26.6 million compared to DKK -40.6 million. The net 
cash flow from investments in 2008 and 2009 relates primarily to the investment in a floating feeding 
station, boats, buildings, processing equipment and general farming facilities. 
 
Net cash flow from financing activities amounted to DKK -127.2 million in 2009 compared to DKK -8.0 
million in 2008. The result in 2009 reflects the positive cash flow from operation and therefore payment of 
debt.  
 
Cash and equivalent at the end of 2009 amounted to DKK 35.3 million compared to DKK 0.5 million at the 
end of 2008.  

8.4.1.2 The year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 (FGAAP) 

Net cash flow from operations was in 2008 DKK 44.9 million compared to DKK -11.9 million in 2007. The 
net cash flow from operation in 2007 was primarily affected by an increase in biomass. In 2008 net cash 
flow from operations was primarily affected by an increase in operating profit and a moderate increase in 
biomass. 
 
Cash flow from investments in 2008 amounted to DKK -39.6 million compared to DKK -51.6 million in 2007.  
The net cash flow from investments in 2007 was primarily related to the investment in processing 
equipment, general farming facilities, buildings, boats and feeding stations. The net cash flow from 
investments in 2008 relates primarily to the investment in a floating feeding station, boats, buildings, 
processing equipment and general farming facilities. 
 
Net cash flow from financing activities amounted to DKK -4.9 million in 2008 compared to DKK 62.5 million 
in 2007. The cash flow for both years relates to increase in borrowings. 
 
Cash and equivalent at the end of 2008 amounted to DKK 0.5 million and in 2007 to DKK 0.02 million. 
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8.5 Pro forma figures 

8.5.1 Transaction 
As of 1 January 2010 The Bakkafrost Group and the Vestlax Group merged, with Bakkafrost as the 
continuing Group. Below there are presented Pro forma figures for income statement and balance sheet for 
the financial year from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009 as if the merger took place at 1 January 2009. 
The purpose of preparing the Pro forma figures is to illustrate how it could have look if the two groups 
merged as of 1 January 2009. The Pro forma figures have only been prepared for illustrative purposes. As 
the merger first will take place as of 1 January 2010 the Pro forma financial figures only addresses a 
hypothetical situation and therefore does not represent the company’s actual financial position or result. 

8.5.2  Income statement Pro forma 
 IFRS IFRS Pro forma Pro forma 

IFRS 

Years ended 31 December Bakkafrost Vestlax Adj. Bakkafrost

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2009  2009 

     

Operating income 596,565 367,877 -42,753 921,688

Operating expenses -417,369 -314,304  42,753 -688,920

Operating profit before deprec. and fair value 
adjustments of biological assets 

179,196 53,573 0 232,768

  

Income from associates 340 359  699  

Other operating revenue 9,500  9,500  

Depreciation and amortisation -20,797 -17,337 - -38,134

Impairment 0 0  0

Operating profit before fair value adjustments 
of biological assets 

158,739 46,094 - 204,833

  

Fair value adjustments of biological assets 33,655 830 - 34,485

Operating profit 192,394 46,925 - 239,319

  

Financial income 2,915 2,360 -1,871 3,404

Financial costs -14,072 -27,987  478 -41,581

Profit before income tax 181,237 21,297 -1,393 201,141

  

Income tax (expense) / income -32,509 -3,833 0 -36,343

Profit for the period 148,728 17,463 -1,393 164,799

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 AND COMPANY 

The Vestlax figures for 2009 are based on the Vestlax Group’s consolidated accounts prepared in 
accordance with FO-GAAP and then converted into IFRS. The Bakkafrost figures are from the financial 
statement for 2009 prepared in accordance with IFRS. The pro forma adjustments (elimination) in the 
operating revenue and operating expenses amounting to DKK 42.8 million relates to trade between the 
Bakkafrost Group and the Vestlax Group in 2009. The adjustment in the net financial item relates to 
interests on the intragroup balances in 2009. In addition, a calculated value of an option on a convertible 
loan between P/F Bakkafrost Holding and P/F Vestlax Holding is eliminated. This option has now been 
exercised. 
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8.5.3 Balance sheet Pro forma 
 IFRS IFRS Pro forma IFRS 

Years ended 31 December Bakkafrost Vestlax Adj. Pro forma 
Bakkafrost

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2009 2009 2009 

  

Assets  

Intangible assets 0 68,534 67,711 136,245

Property, plant and equipment 231,002 100,106  331,108

Investment in associated companies 2,723 0  2,723

Investments in stocks and shares 23,539 6,153 -16,085 13,607

Other noncurrent receivables 478 0  478

Non-current receivables  

Total non-current assets 257,741 174,793 51,626 484,161

Biological assets 227,497 102,379  329,876

Inventories 20,527 4,375  24,902

Accounts receivables 66,644 52,870 -5,315 114,199

Other current receivables 13,304 1,780  15,084

Cash and cash equivalents 35,319 361  35,680

Total current assets 363,291 161,765 -5,315 519,741

  

Total Assets 621,032 336,558   1,003,902

  

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity  

Share capital and share premium 89,668 124,747 -123,775 90,640

Retained earnings 299,219 31,892 151,514 482,625

Total shareholders' equity 388,887 156,639 27,739 573,265

  

Deferred taxes 57,081 -5,060 23,888 75,909

Long-term debt 34,350 37,065 -5,315 66,100

Total long-term liabilities 91,431 32,005 18,573 142,010

  

Trade payables and other debt 42,451 30,938  73,390

Interest-bearing short-term debt  98,262 116,975  215,237

Total short-term liabilities  140,713 147,914 0 288,627

Total liabilities 232,145 179,919 18,573 430,637

  

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 621,032 336,558   1,003,902

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 AND COMPANY 

The Balance sheet figures for the Vestlax Group for 2009 are based on their consolidated accounts prepared 
in accordance with FO-GAAP and then converted into IFRS. The Bakkafrost figures are from the financial 
statement for 2009 prepared in accordance with IFRS.  
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The merger is considered a business combination according to IFRS 3. Bakkafrost is considered the 
acquiree, and Vestlax the acquired group. Accordingly, a Purchase Price Allocation is performed in which 
Vestlax is recognized and measured at marked value.  

The market value is established by an actual transaction between independent parties in which shares in 
Bakkafrost were traded under the presumption of the merger taking place at 1 January 2010 at certain 
relative values.  

The balance sheet of Vestlax Group has been examined and fair values have been identified in farming 
licenses by employing generally accepted valuation techniques. The market value of licences are measured 
at DKK 132.7 million and Goodwill at DKK 3.5 million totalling 136.2 million. The adjustments relative to 
book values, amounting to DKK 67.7 million, are entered to intangible assets. Biomass is already measured 
at fair value, and the examination of the balance sheet revealed no further excess values.   

According to IFRS 3, deferred tax is calculated on excess values of licenses, and entered to liabilities, 
amounting to DKK 23.9 million. Goodwill is by definition a residual and no deferred tax is entered. 

Under the item Investment in stock and shares DKK 16.1 million is eliminated as this relates to Bakkafrost’s 
share of the share capital in Vestlax. The adjustment to Account receivables of DKK 5.3 million relates 
mainly to intergroup receivables that are eliminated. 

The adjustment to Shareholders’ equity of total DKK 27.7 million relates primarily to the following 
eliminationas and adjustments. Bakkafrosts’ part of the share capital in Vestlax is eliminated amounting to 
DKK -16.1 million. As the merger consideration for Vestlax is paid in shares of Bakkafrost, the share capital 
in the merged Group is increased by DKK 1.0 million so that the total share capital after the merger is DKK 
4.0 million. The purchase price allocation, which is the excess value of the booked value of the assets in 
Vestlax, amounting to DKK 67.7 million is entered on other equity. Finally a provision for deferred tax of the 
value of the licenses is made amounting to DKK 23.9 million. 

8.5.4 IFRS adjustments for P/f Vestlax 2009 
The Annual Report of Vestlax Group is prepared according to the Faroese Financial Reporting Act (FO-
GAAP). 

The following consolidated reconciliation provide the effect of Vestlax’s Group Transition to IFRS For the 
purpose of preparing the Pro Forma information.  

(DKK 1,000) 2009 IFRS - 2009 

IFRS Profit & Loss FO-GAAP Adj. IFRS 

   
Operating revenue 367,877  367,877

  

Purchase of goods -101,785  -101,785

Change in inventory and biological assets (at costs) -74,968 2,032 -72,935

Fair value adjustments on biological assets 0 831 831

Sallery and personnel expenses -45,882  -45,882

Other operating revenues 9,500  9,500

Other operation expences -93,702  -93,702

Income from associates 0 359 359

Depreciation -20,762 3,425 -17,337

Earnings before interests and taxes (EBIT) 40,278   46,925

Financial income 2,359  2,359

Net interest expence -24,713 -3,274 -27,987

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 17,924   21,297

Taxation 378 -4,211 -3,833

Net earnings 18,302   17,463

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT P/F VESTLAX 2009 
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(DKK 1,000) 2009 IFRS - 2009 

IFRS statement of Financial Position FO-GAAP Adj. IFRS 

       
Assets  
Intangible non-current assets 65,109 3,425 68,534

Tangible non-current assets 100,106  100,106

Financial non-current assets 3,076 3,077 6,153

Deferred tax assets  0

Long term receivables 0  0

Total non current assets  168,291   174,793

   

Biological assets 98,986 3,393 102,379

Inventory 4,375  4,375

Accounts receivable 52,870  52,870

Other short term receivables 1,780  1,780

Cash and cash equivalents 361  361

Total current assets  158,372   161,765

  

TOTAL ASSETS 326,662   336,558

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT P/F VESTLAX 2009 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 IFRS - 2009 

IFRS statement of Financial Position FO-GAAP Adj. IFRS 

LIABILITIES      
Share capital 61,750  61,750

Reserves 61,750 1,247 62,997

Net earnings 18,184 13,708 31,892

Total equity 141,684   156,639

  

Long term interestbearing debt 37,065  37,065

Deferred Tax 0 -5,060 -5,060

Other long term liabilities 0  0

Total long term liabilities 37,065   32,005

  

Short term interestbear. debt 116,975  116,975

Other short term liabilities 30,938  30,938

Total short term liabilities 147,914   147,914

  

Total equity and liabilities 326,662   336,558

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT P/F VESTLAX 2009 
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8.5.4.1 Value adjustments on biological assets  

Under FO-GAAP, biological assets, i.e. biomass, were recognized at full production cost, including costs 
which can only indirectly be allocated to the assets. This includes actual interest paid for production credit 
facilities. According to IFRS biological assets are measured at Fair Value. Consequently, the valuation of 
biomass in the statemet of financial position reflects biomass at market values, and profit and loss presents 
production costs and fair value adjustments separately. 

8.5.4.2 Inventory at cost.  

Finished goods have in FO-GAAP been recognised at fair value less 10%. Under IFRS, finished goods in 
inventory are measured at the lower of cost or the expected sales price less sales costs. In case the cost 
price exceeds sales price less sales cost, impairment is entered and charged to the Profit and loss. The cost 
price is the full production price, including production costs which can be only indirectly be allocated to the 
produced goods. This includes actual interest paid for production credit facilities.  

8.5.4.3 Convertible loan.  

Under FO-GAAP, a convertible loan has been entered at face value. According to the terms of agreement, 
the loan was interest free. According to IFRS an interest expense has been calculated and charged to the 
Profit and Loss. The convertible loan has been converted in December 2009. 

8.5.4.4 Securities available for sale.  

Under FO-GAAP, investments in securities available for sale were recognized at cost. According to IFRS, 
Vestlax´s investments classified as securities available for sale are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are entered on equity. 

8.5.4.5 Associated companies.  

Adjustments are made to associated companies to reflect the respective year end share of result and 
equity. 

8.5.4.6 Tax on adjustments.  

Defered tax is recognized an IFRS adjustments with 18%. Under FO-GAAP tax assets were not recognized, 
but are recognized as an asset under IFRS GAAP. 

8.5.5 Opinion from independent auditors or accountants 
The pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated in section 8.5, that basis 
is consistent with the accounting policies of the issuer. The report prepared by Sp/F Grannskoðaravirkið 
INPACT is attached in Appendix 6. 
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8.6 Changes in shareholders' equity  

The table below shows the changes in the Company’s shareholders’ equity over the past three accounting 
years 2007-2009. 

Years ended 31 December IFRS IFRS FGAAP 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2007 

    

Shareholders’ equity as at 1 January  241,650 207,344 171,477

  

Profit for the year 148,728 38,339 24,831

Fairvalue adjustment on securities available for sale 4,279 1,179 

Adjustment of deferred tax  -770 -212 

Change in accounting policy  -5,000

Proposed dividend -18,000 -5,000 5,000

Paid out dividend -5,000 -5,000 0

Dividend payable 18,000 5,000 

Shareholders’ equity as at 31 december based on IFRS 388,887 241,650 196,308*

* The difference between the shareholders’ equity at the end of 2007 and the beginning of 2008 relates to 
IFRS adjustments in connection with the implementation of IFRS from FO-GAAP. For at description of the 
IFRS adjustments see the P/F Bakkafrosts’ Annual Report 2009, Appendix 2. 

8.7 Property, plants and equipment 

8.7.1 Main tangible fixed assets 
Years ended 31 December IFRS IFRS FGAAP FGAAP 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

     

Property, plant and equipment 231,002 230,655 230,655 216,079

Financial assets 26,739 17,002 14,324 7,163

Sum fixed assets 257,741 247,657 244,980 223,242

Of this, leased equipment 0 0 0 0

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007 

8.7.2 Main fixed assets 
In the smolt production the main fixed assets are buildings, and equipment related to the production of 
Smolt. Processing plants are located in Klaksvik and Glyvrar. Within farming the main assets are equipment 
related to the fish farms in the sea. The fish farms are located in the North-eastern Faroe Islands. Value 
adding product plant and machinery is in Glyvrar. 

Exempt from the environmental legislation ref sections 13.3.1 “Basic legislation” 13.3.3 “Legislation on 
Combaitng Animal Diseases” and  13.3.4 “Act on Environmental Protection” related to the farming 
operations, and the environmental legislation related to the factories ref section 13.3.4 “Act on 
Environmental Protection”, there are no environmental issues that may affect the issuer's utilisation of the 
tangible fixed assets. 
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8.7.3 Investments in PP&E 
Years ended 31 December IFRS IFRS FGAAP FGAAP 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

     

Buildings 6,683 5,603 5,603 14,555

Production equipment 13,202 26,207 26,207 36,440

Other equipment 1,454 2,146 2,146 740

Total investments in PP&E 21,339 33,956 33,956 51,735

SOURCE: COMPANY 

8.8 Significant accounting policies under IFRS 

Both in 2007 and 2008 the Bakkafrost Group prepared its financial statements in accordance with FO-GAAP. 
However in connection with planned listing on Oslo Børs in 2010, the consolidated accounts for 2008 and 
2009 have been converted and prepared in accordance with IFRS. The transition to IFRS is described in the 
consolidated accounts for Bakkafrost for 2009. The accounting policies set out below have been applied in 
preparing the financial statements for 2009, comparable amounts for 2008 and for the company’s opening 
balance as of 01.01.2008 (transition date). When preparing the account for 2008 and the opening balance 
according to IFRS, the company has adjusted amounts formerly presented according to Faroese Generally 
Accepted Accounting Policies (GAAP). 

8.8.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial figures for 2008 and 2009 in 
accordance with IFRS are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to both 2008 and 
2009.  

8.8.2 Basis of Presentation  
The accounting year equals the calendar year.  

The financial figures were formally drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as approved by the 
European Community.  

The financial firgures have been prepared on a historical cost bases except for where IFRS require 
recognition at fair value, mainly valuation of biomass. 

Preparation of the Financial Statements involves the use of estimates and assumptions. Changes in 
estimates and estimates assumptions are accounted for when they occur. Descriptions about the various 
estimates applied are given in the notes to the accounts where relevant. 

8.8.3 Consolidation Principles 
The consolidated financial statements include Bakkafrost Holding and the subsidiaries over which Bakkafrost 
Holding has controlling influence either by shareholding or by agreement. A controlling interest is normally 
deemed to exist when ownership directly or indirectly exceeds 50 percent of the voting capital. Controlling 
interest may also exist by nature of agreement. Similarly, limitations in voting rights by agreement may 
impede exercise of control, and the investment concerned will be considered an associate. Newly acquired 
subsidiaries are included from the date on which a controlling interest is secured, and divested subsidiaries 
are included up until the date of divestment. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with uniform accounting principles for similar transactions in all companies included in the consolidated 
accounts. All material transactions and balances between Group companies have been eliminated. Shares in 
subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
acquisition method. This means that the acquired company’s assets and liabilities are reported at fair value 
at the date of acquisition, with any excess value being classified as goodwill. Where the fair value of the 
assets acquired exceeds the payment made, the difference is treated as revenue in the Profit & Loss 
Account. Deferred tax is capitalised to the extent to which identifiable excess values ascribed to assets and 
liabilities leads to an increase or decrease in future tax payable when these differences are reversed in 
future periods. Deferred tax is capitalised and calculated using a nominal undiscounted tax rate. When 
shares are acquired in stages, the value basis of the assets and liabilities is the date the Group was formed. 
Later acquisition of assets in existing subsidiaries will not affect the value of assets or liabilities, with the 
exception of goodwill, which is calculated with each acquisition. 
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Investments in companies in which the Group has a considerable interest (associated companies) are 
treated in accordance with the equity method in the consolidated accounts. A considerable influence is 
formally deemed to exist when the Group owns 20–50 percent of the voting capital. The Group’s share of 
the profits in such companies is based on profit after tax, less internal gains and depreciation on excess 
value due to the cost price of the shares being higher than the acquired portion of book equity. In the Profit 
& Loss Account, the profit share is presented as a financial item, while the assets are presented in the 
statement of financial position as long-term financial assets. The accounting principles used by associated 
companies have been changed where necessary to achieve consistency with the principles used by the 
Group as a whole. 

8.8.4 Minority Interests 
The share of the profit or loss after tax attributable to minority interests (non-controlling) is presented on a 
separate line after the Group's net profit for the year. The share of equity attributable to minority interests 
is presented on a separate line under group equity.  

8.8.5 Revenues 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of business. Revenue is recognized net of discounts, VAT and other sales 
related taxes.  

The revenue of the Group is mainly for sales of fish. Sales revenues are recognised when the goods are 
delivered and both title and risk has passed to the customer. This will normally be upon delivery.  

8.8.6 Fair Value adjustments on biological assets 
Changes in estimated fair value on biomass are recognized in the income statement at every closing. The 
fair value adjustment is reported on a separate line: "fair value adjustment on biomass". The change in fair 
value adjustment is calculated at the change in fair value of the biomass less the change in accumulated 
cost of production for the biomass. At harvest, fair value adjustments are reversed.  

8.8.7 Financial Income 
Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis. Dividend is recognised when the shareholders right to 
receive a dividend has been approved by the Annual General Meeting.  

8.8.8 Segment Reporting 
Bakkafrost Group has fundamentally two business activities, farming of fish including sale of fresh fish and 
value adding of salmonoid products. 

8.8.8.1 Seafarming including sale of fresh fish 

The Group has production facilities in the north-eastern parts of the Faroe Islands. There are no significant 
differences in the production properties of the licences, and the Group therefore reports the farmed 
salmonids including the sale of fresh salmon as one segment. 

8.8.8.2 Value Added Products (VAP) 

A significant share of the farmed products is value added at the factory in Glyvrar. The output of the factory 
is predominantly portions for the retail market. Therefore this is reported as one segment. 

Realisation of excess values on tangible and intangible assets deriving from acquisitions is not allocated to 
the segments. 

8.8.9 Classification Principles 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and bank deposits. Assets which form part of the 
production cycle and fall due for payment within 12 months are classified as current assets. Other assets 
are classified as non-current assets. Liabilities which form part of the production cycle or fall due for 
payment within 12 months are classified as current liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as non-current 
liabilities. 

Dividend proposals are not capitalised as liabilities until the parent company has assumed an irrevocable 
obligation to pay the dividend. Normally as dividend proposals have been approved by the Annual General 
Meeting. 

Next year’s instalments on long-term debts are classified as current liabilities. 
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Biomass is recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position. Changes in biomass in inventory 
measured at cost are presented as a one line item in the Profit & Loss Account. Biomass at cost consists of 
all production costs including actual interest costs.  

The biomass is then adjusted to fair value, i.e. market value less finishing costs, by adding/deducting an 
IFRS adjustment. The IFRS adjustment is the difference between biomass measured at cost and measured 
at fair value. Changes in the fair value on biological assets are presented on a line item separately from 
biomass changes measured at cost, under operating profit/loss. This allows the reader of the Financial 
Report to determine both production efficiency and biomass at fair value. 

If the estimated IFRS adjustment is negative, this is taken as an indication of impairment, and an 
impairment test is performed.  

8.8.10 Foreign Currencies 
The consolidated accounts are presented in Danish Kroner (DKK), which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency. All transactions in foreign currencies are translated into DKK at the time of 
transaction. In the statement of financial position, monetary items in foreign currencies are translated at 
the exchange rate in effect on the statement of financial position date. 

8.8.11 Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs are charged as expenses as they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs 
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the built-up of biomass in cages at sea is capitalised as part of the 
cost of the respective assets.  

8.8.12 Receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are presented at face value less provisions for bad debts. 
Provisions for bad debts are made on the basis of an individual assessment of the receivable concerned. 
Due to insignificant cost and the short credit period, amortised cost is equivalent to face value less 
foreseeable losses.  

8.8.13 Inventory 
Inventories consist of inventories in the Seafarming Unit and VAP Unit.  

8.8.13.1 Seafarming Unit: 

Inventories consist of feed and additives. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and expected sales 
price less sales costs. The FIFO principle is used concerning the periodic assignment of inventory costs.  

8.8.13.2 VAP unit: 

Inventories consist of, raw material, additives, packaging material and finished goods. Raw material in the 
VAP unit consists basically of processed salmonids. Raw materials are measured at fair-value at the time of 
harvesting. Packaging material and additives are valued at the lower of cost and expected sales price less 
sales costs. The FIFO principle is used concerning the periodic assignment of inventory costs. Finished 
goods in inventory, fresh or frozen, are measured at the lower of cost and the expected sales price less 
sales costs. In case cost price exceeds sales price less sales cost, impairment is entered and charged to 
Profit and Loss.  

The cost price of goods produced in-house is the full production cost, including production costs which can 
be only indirectly allocated to produce goods, less general administration costs. This includes actual interest 
paid for production credit facilities. 

8.8.14 Biological Assets 
Biological assets (biomass) comprise salmon fry and fish in the sea. The valuation of biological assets is 
based on cost price, with the addition/deduction of a fair value adjustment, which is based on market prices 
of salmon at marketable sizes on average for a generation. Consequently, the valuation of biomass in the 
balance sheet reflects biomass at market values, and profit and loss presents production costs and Fair 
Value adjustments separately. 

This is in accordance IAS 41, which requires biological assets to be measured at fair value.  

At the point when a new generation of smolt is launched to sea, the generation is measured at production 
costs. Smolts are predominantly produced in-house and smolts put to sea are measured at production cost. 
At the early stages of production at sea, the assumption of the measurement being clearly unreliable is 



PROSPECTUS P/F BAKKAFROST 
 
 

91 

maintained. At average sizes of approximately 2 kilo each fish, the fair value measurement of the 
generation becomes less than clearly unreliable. At this point Fair Value measurement commences. 

Fair value is established by comparing to market prices of salmonids at a size of 4 kilo gutted weight, and 
deducting harvesting and sales costs. In addition, allowances are made for the fact that not all fish in a 
generation is of a superior quality. Fair value is based on market prices achieved by the Group at, or close 
to, the balance sheet date. 

The 4 kilo threshold is based on the fact, that a generation is considered biologically and economically 
harvestable at that size, and fair value estimates should reflect the properties of smaller fish being able to 
grow to harvestable sizes.  

If there exists an impairment requiring a write-down in value (further growth and sales price are not 
expected to meet production costs), an impairment write-down is entered to the balance sheet and charged 
to the Profit and loss. 

Estimating the fair value of not yet harvestable fish in the period immediately prior to harvesting is more 
uncertain than estimating the value of harvestable fish. See the note regarding biological assets or further 
information’s regarding the principles employed. 

8.8.15 Fixed Price Contracts 
The Group enters into sales contracts for value added salmon products (VAP) on an ongoing basis. The 
contracts involve physical settlement, and deliveries associated with the contracts form part of the Group's 
normal business activities. The contracts contain no built-in derivative elements.  

With respect to fixed-price contracts which result in the Group being obligated to sell salmon products at a 
price lower than production cost, (including fair value adjustment of raw materials at the point of 
harvesting) the contracts are considered onerous, and provisions are calculated and entered to the balance 
sheet. The Provision is charged to the Profit and Loss Statement in the line item "Other Operation Cost".  

8.8.16 Property Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are capitalised at acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation and write-
downs. When assets are sold or divested, the book value is deducted and any loss or gain entered to Profit 
& Loss. Ordinary depreciation commences from the date on which the asset goes into normal operation, and 
is calculated on the basis of its economic lifespan. Depreciation is assigned in a straight line over the 
expected economic lifespan of the assets, taking into consideration the estimated residual value. If an asset 
comprises significant components with varying lifespan, these components are deprecated separately. The 
scrap value of the property, plant and equipment as well as the depreciation period and depreciation 
method employed are reassessed annually. 

Facilities under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation is charged to expenses when the facilities are 
ready for use. If the situation or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset cannot be 
recovered, an assessment is made about whether to write down its value. If the recoverable value of the 
assets is lower than the carrying amount, and the impairment is not expected to be temporary, the assets 
are written down to the recoverable value. The recoverable value is the higher of net sales price and value 
in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows which the asset will generate.  

8.8.17 Leasing Contracts 
Operating assets which are leased on terms which transfer the bulk of the financial risk and control to the 
company (financial leasing) are recorded in the balance sheet as property, plant and equipment, and the 
corresponding leasing liability is included under interest bearing long-term liabilities at the present value of 
the leasing payments. The asset is depreciated as scheduled and the liability is reduced by the amount of 
lease paid less a calculated interest cost. The deprecation period is consistent with similar assets which are 
owned by the Group.  

8.8.18 Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets that are purchased individually are capitalised at acquisition cost. Intangible assets 
acquired in connection with the purchase of a business entity are capitalised at acquisition cost when the 
criteria for separate recognition are met. 

Intangible assets with a limited economic lifespan are depreciated systematically. Intangible assets are 
written down to recoverable amount if the expected financial benefits do not cover their carrying amount 
and any remaining production costs.  

Costs relating to research and development are charged as expenses as they accrue. R&D costs are 
capitalised in the balance sheet when it can be demonstrated, that the relevant R&D projects carry 
economic benefits, that they can be technically finalised, and that the company intends to, and is financially 
able to reap the economic benefits. 
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Capitalised R&D costs are recognised at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and write downs. 
Capitalised R&D costs are depreciated in a straight line over the asset's estimated period of use. 

8.8.18.1 Farming Licenses 

Farming Licenses, which are purchased either as part of an acquisition or business combination according to 
IFRS 3, are capitalised at cost less accumulated write-downs. Seafarming licenses in the Faroes are 
considered perpetual, given certain preconditions regarding environmental protection and animal welfare 
are met.  

Consequently, sea farming licenses are not depreciated systematically, but are subject to annual 
impairment test. If the carrying amount exceed recoverable amount, licences are considered impaired, and 
write downs are entered, and charged to the Profit and Loss Account in the line item "write downs and 
reversal of write-downs" 

Licences, which are obtained at original distribution by the Faroese government are not capitalised due to 
the fact, that no acquisition consideration is transferred. 

8.8.18.2 Goodwill 

When the company assumes control over a separate business entity for a consideration that exceeds the 
fair value of the individual assets, the difference is entered as goodwill in the balance sheet.  

Goodwill deriving from the purchase of subsidiaries and associates is presented under intangible assets. 
Goodwill is not depreciated but is tested for impairment annually or more often if there are indications that 
its value is lower than the carrying amount. When assessing the need to write down goodwill, this is 
assigned to relevant cash flow generating units or those groups which are expected to benefit from the 
acquisition. Write-downs are performed in accordance with an assessment of the recoverable value of each 
of the cash flow generating units to which the goodwill is assigned. To identify the Group's cash flow 
generating units, the assets are grouped according to the lowest level to which separate and independent 
cash flows may be ascribed. Recoverable value is calculated on the basis of value in use. This is arrived at 
by estimating future cash flows for the next three years based on approved budgets and forecasts. Cash 
flows after three years are assumed to equal the expected rate of inflation. Cash flows are discounted by a 
rate of interest before tax which takes account of relevant market risk. If the calculated value in use is 
lower than the carrying amount of the cash flow generating unit, goodwill is written down first and then 
other assets as required.  

8.8.19 Financial Instruments 
In accordance with IAS39, financial instruments falling within its remit are classified in the following 
categories: fair value with changes in value posted to profit & loss, hold until maturity, loans and 
receivables, available for sale and other liabilities. 

8.8.19.1 Financial instruments at fair value with changes in value entered to Profit & 
Loss 

Financial instruments which are held primarily for the purpose of buying or selling in the short term are 
classified as being held for trading purposes. These instruments are included in the category of financial 
instruments recognised at fair value with changes in value posted to profit and loss alongside forward 
currency contracts which are recognised at fair value with changes in value entered to Profit & Loss. 

8.8.19.2 Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any losses 
from impairment. Due to immaterial transaction cost and short credit times, amortised cost equals nominal 
value less provisions for bad debts. 

8.8.19.3 Financial assets available for sale 

Financial assets which are available for sale are recognised at fair value. Any changes in fair value are taken 
directly to equity, with the exception of losses deriving from any fall in value.  

8.8.20 Pensions 
The Group has employed a defined contribution pension scheme. Pension premiums are charged to Profit & 
Loss as they accrue. The Group has no additional pension liabilities towards the employees, apart from 
these periodical payments. The net pension costs for the period are included in the line item salaries and 
payroll costs.  



PROSPECTUS P/F BAKKAFROST 
 
 

93 

8.8.21 Tax 
The tax expense is matched against the profit & loss before tax, as it appears in the accounts. Tax 
ascribable to equity transactions are taken to equity. The tax expense comprises tax payable (tax on the 
year's direct taxable income) and changes in net deferred taxes. Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets are presented net in the balance sheet, to the extent, tax assets and liabilities can be netted against 
each other. 

Deferred tax in the balance sheet is a nominal amount calculated on the basis of temporary differences 
between accounting and tax values at their intended use, as well as the taxable loss carried forward at the 
end of the financial year. 

Deferred tax assets are capitalised when it is deemed probable that at they will result in a reduction in 
future taxes payable on taxable income. 

Deferred tax is calculated on the difference between the accounting and taxable values of licences.  

8.8.22 Provisions 
A provision is recognised when, and only when the company has a valid liability (legal-or self imposed) 
deriving from an event, which has occurred, and it is probable (more likely than not) that a financial 
settlement will take place as a result at that liability, and that the amount in question can be reliably 
quantified. Provisions are reviewed on each closing date, and the level reflects the best estimate for the 
liability. 

8.8.23 Events After The Balance Sheet Date 
New information regarding the company's financial position on the balance sheet date which is received 
after the balance sheet date has been recognised in the annual accounts. Events after the balance sheet 
date which do not affect the company's financial position on the balance sheet date, but which will affect the 
company’s future financial position are reported if material.  

8.8.24 Statement of Cash Flow 
The Group's statement of cash flow shows a breakdown of the Group's overall cash flow into operating, 
investing and financing activities. The statement shows the individual activity's impact on cash and cash 
equivalents. The cash flow deriving from the acquisition and sale of business is presented under investing 
activities 

8.8.25 Intra-Group Reorganisation 
No intragroup reorganisation has taken place in 2009. However, the Board considers the Group structure to 
be unsuitable and has planned to merge the subsidiaries P/F Sveipur and P/F Bakkafrost Packaging into a 
single entity. The merger is planned to be effective as of 1 January 2010. Both companies are wholly owned 
subsidiaries, and the merger is recognised according to the pooling of interest method. Consequently, the 
merger has no impact on the consolidated financial report. 

Further, the legal placement of the processing activity is not in line with the segment definition, see note 4 
in the Annual report 2009.  

Consequently, the management is planning to move the harvesting operation from the company P/F 
Bakkafrost Processing to P/F Bakkafrost Harvesting, which is part of the farming segment..  

8.8.26 Standards Issued But Not Yet Effectice 
Below are listed new/amended/additions to standards and interpretations not yet effective for annual period 
from 1 January - 31 December 2009. The effective date listed below is the latest date that that the 
company can implement the new/amended/ additions to standards and interpretations. The disclosure 
consists of standards and interpretations that are made public before the publication of the annual report. 
Amendments not approved by the EU are not included in the list below. 

8.8.26.1 IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations 

Compared to the existing IFRS 3, the revised IFRS 3 incorporates certain amendments and clarifications 
related to the use of the purchase method. This includes issues such as goodwill in business combinations 
achieved in stages, minority interests and contingent considerations. Transactions costs other than share 
and debt issuance costs will be expensed as incurred. IFRS 3 (R) is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2009. The Group expects to implement IFRS 3 (R) as of 1 January 2010.  
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8.8.26.2 IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  

The revised IAS 27 provides more guidance on accounting for changes in ownership interest in a subsidiary 
and the disposal of a subsidiary, compared to the current IAS 27. According to the revised standard the 
entity measures the interest retained in a former subsidiary at fair value upon loss of control of the 
subsidiary, and the corresponding gain or loss is recognised through profit and loss. The revised standard 
also includes a change in the requirements relating to the allocation of losses in a loss-making subsidiary. 
IAS 27 (R) requires total comprehensive income to be allocated between the controlling and the non-
controlling party, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. IAS 27 (R) is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The Group plans to implement IAS 27 (R) as 
of 1 January 2010. 

8.8.26.3 IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate 

The interpretation addresses the divergence in accounting treatment for real estate projects, and also 
provides guidance on whether a project is within the scope of IAS 11 Construction Contracts or IAS 18 
Revenue. The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. The Group 
plans to implement IFRIC 15 as of 1 January 2010. 

The Group does not expect that implementation of the amendments listed above will have a material effect 
on the financial statement of the Group on the date of implementation. 

8.8.26.4 Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgement 
estimates and assumption that affect the application of accounting principles and carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on past 
experience and other factors perceived to be relevant and probable when the judgements were made. 
Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis, and actual values and results may deviate from the initial 
estimates. Revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised.  

The evaluations and estimates deemed to be of greatest significance for the Bakkafrost Group Financial 
Statements are as follows: 

Valuation of Biomass 

The valuation of biomass in the sea involves estimates of both volume and quality of the biomass. When 
valuing the biomass, the most updated data on development in the biomass is used, and the estimated 
quality grading is based on history. According to IAS 41, the biomass is carried in the statement of financial 
position at estimated fair value on the date of the statement of financial position. The estimate of the fair 
value of biomass will always be based on uncertain assumptions, even though the Company has built 
substantial expertise in assessing these factors. The volume of biomass is, in itself, an estimate that is 
based on the number of smolt put to sea, the estimated growth from the time of stocking, estimated 
mortality based on observed mortality in the period, etc. The principles of valuation are described further in 
the note to the biological assets in the financial statement for 2009. 

Fixed-price contracts 

The company holds long term sale contracts related to salmon products. These contracts do not contain any 
elements of embedded derivates and are therefore not treated as financial instruments. The contracts are 
settled based exclusively on the assumption that delivery of salmon products should take place. The 
contracts are not tradable, nor do they contain a clause for settlement in cash or cash equivalents. 
Provisions are made for estimated onerous contracts that oblige the Group to sell fish at a price lower than 
the calculated fair value of the biomass. 

Accounting for deferred taxes 

The accounting of deferred taxes reflects tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the date of the statement of financial position. The recognition of a deferred tax asset is based 
on expectations of profitability in the future. In addition, there are many transactions and calculations 
during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Deferred taxes 
are, calculated using the nominal tax rate according to IAS 12. This means that the net present value of 
effects from, for instance tax losses carried forward, that are utilised in the future will be different from 
carrying amounts. 

8.9 Significant changes and trends after last reporting period 

Since last reporting period ended at 31 December 2009 the following events have occurred. 
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Effective on 1 January 2010, the Vestlax Group (with P/F Vestlax Holding as the ultimate parent company in 
the Vestlax Group) merged with the Bakkafrost Group’s ultimate parent company, P/F Bakkafrost. P/F 
Bakkafrost is the continuing company. 

The Bakkafrost Group has, since the date of the statement of financial position, changed its financing 
structure. In the future, it will primarily be the ultimate parent company in the merged Group, P/F 
Bakkafrost, which will finance all the companies in the Group. At the same time, P/F Bakkafrost has  signed 
a new loan agreement with P/F Føroya Banki and Nordea Norge ASA. With the new agreement, the total 
loan facility is DKK 400 million, plus other loans from Føroya Realkredittstovni amounting to approximately 
DKK 58 million. The new bank financing is divided into 200 million as a revolving credit facility and a long-
term loan amounting to DKK 200 million. Payment into the long-term loan facility is agreed to be DKK 50 
million each year in 2010 and 2011 (se further detail on the loan agreement below). 

On the AGM held 15 February 2010 it was decided to pay out dividend amounting to DKK 18,000,000.  

The Company has not experienced any changes or trends outside the ordinary course of business that are 
significant to the company after 31 December 2009 and to the date of this Prospectus, other than those 
described elsewhere in the Prospectus. The Company does not know of any trends, uncertainties, demands, 
commitments or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Company’s prospects for 
the current financial year other than those described elsewhere in the Prospectus. Please see Chapter 6, 
“Presentation of Bakkafrost” and chapter 7, “Market Information” as well as chapter 2, “Risk factors” for 
more information about significant recent trends in the Company’s business and relevant markets. 

For any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political or others factors that could materially affect 
the Company’s future operations please refer to chapter 2, “Risk factors”, chapter 7, “Market Information” 
and chapter 13, “Legal Matters”. 

8.10 Investments 

The Company is operating in two main business areas, Farming and Value Adding Processing (VAP). In the 
table below the investments during the last three years are grouped into these activities. 

8.10.1 Investments past 3 years 
The table below gives an overview of the Company’s investments for the past three accounting years in the 
faming segment and the Value Added Segment. 

Capital investments by segment 2009 2008 2007 

(DKK 1,000)    

    

Farming 17,226 30,339 29,040

Value adding Production  4,113 3,556 22,694

Total investment 21,339 33,955 51,734

SOURCE: COMPANY 

In 2007 Bakkafrost invested in total DKK 51.7 million. The investments in 2007 in the Farming segment 
amounting to DKK 29 million relates to general farming equipment amounting to approx DKK 12 millions 
and include a floating station amounting to 6.4 million. The investment in the Farming segment also 
consists of investments in buildings amounting to DKK approx 14 millions and equipment related to the 
harvesting plant in Klaksvík amounting to approx DKK 3 million. Investments in value added segment in 
2007 amounts to DKK 22.7 million and relates to processing equipment.  

In 2008 the investments in farming amounted to DKK 30.3 million. The main investment relates to new 
boats of DKK 8 millions, a floating feed station amounting to DKK 7 million and other farming equipment 
amounting to DKK 10 millions and comprises among other things nets, cages and seaflow equipment. Also 
in 2008 an investment in the buildings in Glyvrar was made amounting to Approx DKK 5 millions. 

Investments in value added production relates to cooling trailers amounting to DKK 1 million and other 
processing equipment of DKK 1.5 million.  

In 2009 the investments in farming amounted to DKK 17.2 million. The main investment relates to 
buildings, including office equipment amounting to DKK 6 million, upgrading of boats of DKK 4 millions, a 
new boat which is under construction amounting to Approx DKK 2 million, investment on a hatchery of 2 
million, investment in equipment in the styropor factory of DKK 1 million and other farming equipment. 

Investments in value added production relates to a new processing line and other equipment totalling to 
DKK 4.1 million.  
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8.10.2 Investments in progress and future investments 
The Company continues to invest in all activities to adjust the capacity. It will be invested approximately 
DKK 100 million during 2010 and 2011. The investments in farming for 2010 and 2011 are estimated to be 
approximately DKK 40 million each year and in the Value Adding Production (VAP) 10 million each year. 

Farming investments in 2010 relates to sea equipment, boats and other farming equipment. The 
investments in the VAP segment relates to processing equipment. 

All described investments will be financed though the existing credit facility and cash generated by the 
business.  

The former Bakkafrost Group had capital expenditure committed but not provided in the accounts at 31 
December 2009 of approximately DKK 12 million and relates to a floating feed station and a farming boat. 
No other investments are in progress as of the date of the Prospectus. 

All investments will be made in the Faroe Islands. 

8.11 Capital Resources 

As of 31 december 2009, the Company had cash, cash equivalents amounting to DKK 35 millions. In 
addition the merged Bakkafrost Vestlax Group with the new loan agreement described in section 8.11.6 had 
undrawn loan facilities of DKK 207 million. 

8.11.1 The primary short and long term sources of cash flow 
The Group’s cash flow is influenced by significant fluctuations in the underlying market price developments, 
primarily for salmon and the development in production and harvest volumes. 

The Group’s primary source of liquidity on a daily basis is the operational cash flow. This is again dependent 
upon the development in the underlying market for salmon as described in the previous paragraph. 

Key factors in analyzing the operational sources as the basis for revenue and cash flow are product pricing, 
production volumes and market access. The Norwegian market is anticipated to experience growth in 
production volumes the next years, while the US and UK market is expected to have respectively zero and 
low growth. The Chilean market has had substantial problems with ISA in 2009 and production volumes are 
expected to fall with approximately 75 per cent. According to market participants, normal production levels 
will first be obtained in 2013-2014. The overall supply of Atlantic salmon is anticipated to decrease in 2009 
and 2010 relatively to the supply level in 2008.The recession has had limited negative effect on the demand 
for Atlantic salmon, hence, we see rising prices in all markets. 

In general, product pricing will always be a function of underlying issues; production costs, available 
volumes and the balance between market demand and supply. Over time there has been a positive 
development in prices for farmed marine products, which must be seen in conjunction with an increasing 
demand for such products in general. Although the market in principle is cyclical, recent statistics show 
signs of good market developments for marine products as a whole, as the focus on healthy food products 
and thereby demand, increases. 

The development in the production cost for the products is, as mentioned, important for basic product 
pricing, and subsequently the analysis of cash flow development. 

For further comments on the development of the cash flow see Section 8.4. 

8.11.2 Working capital statement 
The Company is of the opinion that it has sufficient working capital for the 12 months period following the 
date of the Prospectus  

8.11.3 Funding structure and restrictions of use of capital resources 
The long term funding of the Company consists of both equity and interest bearing debt, which is further 
described in Section 8.11.6. Section 8.11.4 in this Prospectus also shows a statement of the Company’s 
capitalization and indebtedness. 

Extended funding to ensure financing of the Company’s business plan for 2010 and 2011 was finalized in 
the first quarter. In total, the new funding arrangements provided the merged Companies with DKK 400 
million in additon to the existing credit institution loan amounting to DKK 58 milion.. 

Book value of equity (Pro forma) per 31 December 2009 was DKK 571 million and net interest bearing debt 
per 31 December 2009 was DKK 251 million. The equity ratio per 31 December 2009 was 56%. The funding 
of Bakkafrost is considered sufficient to fund the further development of the Company in line with the 
production targets communicated by the Company at significantly lower prices on the Company’s products 
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than the current level. The financing is considered sufficient to cover any seasonality of the operations and 
corresponding borrowing requirements. 

The Company together with the Vestlax Group had 31 December 2009 untapped credit facilities of DKK 207 
million. 

The Company is not aware of any material legal or economic restrictions that influence the ability of the 
subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Company in the form of cash dividends, repayment of inter-company 
loans, new loans or advances. Consequently, the Company expects to meet its future cash obligations. 

The Company is not in breach of any covenants as of the date of the Prospectus. 

8.11.4 Capitalisation and indebtedness 
The following table sets out the consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness of P/f Bakkafrost as of 31 
December 2009 which is before the merger with the Vestlax Group and Pro forma figures for the merged 
entity for 2009. The table should be read together with the consolidated financial statement and the related 
notes thereto. 
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Total capitalisation and indebtedness per 31.12.2009 P/F 
Bakkafrost 
(Audited) 

Bakkafrost & 
Vestlax 

(Unaudited) 

(DKK 1,000) IFRS IFRS 

Total current debt  

Guaranteed - 

Secured (1) 98,262 215,237

Unguaranteed/unsecured 42,451 73,390

Sum 140,714 288,627

  

Total Non-Current Debt  

Guaranteed - 

Secured (1) 34,350 66,100

Unguaranteed/unsecured (2) 57,081 75,909

Sum 91,431 142,009

  

Capital and Reserves  

Share Capital 2,992 2,992

Legal reserves 0 0

Other reserves  385,895 570,273

Sum 388,887 573,265

Total Capitalisation and Indebtedness 621,032 1,003,901

  

Cash (3) 35,319 35,680

Cash equivalent - 

Trading securities - 

Total liquidity 35,319 35,680

  

Current financial receivables - -

Current bank debt 45,239 119,378

Current portion of non current debt 53,023 95,859

Other current financial debt 0 

Current financial debt 98,262 215,237

  

Net current financial indebtedness -62,943 -179,557

  

Non current bank loans 34,350 66,100

Bond issued - 

Other non-current borrowings - 

Non-current financial indebtedness -34,350 -66,100

Net financial indebtedness -97,243 -245,657

Key Figures  

Interest coverage ratio 17.3 6.28

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 AND PRO FORMA FIGURES 2009 
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Notes: 

(1) Secured current and non-current debt relates to bank and credit institution’s borrowing. 

(2) Deferred tax at 31 December 2009 

(3) The cash is held in DKK, EUR, GBP, NOK and USD 

Effective on 1 January 2010, the Vestlax Group (with P/F Vestlax Holding as the ultimate parent company in 
the Vestlax Group) merged with the Bakkafrost Group’s ultimate parent company, P/F Bakkafrost. P/F 
Bakkafrost is the continuing company to be listed on Oslo Børs according to this Prospectus. The 
Consolidated accounts are shown in the Pro forma Figures. 

The Bakkafrost Group has, since the date of the statement of financial position, changed its financing 
structure. In the future, it will primarily be the ultimate parent company in the merged Group, P/F 
Bakkafrost, which will finance all the companies in the Group. At the same time, P/F Bakkafrost has signed 
a new loan agreement with P/F Føroya Banki and Nordea Norge ASA. With the new agreement, the total 
loan facility is DKK 400 million, plus other loans from Føroya Realkredittstovni amounting to approximately 
DKK 58 million. The new bank financing is divided into 200 million as a revolving credit facility and a long-
term loan amounting to DKK 200 million. Payment into the long-term loan facility is agreed to be DKK 50 
million each year in 2010 and 2011. For further details on the loan see below under Borrowing. 

There have been no other material changes since the last published financial information. 

8.11.5 Assets held as collateral for debt 
The following table shows the book value of assets held as collateral for debt.  

Years ended 31 December IFRS IFRS FO-GAAP FO-GAAP 

(DKK 1,000) 2009 2008 2008 2007 

     

Property, plant and equipment 231,002 230,655 230,655 216,079

Financial assets 26,739 17,002 14,324 7,163

Inventories 248,024 247,093 234,104 195,537

Accounts receivables 66,644 42,469 42,469 37,638

Other current receivables 13,304 14,839 16,861 14,966

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007 

8.11.6 Borrowings 
The Company is founded and capitalized primarily by shareholder’s equity. In addition the Company has 
debt financing with P/f Føroya Bank and Nordea Bank Norge ASA. The Company signed a new loan 
agreement with P/f Føroya Bank and Nordea Bank Norge ASA on 15 February 2010 covering a DKK 200 
million revolving overdraft facility (facility A) and a DKK 200 million installment loan (facility B), which 
amounts are equally devided between the lenders. The first drawing of funds under the installment loan 
shall be used to repay all of the previous loan facility with P/f Føroya Bank and Nordea Bank Norge ASA. 

8.11.6.1 Nordea Bank Norge ASA 

The loan facility Nordea Norge ASA is structured as follows: 

Facility A: A revolving overdraft facility of DKK 100 million to finance fish in sea and debtors with DKK 50 
million on each. Facility A shall however not exceed the estimated debtor and biomass volumes. 

Facility B: An instalment loan of DKK 100 million. 

The interest is CIBOR 3 months plus the current margin, which is calculated on the basis of the Company’s 
Interest bearing debt ratio compared to EBITDA before fair value adjustments of biological assets. The 
margin may vary between 2 % p.a. and 3.5 % p.a. 

The revolving overdraft facility falls due on 1.4.2011 and renewal shall then be considered on annual basis 
until final expiration 31.12.2014.   

The installment loan shall be repaid to a remaining amount of DKK 50 million at the end of 2011 divided 
into quarterly instalments of DKK 6.25 million. Following this the payments shall follow an 8 years profile, 
though up for renewal 31.12.2014. The loan facility is secured both in the Company’s and its subsidiaries 
assets as pledge  
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The Company shall pay varoious fees and commissions to Nordea Bank Norge ASA, including a commission 
of 0.25% per year of the uncancelled revolving overdraft facility, a commission of 1.35% per year of the 
uncancelled and undrawn installment loan facility and an arrangement fee of 50% of 0.08% of the total 
facility. 

8.11.6.2 P/f Føroya Banki 

The loan facility with P/f Føroya Banki is structured as follows: 

Facility A: A revolving overdraft facility of DKK 100 million to finance fish in sea and debtors with DKK 50 
million on each. Facility A shall however not exceed the estimated debtor and biomass volumes. 

Facility B: An instalment loan of DKK 100 million. 

The interest is CIBOR 3 months plus the current margin, which is calculated on the basis of the Company’s 
Interest bearing debt ratio compared to EBITDA before fair value adjustments of biological assets. The 
margin may vary between 3.25 % p.a. and 4.50 % p.a. 

The revolving overdraft facility falls due on 1.4.2011 and renewal shall then be considered on annual basis 
until final expiration 31.12.2014.   

The installment loan shall be repaid to a remaining amount of DKK 50 million at the end of 2011 divided 
into quarterly instalments of DKK 6.25 million. Following this the payments shall follow an 8 years profile, 
though up for renewal 31.12.2014. The loan facility is secured both in the Company’s and its subsidiaries 
assets as pledge. 

The Company shall pay varoious fees and commissions to P/f Føroya Banki, including a commission of 
0.25% per year of the uncancelled revolving overdraft facility, a commission of 1.35% per year of the 
uncancelled and undrawn installment loan facility and an arrangement fee of 50% of 0.08% of the total 
facility. 

8.11.6.3 Covenants 

The facilities are subject to several conditions and covenants, including the following: 

Investments above DKK 35 million per year must be approved by the bank syndicate. The banks have 
approved total investments in 2010 and 2011 of DKK 50 million per year. 

Proceeds from sale of assets outside ordinary operations must be used for extraordinary payments on debt. 

Bakkafrost must have a sufficient insurance coverage for their assets and business. The bank syndicate 
shall be registered with pledge on the assets in the insurance agreements. 

The farming licenses shall not be sold or in any way separated from the Company without written 
permissions from the banks. 

The loan agreement contains specific condtions with regard to that fish farming licenses currently held by 
the Group shall be maintained within the Group. 

8.11.6.4 Financial covenants 

The Group’s net interests bearing debt, measured on a quarterly basis, based on rolling 4 quarters, must 
not exceed 3.5x EBITDA and 3.0x EBITDA from 31.12.2011. 

The revolving overdraft facility shall be distributed between financing of accounts receivables and fish at 
sea. One part of the facility must never exceed 80% of the insured accounts receivables and the other part 
must at any time not exceed 65% of the lowest of the costs of the fish at sea or P/f Føroya Banki’s 
estimated standard value of fish in sea.  

EBITDA for the Group must at any time be atleast 1.2x the sum of interests and amortisation to the two 
banks. 

The solvency for the Group most not be below 30%. 

Fairvalue adjustments of the biological assets shall not be included when calculating the EBITTDA in the 
above covenants. 

The Company has a 20 day grace period given a potential breach of the above covenants. 

8.11.7 Leasing arrangements 
The Company’s has no leasing arrangements/contracts at the date of the Prospectus. 
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8.11.8 Guarantees 
The Company has guarantees related to payment of import toll corresponding to approx DKK 1.5 million. In 
addition to this the Group has a guaranty of DKK 1.5 million for a ongoing development on one of the 
hatcheries and a guaranty of DKK 646.875 for purchase of smolt. 

The Company has not issued any guarantees other than the guarantees stated above. 

8.11.9 Changes in the financial structure or trading position 
There been no major changes in the financial structure or trading position of the Company subsequent to 31 
December 2009 other then described in section 8.8.23. 

8.11.10 Dividends 
Bakkafrost aims to give its shareholders a competitive return on their investment, both through payment of 
dividends from the company and by securing an increase in the value of the equity through positive 
operations. Generally, the company shall pay an annual dividend to its shareholders, but it is the 
responsibility of the Board of Directors to make an overall assessment in order to secure the company a 
healthy capital base, both for daily operations and for a healthy future growth of the company.  

Distribution of Dividends 2009 2008 2007 

Dividend per share DKK 4.54 1.67 1.67

Number of shares 2,991,789 2,991,789 2,991,789

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009, 2008 AND 2007 

The AGM which was held 15 February 2010 resolved that the proposed dividend was distributed to the 
shareholders after formal adoption of the merger. This means that dividends pr. share is calculated based 
on a share capital post-merger of DKK 3,963,853. Consequently dividends pr. Share is DKK 4.54. 

Bakkafrost has no restrictions on distribution of dividends. 

8.11.11 Legal and arbitration proceedings 
There have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings during the last 12 months, including any 
such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware. 

8.12 Financial risk management and use of financial instruments 

8.12.1 Foreign exchange risk 
In the short term the Company will primarily sell its products in DKK, EUR, USD, NOK and GBP and is 
therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk. In the future the Company may decide to utilize financial 
instruments to reduce such risks, for instance foreign exchange forward contracts and/or money market 
hedges. The Company does not carry any debt or other obligations in foreign currency. 

8.12.2 Interest rate risk 
The entire loan portfolio is at the moment based on floating rate contracts. The Company assesses on a 
running basis the need to enter into fixed interest rate contracts. 

8.12.3 Credit and Liquidity risk 
The Company has adopted a conservative financial policy. This implies a high equity ratio and a sufficient 
absolute level of equity relative to the projected cash flow required to meet the industrial ambitions. The 
equity provides a capacity for raising external debt. In the short term, the Company will maintain a 
conservative financial policy and hence employ a presumed low liquidity risk. This may however change in 
the future, both because of changes in the financial policy or because of operational issues. 

8.12.4 Fair value of financial instruments 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value due to the short period of time 
to maturity. The Company’s long-term financial assets and own long-term financial liabilities are measured 
at fair value. 

8.12.5 Use of financial instruments 
Bakkafrost most material contracts are measured in DKK 
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8.13 The Company’s Auditor 

Inpact was appointed as the Company’s auditor in 2006 (financial year ended 31 December 2006). The 
auditor’s address is: 

Sp/F Grannskoðaravirkið INPACT  

R. C. Effersøesgøta 26 

P.O. Box 191 

FO-110 Tórshavn 

The Faroe Islands 

Inpact is a member of The Institute of State Authorized Public Accountants in Denmark (Foreningen af 
Statsautoriserede Revisorer, FSR).  
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9 ORGANIZATION, BOARD AND MANAGEMENT, CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE  

9.1 Registered address and organization number 

The Company has its registered address at Bakkavegur 9, 625 Glyvrar, the Faroe Islands, and is registered 
with registration number 1724 in the Faroese Register of Companies.  

9.2 Board and executive management 

9.2.1 Description of the Board 
The table below sets forth the composition of the Company’s current Board. 

Name  Position Served since Term expires 

Rúni M Hansen Chairman 15.12.2009 2011/2012 

Johannes Jensen  Deputy Chairman 15.12.2009 2011/2012 

Trine Sæther Romuld Board Member 15.12.2009 2011/2012 

Annika Fredriksberg Board Member 19.02.2008 2011/2012 

Virgar Dahl Board Member 18.08.2006 2011/2012 

Odd Eliasen Board Member 18.08.2006 2011/2012 

SOURCE: COMPANY 

According to the Company’s articles of association, the members of the Board of Directors are elected for a 
period of 2 years. Members may be re-elected. At the ordinary general meeting in 2011, half of the 
members of the Board of Directors are up for election. The nomination decides which members shall be up 
for election at the ordinary general meeting in 2011 and members will thereafter be elected alternately. 

The Board is responsible for administering the Company’s affairs and for ensuring that the Company’s 
operations are organized in a satisfactory manner. 

The Company’s registered business address, Bakkavegur 9, 625 Glyvrar the Faroe Islands, serves as c/o 
address in relation for the Board members of the Company. 

9.2.1.1 Rúni M Hansen, Chairman of the Board 

Born 1967, MSc. In Economics and Business Administration, Copenhagen Business School, 1993 DBA, 
Lancaster University, The Management School, Lancaster UK, 1994. Statoil, member of Global Exploration 
management team for Europe and North Africa, 2007- Director for Statoil Faroes 2001- and Statoil 
Greenland 2008-.  Board member of Sp/f Vónin 1998-2008 (Chairman 2002-2008), P/f Føroya Banki 1999-
2006 (Vice Chairman 2003-2006), Chairman Sp/f Tjalldur 2006-2008, Chairman Sp/f Agat and Member of 
The Council of The Governmental Bank 2007-2012. 

Rúni M Hansen holds no shares in the Company. 

9.2.1.2 Johannes Jensen, Deputy Chairman of the Board 

Born 1962, MBA, Lancaster, Lancaster University 1998, Faroe Seafood 1987-2001, Marketing Director Faroe 
Seafood 1999-2001, Managing Director Hotel Føroyar, Board member in Effo,Coastzone, Framtak and Etika 
Holding. 

Johannes Jensen holds no shares in the Company. 

9.2.1.3 Trine Sæther Romuld, Board member 

Born 1968, State authorized auditor from NHH. Nine years of experience from Arthur Andersen & Co./Ernst 
& Young. Four years as Finance Manager for a drilling company. CFO in Pan Fish ASA/Marine Harvest ASA 
from 2003-2007. CFO in Aker Drilling ASA in 2007-2008. Executive Vice President in Aker ASA and CFO and 
Investment Director in Converto Capital Management 2009. Executive Vice President and CFO in Bjørge ASA 
from January 1 2010. Board director in Aker Seafoods ASA, Aker Floating Production ASA, and various 
subsidiaries of Bjørge ASA.  

Trine Sæther Romuld holds no shares in the Company. 
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9.2.1.4 Virgar Dahl, Board member 

Born 1958, Director of Marine Department in Tryggingarfelagið Føroyar. Board member of Føroya 
Realkreditstovnur. 

Virgar Dahl holds no shares in the Company. 

9.2.1.5 Odd Eliasen, Board member 

Born 1965, School teacher 1988 from Føroya Læraraskúla. Sales manager Havsbrún 1988-1995. Director 
Aqua department Havsbrún 1995-. Board director of Viking Seafood and Faroe Farming.. 

Odd Eliasen holds no shares in the Company. 

9.2.1.6 Annika Frederiksberg, Board member 

Born1971, Basic Vocational Course, Commercial Line, Faroese Business School 1988. Part of Bakkafrost 
administration team 1990-2008. Part of Bakkafrost sales team 2008-. Board member since 2008. 

Annika Frederiksberg holds no shares in the Company. 

9.2.2 Remuneration to the Board  
The remuneration of the members of the Board is determined annually by the annual general meeting of 
the Company. The Nomination Committee shall make a recommendation to the general meeting regarding 
the board’s salary. The annual general meeting in 2010 approved the board fees for the financial year 2009 
with DKK 96,000 to the Chairman and DKK 48,000 to each of the board members. Of the current board only 
the board members Vigrar Dahl, Odd Eliasen and Annika Frederiksberg were members of the board and 
received board remuneration in for all of 2009:  

DKK 2009 

 
 

Virgar Dahl 48,000 

Odd Eliasen 48,000 

Annika Frederiksberg 48,000 

SOURCE: COMPANY 

9.2.3 Additional services and remuneration to Board members 
DKK Position 2009 

 
  

Annika Frederiksberg Employee 414,277

SOURCE: COMPANY 

9.2.4 Independence from management and large shareholders 

9.2.4.1 Independence from large shareholders 

Odd Eliasen is Director of Feed department at Havsbrún, which is a larger shareholder in the Company.  

Annika Frederiksberg is the sister of Regin Jacobsen, managing director of Bakkafrost, which is also a larger 
shareholder of the Company.  

As far as the Company is aware none of the other board members have relations with larger shareholders of 
the Company that would involve that they shall not be considered independent of larger shareholders. 

9.2.4.2 Independence from management and material business connections 

Bakkafrost buys all its fish feed from Havsbrún, representing a value of DKK 242.9 mill DKK in 2009 
including Farming West and North. Accordingly Havsbrún must be considered a material business 
connection of the Company. Being Director of Feed department at Havsbrún, Odd Eliasen is not considered 
independent from executive management and material business contacts of the Company. Havsbrún is also 
a major shareholder in the Company, holding 16.9 % of the Shares. 

Annika Frederiksberg is the sister of the CEO. She is also an employee of the Company. Accordingly she is 
not considered independent from the Company’s management.  
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As far as the Company is aware none of the other board members have relations with the Company’s 
management or material business connections of the Company that would involve that they shall not be 
considered independent of larger shareholders. The Company does not consider Tryggingarfelagið Føroyar, 
an insurance company which provides insurances for a yearly amount of approximately DKK 7 million to the 
Company, and where Virgar Dahl holds the position as Director of Marine Department, to be a material 
business contact of the Company.  Tryggingarfelagið Føroyar also has shareholder interest in the company 
through its subsidiary T.F. Holding, holding 5.7 % if the Shares. 

9.2.5 Board members shareholdings and options 
None of the Board members hold any shares, options or other rights to purchase or subscribe shares in the 
Company. There exists no share option program for the Board. 

9.3 Management and Key Employees 

9.3.1 Organisationchart 
The organisation chart below shows the structure of the Company’s organization. 

CEO
Regin Jacobsen

Manager
Fresh water

division
Leif Av Reyni

Manager
Farming  division

Jón Purkhús

Manager Harvest
Andrias Petersen

Manager VAP
Kári Jacobsen

Manager Sales
Frederik Hansen

Quality manager VAP
Sunrid Nielsen

CFO
Teitur Samuelsen

Quality manager
Farming

Anna Johansen

 

9.3.2 Executive Management 
As at the date of publication of this Prospectus, the Company’s management comprises the following 
members: 

9.3.2.1  Regin Jacobsen, Chief Executive Officer 

Regin Jacobsen (born 1966) has been the CEO of Bakkafrost since 1989. Mr. Jacobsen is educated at 
Aarhus School of Business, Graduate Diploma, The diploma in business administration and Accounting (HD-
R). From 1982 to 1988 Mr. Jacobsen was accounting manager of the former P/f Bakkafrost and from 1988 
until 2006 he held the position as Managing director of the former P/f Bakkafrost. 

9.3.2.2 Teitur Samuelsen, Chief Financial Officer, 

Teitur Samuelsen (born 1972) was appointed CFO of Bakkafrost in December 2009. He holds a BA in 
Business Economics and an MSc in Business Economics & Auditing from Copenhagen Business School. Mr. 
Samuelsen has previously worked for Dong Energy E&P A/S as licence controller and he was CFO in Atlantic 
Petroleum from 2005 to 2009. 

9.3.2.3 Frederik Hansen, Sales manager 

Frederik Hansen (born 1973) has been sales Manager of Bakkafrost since 2007. He was educated at Føroya 
Sjómannaskúla as Captain in 1997. From 1997-2000 he was sailor as navigator and Captain. From 2000 to 
2006 he was department leader of Faroe Ships operations in various places, both in Faroe Islands and 
abroad. From 2006 he was sales Manager in Faroe Ship. 
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9.3.2.4 Kári Jacobsen, Manager VAP production and processing 

Kári Jacobsen (born 1963) has been Manager VAP production and processing since 2008. He is educated at 
Statens Fagskole for Fiskeindustri Vardø (1982/ 1983).  Kári Jacobsen was Production manager for Tavan 
from 1984 to 1994 and from 1999 to 2008. Kári Jacobsen was Production manager in Faroe Seafood from 
1994 to 1998. He is a board member of Runavíkar Kommuna and SEV.  

9.3.2.5 Jón Purkhús, Manager Farming 

Jón Purkhús (born 1958) has been Manager Farming since 2006. Mr, Purkhús has extensive experience 
from the salmon farming industry as he founded and has been director of Bakkafrost Farming North since 
1988. 
 
Jón Purkhús is managing director in JH Holding which holds approximately 1.32 % of the shares in 
Bakkafrost. 

9.3.2.6 Andrias Petersen, Manager Harvest 

Mr Andrias Petersen holds a B.Sc. in Chemical Engineering from the technical university of Denmark (2001) 
and has since completed courses in general-, project- and quality management. 2002-2008 he worked with 
the Faroese Food- Veterinary- and environmental agency in positions as official supervisor, quality manager 
and head of the department of fish health, where he obtained a good knowledge of the Faroese fish farming 
industry. Mr. Andrias Petersen has been production manager at Vestsalmon since 2008  

9.3.2.7 Leif av Reyni, Manager Fresh Water 

Leif av Reyni is Candidate (B.Sc.) in Aquaculture, Høgskolen i Sogndal, Norway (1999-2002) and  M.Sc. in 
Aquaculture, Stirling University, Scotland (2002-2003). From 2003-2004 he worked for Vestlax at two of 
their sea sites in Vestmanna and Veðranes, farming salmon and trout. From 2004-2005 Mr Leif av Reyni 
worked as project manager for the local Aquaculture Research Station in the Faroe Islands. Since 2005 he 
has been Production manager at Vestlax and responsible for sea sites and hatcheries. Since 2006 he has 
been on the board of the Faroese Aquaculture Research Station. 

**** 

The Company’s registered business address, Bakkavegur 9, 625 Glyvrar, the Faroe Islands, serves as c/o 
address in relation for the Executive Management of the Company. 

9.3.3 Compensation to executive management 
The table below sets forth the compensation to the executive management in 2009. 

Name  Position Annual Salary 
(DKK) 

Annual Bonus 
(DKK) 

Pensions  
(DKK) 

Regin Jacobsen CEO 943,958 0 30,000

Teitur Samuelsen9 CFO 72,573 0 0

Frederik Hansen Sales Manager 469,746 0 61,200

Kári Jacobsen Manager VAP 509,112 0 50,603

Jón Purkhús Manager Farming 630,898 0 52,811

Andreas Petersen Manager Harvest 522,522 0 46,332

Leif av Reyni Manager Fresh Water 619,958 0 54,945

SOURCE: ANNUAL REPORT 2009 

                                                                  
9 TEITUR SAMUELSEN WAS EMPLOYED IN THE COMPANY FROM DECEMBER 2009. 
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9.3.4 Management Shareholdings and options 
The table below sets forth information concerning ownership of the Company’s Shares and options held, as 
of the date of this Prospectus, by each of the executive management. 

Name Position Number of shares % ownership Options 

Regin Jacobsen CEO 4,953,717 10.71 % 0

Teitur Samuelsen CFO 0 0% 0

Frederik Hansen  Sales manager 0 0% 0

Kári Jacobsen Manager VAP 0 0% 0

Jón Purkhús Manager Farming 610,887* 1.32% 0

Andrias Petersen Manager Harvest 0 0% 0

Leif av Reyni Manager Fresh Water 0 0% 0

*The Shares are held by JH Holding. Jón Purkhús is managing director and owns 50% of the shares in JH 
Holding. 

No member of the Management has purchased any shares in the Company during the last 12 months.  

9.4 Loans or guarantees  

The Company has no outstanding loans or guarantees to any member of the executive management or the 
Board. 

9.5 Severance pay etc 

The CEO, Regin Jacobsen has a 2 year notice period with salary. 

Other than as stated above, no members of the executive management or the Board have service contracts 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries that provide for benefits upon termination of employment. 

9.6 Incentive programs 

The Company does not have any incentive programs.  

9.7 Shares Acquired by Members of the Management and the Board  

None of the members of the executive management or the Board has acquired shares in the Company the 
past year. 

9.8 Conflicts of interest, etc. 

Odd Eliasen is Director of Feed department at Havsbrún, which Bakkafrost buys most its fish feed from, 
representing a value of DKK 242.9 mill DKK in 2009 for both Farming West and Farming North.  

Mr. Dahl holds the position as Director of Marine Department in Tryggingarfelagið Føroyar, an insurance 
company that delivers insurances to the Company. All such insurances are on standard terms. The annual 
premium for these insurances is approximately DKK 7 million for the merged company. 

Annika Frederiksberg is the sister of the CEO. She is also an employee of the Company. 

A conflict of interest could arise for these board members in connection with the above mentioned relations. 
In order to avoid conflicts of interest influencing the board’s decisions, the Company has implemented board 
guidelines that will disqualify a board member for taking part in the discussion or decision of issues which 
are of such special importance to such Board member or to any related person that he/she must be 
regarded as having a major personal or financial special interest in the matter. 

The Faroese Company Act also stipulates that a board member or a member of the management shall not 
take part in any decision regarding matters which put him/her in conflict with the company’s interests. 

Other than what has been described above, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties 
to the Company the members of the executive management or the Board, and their private interests or 
other duties. 

During the last five years preceding the date of the Prospectus none of the members of the executive 
management or the Board have been associated with any bankruptcies, receiverships, or liquidations for the 
last five years. None of the members of the executive management or the Board have been subject to any 
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official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated 
professional bodies), or been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory body of an issuer or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of 
any issuer, or convicted of any fraudulent offences. 

There is no arrangement or understanding with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others, 
pursuant to which any member of the executive management or the Board has been selected. 

9.9 Directorships and positions  

Over the five years preceding the date of this Prospectus, the members of the executive management and 
the Board hold or have held the following directorships (apart from their directorships of the Company) and 
leading positions: 

Name and position Current positions Positions previous five years 

Regin Jacobsen,  

CEO 

Board member: 
Salmon Proteins 

 

Board member: P/f Fiskaaling, P/f 
Skálafjarðartunnilin, IRF, City 
council, Runavíkar Kommuna 

Management: Director P/f 
21.12.1992, P/f Føroya Kassasøla 

Teitur Samuelsen,  

CFO 

 Board member Atlantic Petroleum 
UK Ltd and Atlantic Petroleum 
(Ireland) Limited 

Frederik Hansen,  

Sales manager 

  

Kári Jacobsen,  

Manager VAP 

City council, Runavíkar Kommuna 

Board member: SEV, Hitaorkufelagið 

 

Jón Purkhús,  

Manager Farming 

  

Andrias Petersen, 

Manager Harvest 

Board member: Salmon Proteins  

Leif av Reyni,  

Manager Fresh Water 

Board member: Fiskaaling  

Runi M Hansen,  

Chairman of the Board 

Board Member: 

Statoil Færøyene as 

Statoil Greenland as 

Sp/f Agat 

Board Member: P/f Føroya Banki 
(2006), P/f Vónin (2008), P/f 
Tjaldur (2006-2008 Chairman)  

 

Management: Statoil ASA| 

Trine Sæther Romuld,  

Board member 

Executive Vice President and CFO Bjørge ASA 

Board member in Aker Seafoods ASA, Aker 
Floating Production ASA and various 
subsidiaries of Bjørge ASA 

Board member: DnBNOR ASA, 
EMGS ASA, Technor ASA, Aker 
Drilling ASA, Aker Drilling Services 
AS, Aker Drilling Operations AS and 
Barents Base AS. 

Management: CFO & Investment 
Director Converto Capital 
Management AS, Aker ASA, Aker 
Drilling ASA, Marine Harvest ASA 
(Pan Fish ASA) 

Johannes Jensen, 

Board member 

Board Member: Effo pf., Frost pf., Coastzone 
spf., Bakkafrost pf. 

 

Management: Hotel Føroyar pf., Dvøl spf., 
etika holding pf. 

Board member: 

Effo pf., Frost pf., Coastzone spf., 
Framtak, etika holding pf., Faroe 
Seafood pf. 
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Odd Eliasen 

Board member 

Director Aqua department Havsbrún 1995-. 

Board director of Viking Seafood and Faroe 
Farming. 

 

Virgar Dahl,  

Board member 

Board Member: Faroe Cod Farm P/F 

Management: Director of Marine Department in 
Tryggingarfelagið Føroyar,  

Management: Føroya 
Realkreditstovnur 

 

Annika Frederiksberg, 

Board member 

None None 

 

9.10 Nomination Committee 

According to its Articles of Associations the Company shall have a Nomination Committee. The Nomination 
Committee consists of 3 - 5 members. The members of the Nomination Committee, including the 
Committee Chairman are elected by the general meeting. Members of the Nomination Committee serve for 
two year periods. 

At the extraordinary general meeting on 15 December 2009 the following members were elected to the 
nomination committee: 

Gunnar í Liða (representing TF Holding). 

Hans Jacobsen (representing Hans Jacobsen) 

Bergur Poulsen (representing Havsbrún) 

Tummas Eliasen (representing the Royndin Investment Company) 

Helge Moen (representing Kverva) 

9.11 Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is a subcommittee of the Board of Directors. The members of the Audit Committee 
shall be elected from among Board Members by the Board of Directors. At least one of the members shall 
be independent from the business and have accounting expertise. 

The Board of Directors have nominated the following members to the Audit Committee, which will hold the 
position until the ordinary general meeting, which will be held in 2011: 

Rúni M Hansen, chairman 

Trine Sæther Romuld and 

Johannes Jensen 

9.12  Employees  

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Company has 514 full-time employees (post-merger). The table below 
illustrates the development in number of employees over the last three years, as per the end of each 
calendar year from 2007 to 2009 and as of date of this Prospectus. 

 2007 2008 2009 

Farming 101 129 135

Primary processing  120 135 135

VAP 114 168 165

Administration and sales 10 13 15

Total 345 445 450

9.13 Pensions and other obligations 

The Company does not have any accrued pension commitments in respect of the executive management as 
of 31 December 2009. The cost related to payments into pension schemes are included in the salary cost 
ref section 9.3.3. None of the members of the Board is entitled to any pension benefits from the Company. 
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9.14 Corporate Governance 

The Company is in compliance with the Norwegian corporate governance regime, as detailed in the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, published on 21 October 2009 by the Norwegian 
Corporate Governance Board (the “Code of Practice”). 

The Company’s principles for corporate governance correspond with the Code of Practice apart from that 
the board holds an authorisation to issue shares which have not been restricted to a defined purpose. 
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10 SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL  

10.1 Share capital and shares 

The issued share capital of the Company is DKK 46,250,000 comprising of 46,250,000 Shares fully paid 
with a par value of DKK 1 and issued in accordance with Faroese law.  

The shares of the Company may be freely transferred. No shares have any special rights. No restrictions 
apply with regard to sale or any other transition of shares.  

The Shares are registered in the VPS which maintains the Company’s share register. The Shares are 
registered with ISIN NO: FO0000000179. The share registry of the company is kept by Nordea Bank Norge 
ASA. 

The shares of the Company are registered in the share registry by name.  

The Shares are equal in all respects and each Share carry one vote at the Company’s general meeting. 

10.2 Historical development in share capital and number of Shares 

The Company’s share capital per 1 January 2007 was DKK 2,991,789 each with a par value of DKK 1 or 
multiples hereof. The Company had issued 67 shares, each with par values ranging from DKK 1,000 to DKK 
1,000,000. Each par value of DKK 1 carried one vote. 

The development of the Company’s share capital from 1 January 2007 is shown in the table below.  

Year Type of change 
in share capital 

Change in 
issued 
share 
capital 

Change in 
number of 

shares 

Par value 
per share 

(DKK) 

Total issued 
share capital 

(DKK) 

 

Total number 
of issued 
shares 

following 
change 

2007 IB 1. Jan  1,000-
1,000,000 

2,991,789 67

2010 Change nominal 
value 

 1 2,991,789 2,991,789

2010 Issue Merger 972,064 972,064 1 3,963,853 3,963,853

2010 Equity Issue/ 
Share split 

42,286,147 42,286,147 1 46,250,000 46,250,000

SOURCE: COMPANY 

In the period from 1 January 2007 to the date of this Prospectus the Company has issued shares against 
contribution in kind for more than 10 % of its share capital in connection with the Merger with P/f Vestlax 
ref section 13.5 ”Material Contracts”. The shareholders in P/f Vestlax Holding received a total of 972,064 
share in P/f Bakkafrost as part of the settlement in the merger, approved on the AGM the 15 February 2010 

10.3 Authorisation to issue Shares 

The Board of Directors of the company are authorised in one or several rounds to increase the share capital 
of the company with a nominal amount of DKK 3,750,000. The resolution from the General Meeting held on 
15 February 2010 stated that “The increase in the Share capital of DKK 3,750,000 will not be subject to any 
rights posessed by existing shareholders. The Board of Directors will decide on the allocation of the New 
Shares. ” The purpose of the increase in share capital shall be to strengthen and adjust the financial basis of 
the company. The New Shares shall be registered by name (navneaktier) and comply with the rules in § 4 
of the company’s articles of association. The Board of Directors are authorised to alter the pre-emptive right 
of the current share holders to subscribe any new share capital. The New Shares shall have a nominal value 
of DKK 1. The New Shares shall be subscribed against cash payment. The authorisation of the Board of 
Directors to increase the share capital is in force until the next ordinary general meeting, which will be held 
in 2011. All or parts of the authorisation will be used to issue the New Shares in the Offering. 

10.4 Authorisation to purchase own Shares 

The Board of Directors of the company is authorised to buy own shares on behalf of the Company for a total 
nominal value of up to DKK 5,000,000. Purchasing of own shares shall be conducted to the official rate of 
the shares, but the Board of Directors may in special circumstances deviate from the official course with up 
to 10 %. The authorisation is valid until the next ordinary general meeting in the Company. 
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The company currently holds 918,384 own shares, corresponding to a par value of 918,384. 

10.5 Rights to acquire Shares 

The Company has not issued any convertible securities, exchangeable securities, securities with warrants, 
subscription rights, options or any other securities or rights giving anyone the right to acquire or subscribe 
Shares through utilisation of such rights. The Company has not granted any employees or others options to 
subscribe for Shares in the Company. 

10.6 Ownership structure 

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Company had 15 shareholders of whom 14 were Faroese and 1 were 
Norwegian. The table below shows all the shareholders of the Company as registered in the VPS: 

  Shareholder  No. Shares  % Ownership: 

1 P/f Føroya Banki 15,568,136  33.66%

2 Havsbrún 7,806,540  16.88%

3 Hans Jacobsen 5,519,437 11.93%

4 Regin Jacobsen 4,953,717 10.71%

5 T.F Holding 2,644,095 5.72%

6 Kverva AS 2,533,052 5.48%

7 Íløgufelagið Royndin 2,010,830 4.35%

8 Framtak 1,377,575 2.98%

9 P/f Bakkafrost 918,384 1.99%

10 Norðoya Íløgufelag 816,943 1.77%

11 JH Holding 610,887  1.32%

12 Katrin D. Jacobsen 545,441 1.18%

13 Sp/f Hjallur 420,384 0.91%

14 Rogvi Jacobsen 350,038  0.76%

15 L.G.S 174,541  0.38%

Total  46,250,000 100.00%

 

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the Company’s share capital which is 
notifyable pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. Please refer to Section 11.8 “Disclosure 
Obligations” for a description of the disclosure obligations under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. As of 
the date of this Prospectus P/f Føroya Banki, P/f Havsbrún, Hans Jacobsen and Regin Jacobsen owned 
33.7%, 16.9%, 11.9% and 10.7% respectively, of the Shares. The Company is not aware of any other 
persons or entities that, directly or indirectly, have an interest in 5% or more of the Shares. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, and insofar as is known to the Company, there are no persons or entities 
who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise or could exercise control over the Company, and the 
Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a 
change of control of the Company. 

The Company’s Articles of Association do not contain any provisions that would have the effect of delaying, 
deferring or preventing a change of control of the Company.  

The Shares have not been subject to any public takeover bids during 2009 or 2010. 

10.7 Limitations on the right to own and transfer Shares 

The Shares are freely transferable. The Company’s Articles of Association do not contain any provisions 
imposing limitations on the ownership of the Shares and there are no limitations under Faroese law on the 
rights of non-residents or foreign owners to hold or vote for the Shares.  

The Faroese Fish Farming Act contains a requirement that no more than 50 % of all Faroese salmon farming 
licences shall be controlled directly or indirectly by one person and such person’s related parties. ref. section 
13.3.  The company shall therefore notify the Faroese Government of all important transfer of shares and 
the company is obligated to inform the Faroese Government of the names of all shareholders, if the 
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Government so requires. The Faroese Government may order the company to alter the ownership of the 
company, if the Government considers the ownership to be contrary to the rule that no individual person or 
company may hold more than 50% of the Faroese licenses. 

10.8 Share registrar and securities number 

The Registrar for the Shares is Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Middelthunsgate 17, Oslo, Norway. 

10.9 Dividend policy 

The Company aims to give its shareholders a competitive return on their investment, both through payment 
of dividends from the Company and by securing an increase in the value of the equity through positive 
operations. Generally, the company shall pay dividends to its shareholders, but it is the responsibility of the 
Board of Directors to make an overall assessment in order to secure the company a healthy capital base, 
both for daily operations and for a healthy future growth of the company.  

10.10  Shareholder agreements 

The Company is not aware of any shareholder agreements in respect of the Shares which will be in force at 
the time of listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs. 
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10.11  Transactions with related parties 

Some of the shareholders in Bakkafrost also conducts business with the Company. All the agreements 
between the companies are based on ”arm’s lenght” prices and conditions. There are no terms or conditions 
regarding exclusitivity or fixed prices.  There are no material agreements between the Company and other 
companies in the Group or agreements between related parties, which could be regarded as unusual. 

Since 2007 the Company has been party to the following related party transactions: 

2007   

Related Party Description of transaction DKK million 

Havsbrún Purchase of fish feed 95.7

 Sale of transportation of feed 1.0

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -14.9

Føroya Banki Interest paid 10.6

 Net Balance (Interest bearing debt and accounts receivables) -201.1

2008   

Related Party Description of transaction DKK million 

Havsbrun Purchase of fish feed 148.7

 Sale of transportation of feed 2.3

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -27.3

Føroya Banki Interest paid 15.7

 Net Balance (Interest bearing debt and accounts receivables) -104.3

2009   

Related Party Description of transaction DKK million 

Havsbrún Purchase of fish feed 151.0

 Sale of transportation of feed 2.3

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -15,0

Føroya Banki Interest paid 5.6

 Net Balance (Interest bearing debt and accounts receivables) -11.1

YTD   

Related Party Description of transaction DKK million 

Havsbrún Purchase of fish feed 23.1

 Sale of transportation of feed 0.1

 Net Balance: Accounts Payables -24,1

Føroya Banki Interest paid 1.2

 Interest bearing debt 89.2

 Other Receivables 21.5

 

Bakkafrost buys all its fish feed from Havsbrún, representing a value of DKK 151 mill DKK in 2009 
(Bakkafrost not including Vestlax). The feed contracts are renewed on a 3 month basis and based on 
market prices. 

Føroya Banki has been the main bank for the Company during the last years. As of the date of the 
Prospectus, Føroya Banki has agreed to a new bank facility ref section 8.11.6 ”Borrowings”. The new bank 
facility is on market terms.  

Føroya Banki is Manager in the transaction ref section 0 ”Managers” and receives a fee based on market 
terms ref section 5.23 ”Expenses and net proceeds”. 
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11 SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND RELEVANT COMPANY AND 
SECURITIES LAW 

11.1 General Meeting 

According to the Faroese Public Companies Act, a company’s shareholders are to exercise supreme 
authority in the company through the General Meeting. A shareholder may attend the General Meeting 
either in person or by proxy. In accordance with the Faroese Public Companies Act, the Annual General 
Meeting of the company shall be held each year in such time that the annual report may be sent to the 
Company Registry within the deadline in the Act on Annual Accounts, which deadline is 4 months from the 
end of the company’s fiscal year. The following business must be discussed and decided at the Annual 
General Meeting: 

approval of the annual report, including the distribution of any profits or losses according to the annual 
report; and  

any other business required to be discussed at the General Meeting in accordance with the company’s 
Articles of Association. 

The Faroese Public Companies Act requires that General Meetings shall be convened with a deadline not 
longer than 4 weeks and not shorter than 8 days; unless a company’s Articles of Association stipulate a 
longer period. According to section 73(3) of the Faroese Public Companies Act, a listed company shall send 
proxy forms in either a written or an electronic format to its shareholders for the General Meetings. The 
notice, convening the General Meeting, shall contain a description of the size of the share capital and the 
voting rights. A shareholder is entitled to submit proposals to be discussed in a general meeting provided 
that the proposals are submitted in writing to the Board of Directors in such good time that the proposals 
may be included in the agenda for the meeting. Further, a shareholder is entitled to table draft resolutions 
for items included on the agenda for the general meeting. In addition to the Annual General Meeting,  

Extraordinary General Meetings of shareholders may be held if deemed necessary by the company’s Board 
of Directors. An Extraordinary General Meeting must also be convened for the consideration of specific 
matters at the written request of shareholders representing a total of at least 10% of the share capital or a 
possible lower limit prescribed by the company’s Articles of Association, or upon the request of the 
company’s accountant. 

11.2 Voting Rights 

According to the Faroese Public Companies Act, each share in a public limited company shall have voting 
rights. The Articles of Association of a company may provide for some shares having higher voting value, 
however not more than 10 times the voting value of any other share of the same nominal value.  

No voting rights can be exercised with respect to treasury shares (own shares) held by a company. 

Decisions that shareholders are entitled to make under the Faroese Public Companies Act or the company’s 
Articles of Association are made by a simple majority of the votes cast, unless otherwise provided by the 
Public Companies Act or the Articles of Association. In the case of elections, the persons who obtain the 
most votes cast are elected and if two persons obtain the same number of votes, elections are decided by 
lot. However, certain decisions, including but not limited to resolutions to: 

amend the company’s Articles of Associations, 

authorize an increase or reduction of the company’s share capital, 

waive preferential rights in connection with any share issue, 

approve a merger or demerger, and 

must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast at the General 
Meeting, as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the Meeting 

Faroese law further requires that certain decisions, which have the effect of substantially altering the rights 
and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval of the holders of such shares or class 
of shares as well as the majority required for amendments to the Articles of Association. There are no 
quorum requirements for the General Meeting. 

11.3 Amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association 

The affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes cast at a General Meeting as well as at least two-thirds of the 
share capital represented at the meeting is required to amend the company’s Articles of Association. Certain 
types of changes in the rights of the company’s shareholders require the consent of all shareholders or 90% 
of the votes cast at a General Meeting. As examples of decisions which would be covered by this rule, the 
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following can be mentioned: Decisions which have as a consequence that the right of the shareholders to 
dividends or distribution of the assets of the company are reduced in favour of parties not holding shares in 
the company, that the transferability of the shares is reduced or that the voting rights of the shareholders 
are restricted. 

11.4 Additional issuances and preferential rights 

If a public limited company issues any new shares, including bonus share issues (involving the issuance of 
new shares by a transfer from the Company’s share premium reserve or distributable equity to the share 
capital), the Articles of Associations must be amended, which requires a two-thirds majority of the votes 
cast and the share capital represented at a General Meeting of shareholders. 

In connection with an increase in the company’s share capital by a subscription for shares against cash 
contributions, Faroese law provides the company’s shareholders with a preferential right to subscribe for the 
new shares on a pro rata basis in accordance with their then-current shareholdings in the company. The 
preferential rights to subscribe to an issue may be waived by a resolution in a General Meeting passed by a 
two-thirds majority of the votes cast at a General Meeting as well as two-thirds of the share capital 
represented at the meeting. 

The Articles of Association of a Company may authorize the Board of Directors to issue new shares. Such 
authorization may be effective for a maximum of five years. To issue shares to shareholders who are 
citizens or residents of the United States upon the exercise of preferential rights, the Company may be 
required to file a registration statement in the United States under U.S. securities laws. If the Company 
decides not to file a registration statement, these holders may not be able to exercise their preferential 
rights. 

11.5 Minority Rights 

The Faroese Public Companies Act contains a number of protections for minority shareholders against 
oppression by the majority, including but not limited to those described in this and preceding sections. Any 
shareholder may petition the courts to have a decision of the company’s Board of Directors or General 
Meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain shareholders or third parties to 
the detriment of other shareholders or the company itself. Shareholders holding in the aggregate 10% or 
more of a public limited company’s share capital have a right to demand that the company holds an 
Extraordinary General Meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In addition, any shareholder may 
demand that the company places an item on the agenda for any General Meeting if the company is notified 
in time for such item to be included in the notice of the Meeting. 

11.6 Mandatory offer requirements  

Mandatory offer requirements in compliance with EU’s Take-Over-Directive (Directive 2004/25/EF) were 
implemented in Norway in the Securities Trading Act (Act of 29 June 2007 No 75) Chapter 6, which came 
into force on 1 January 2008. Norwegian law requires any person, entity or group acting in concert that 
acquires shares representing more than 1/3 of the voting rights of a company primary listed on Oslo Børs to 
make an unconditional general offer for the purchase of the remaining shares in the company. A mandatory 
offer obligation may also be triggered where a party acquires the right to become the owner of shares which 
together with the party’s own shareholding represent more than 1/3 of the voting rights in the company 
and Oslo Børs decides that this must be regarded as an effective acquisition of the shares in question. The 
obligation applies to ownership in Norwegian and certain non-Norwegian companies listed on Oslo Børs (or 
other Norwegian regulated market), including Bakkafrost, being a company registered in the Faroe Islands. 

The mandatory offer is subject to approval by Oslo Børs before submission to the shareholders. The offer 
price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed to be paid by the offeror in the 
six-month period prior to the date the 1/3 threshold was exceeded, but equal to the market price if the 
market price was higher when the 1/3 threshold was exceeded. In the event that the acquirer thereafter, 
but prior to the expiration of the bid period acquires, or agrees to acquire, additional shares at a higher 
price, the acquirer is obliged to restate its bid at that higher price. 

A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative at least equivalent to any other 
consideration offered. To the effect that the shareholder when the 1/3 threshold was crossed has stated 
that sale of shares will take place, the shareholder can reduce the ownership to a level below 1/3 within 4 
weeks and avoid the mandatory offer obligation. Otherwise, Oslo Børs may cause the shares exceeding the 
1/3 limit to be sold. Until the mandatory bid is made or the shares exceeding the 1/3 threshold are sold, the 
shareholder may not vote for shares exceeding the 1/3 threshold, unless a majority of the remaining 
shareholders approve. The shareholder can, however, exercise the right to dividends and pre-emption rights 
in the event of a share capital increase. Oslo Børs may impose a daily fine on a shareholder who fails to 
make the required offer or sell down below 1/3. 
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A shareholder or consolidated group who owns shares representing more than 1/3 of the votes in a 
company listed on Oslo Børs, and who has not previously made an offer for the remaining shares in the 
company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to make a mandatory 
offer in the event of a subsequent acquisition of shares in the company. 

A shareholder who represents more than 1/3 of the votes in a company listed on Oslo Børs is obliged to 
make an offer to purchase the remaining shares of the company (repeated offer obligation) where the 
shareholder through acquisition becomes the owner of shares representing 40% or more of the votes in the 
company. The same applies correspondingly where the shareholder through acquisition becomes the owner 
of shares representing 50% or more of the votes in the company. The mandatory offer obligation ceases to 
apply if the shareholder sells the portion of the shares which exceeds the relevant threshold within four 
weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered. 

Faroese mandatory offer rules are not applicable on the Company’s shares. 

The Company has not received any takeover bids or bids to acquire controlling interest during the last 12 
months. 

11.7 Compulsory Acquisition 

If a shareholder holds shares representing more than 90 per cent of the total number of issued shares and 
an equivalent part of the voting rights, then such majority shareholder would have the right to decide 
together with the company’s Board of Directors, that a compulsory acquisition of any shares, not already 
owned by such majority shareholder, should be executed. Furthermore, each remaining minority 
shareholder of the Company would have the right to require such majority shareholder to acquire his 
shares.  

If a compulsory acquisition is to be executed, the shareholders whose shares are the subject of acquisition 
shall receive a request to sell their shares, such request to be sent according to the rules regulating the 
convening of general meetings and the deadline shall be 4 weeks. 

The acquirer shall in the request supply information regarding the terms of the offer. If the minority 
shareholder cannot accept the specified price, he may require that the value of the shares is assessed. If 
the shares have not been transferred to the acquirer at the end of the deadline specified in the notice, the 
acquirer shall immediately deposit an amount in favour of the relevant shareholders, corresponding to the 
value of the relevant shares. Simultaneously the shares, which have been issued for the redeemed shares, 
are deemed annulled. The board sees to it that new shares are endorsed, stating that they replace the 
shares which have been redeemed. 

In the notice it shall be stated that if agreement is not reached on the price, the price shall be decided by 
appraisers nominated by the Court according to the Faroese Public Companies Act. 

11.8 Disclosure Obligations 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a person, entity or group acting in consent that acquire 
or disposes shares or rights to shares, i.e. convertible loans, subscription rights, options on the purchase of 
shares and similar rights to shares, which results beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, in the 
aggregate, reaching or exceeding or falling below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 
1/3, 50%, 2/3 or 90% of the share capital or a corresponding portion of the votes is obligated to notify Oslo 
Børs immediately. Certain voting rights are counted on equal basis as shares and rights to shares. A change 
in ownership level due to other circumstances (i.e. other than acquisition or disposal) can also trigger the 
notification obligations when the said thresholds are passed, e.g. changes in the company’s share capital. 

According to the Faroese Public Companies Act, a shareholder shall notify the company if he holds shares 
corresponding to at least 5 % of the voting rights of the Company or if the nominal value of his shares 
corresponds to at least 5 % of the share capital. The same duty of notification applies when a change in 
ownership means that limits of 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 50, 90 or 100 % are reached or limits of one third or two 
thirds of the voting rights are reached or no longer reached. Further a shareholder shall publish information 
in connection with shareholder agreements, which may influence the free transferability of the shares, or 
which may have a major influence on the stock value of the shares. 

11.9 Rights of redemption and repurchase of shares 

A public limited company may issue redeemable shares (i.e., shares redeemable without the shareholder’s 
consent), but this is not common practice. The company’s share capital may be reduced by reducing the par 
value of the shares. Such decision requires the approval of two-thirds of the votes cast at a General Meeting 
as well as two-thirds of the aggregate share capital present in the General Meeting. Redemption of 
individual shares requires the consent of the holders of the shares to be redeemed. 
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A public limited company may purchase its own shares if an authorisation for the Board of Directors of the 
company to do so has been given by the shareholders at a General Meeting. The authorisation may only be 
given for a specific period, which cannot exceed 18 months. 

The aggregate nominal value of treasury shares so acquired and held by the company is not permitted to 
exceed 10% of the company’s share capital, and treasury shares may only be acquired to the extent that 
the company’s equity exceeds the amount, which cannot be used for dividends. 

11.10  Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations 

A decision to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution of the company’s 
shareholders at a General Meeting passed by two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast, as well as two-thirds 
of the aggregate share capital represented, at the General Meeting. 

A merger plan or de-merger plan signed by the company’s Board of Directors along with certain other 
required documentation shall be sent to the Faroese Register of Business Enterprises not later than 4 weeks 
after the signing of the merger plan. The receipt by the Faroese Register of Business Enterprises of the plan 
will be published. A final merger may at the earliest be adopted 4 weeks after the publication by the 
Company Registration Authority of the merger. 

11.11  Distribution of dividends 

Amounts which in the latest annual accounts of the company have been designated as profits and reserves 
less accumulated losses may be distributed as dividends. 

According to the Faroese Public Limited Companies Act, there is no time limit after which entitlement to 
dividends lapses, but an entitlement to dividends must be expected to be barred after 5 years according to 
general rules regulating statute of limitations. 

The Articles of Association of Faroese companies often also contain stipulations, stating that entitlement to 
dividends, which have not been claimed within a certain deadline, lapse. Further, there are no dividend 
restrictions or specific procedures for non-Faroese resident shareholders in the Act. For a description of 
withholding tax on dividends that is applicable to non-Norwegian residents see section 12.1.2. 

11.12  Distribution of assets on liquidation  

According to the Faroese Public Limited Companies Act, a company may be wound-up by a resolution of the 
company’s shareholders in a General Meeting passed by the same vote as required with respect to 
amendments to the Articles of Association. The shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital by 
the company upon a winding-up or otherwise. 

11.13  Liability of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer 

The Board of Directors and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and 
thereby to its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires that the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer act in the Company’s best interests when exercising their functions and exercise a 
general duty of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests of 
the Company. 

Members of Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer may each be held liable for any damage they 
negligently or wilfully cause to the Company. 

Faroese law permits the general meeting to exempt any such person from liability, but the exemption is not 
binding unless substantially correct and complete information was provided to the general meeting passing 
the resolution.  

If a resolution to grant such exemption from liability or not to pursue claims against any such person has 
been objected at the relevant general meeting by shareholders representing at least 10% of the share 
capital, any shareholder may pursue the claim in favour of the Company. The cost of any such action is not 
the responsibility of the Company, but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company receives as a 
result of the action. 

A resolution by the general meeting to exempt the directors or the Chief Executive Officer from liability does 
not protect the directors or the Chief Executive Officer from a claim or a lawsuit filed by a third party other 
than a shareholder, for example a creditor. 

11.14  Nominee registration in the VPS 

Under Norwegian law shares are registered in the VPS in the name of the owner of the shares. As a general 
rule, there are no arrangements for nominee registration in the VPS. However, shares may be registered in 
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the VPS by a fund manager (bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance, as the 
nominee of foreign shareholders. An approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide information on 
demand about beneficial shareholders to the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In the case of 
registration by nominees, registration with the VPS must show that the registered owner is a nominee. A 
registered nominee has the right to receive dividends and other distributions but cannot vote at general 
meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. Beneficial owners must register with the VPS or provide other 
sufficient proof of their ownership to the shares in order to vote at general meetings. 

11.15  The Articles of Association 

The following is a summary of provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association as of the date of this 
Prospectus. A complete copy of the Company’s Articles of Association is attached to this Prospectus as 
Appendix 1. 

The Company is a Public Limited Company, domiciled at Glyvrar, Faroe Islands with the purpose of holding 
shares in other companies, fish farming activates, trade and any business related to these activities. 

The share capital of the company is DKK 46,250,000 divided on 46,250,000 Shares each of par value of 
DKK 1. The shares of the Company are registered shares, registered in VPS. The shares of the company 
may be freely transferred. 

General meetings shall be convened with a deadline of no less than 8 days and not longer than 4 weeks. 
The ordinary General Meeting shall be held before the expiry of the month of April. From the notification of 
the shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange and as long as the shares continue to be notified on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange, the convening and holding of General Meetings shall be done in accordance with the 
requirements from any rules which from time to time are prescribed by the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

At the General Meeting, each share shall have one vote. A shareholder may participate in the general 
meeting if the shareholder has requested an admission card not later than 5 days prior to the General 
Meeting. A shareholder may vote on the general meeting, if the shareholder not later than 5 days prior to 
the general meeting has requested a voting paper. 

Representatives of the press as well as representatives of the Oslo Stock Exchange are allowed access to 
General Meetings of the Company. 

The General Meeting shall nominate an election committee of 3 to 5 members. 

The company is governed by a Board of Directors of 3 to 7 members, which are elected at the General 
Meeting for periods of 2 years. Members may be re-elected. The Board of Directors nominates one or 
several managing directors to manage the daily business of the company. 

The management shall conduct the daily business of the company and shall adhere to any decisions and 
rules from as well as requests from the Board of Directors. The daily management does not cover decisions 
which according to the circumstances of the company are unusual or of a particularly great importance. The 
management may only make such decisions if the Board of Directors has given specific authorization 
thereto. The company is bound by the joint signature of the managing director together with one member 
of the Board of Directors. 

The annual accounts of the company are audited by an accountant who is elected by the general meeting 
for one year at the time. The fiscal year of the company is the calendar year. 
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12 TAXATION 
Set out below is a summary of certain tax matters related to investments in Bakkafrost shares. The 
summary is based on Faroese and Norwegian laws, rules and regulations applicable as of the date of this 
Prospectus, and is subject to any changes in law occurring after such date. Such changes could possibly be 
made on a retroactive basis. The summary only addresses Faroese and Norwegian tax laws. The summary 
is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations 
that may be relevant for a decision to acquire, own or dispose of Shares in Bakkafrost. Shareholders who 
wish to clarify their own tax situation should consult with and rely upon their own tax advisers. 
Shareholders resident in jurisdictions other than the Faroe Islands and Norway should consult with and rely 
upon local tax advisors with respect to the tax position in their country of residence.  

Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, a reference to a Faroese, Norwegian or foreign 
shareholder refers to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder. 

12.1 Faroese taxation  

12.1.1 Taxation of dividends – Faroese Shareholders 

12.1.1.1 Individual shareholders 

The company is obligated to make an advance tax deduction from the dividend payment to a Faroese 
individual shareholder. However losses on disposal of shares/securities and other deductions may be set off 
against the dividends in the tax report and may reduce the final tax liability in the tax assessment. Advance 
tax payment exceeding the tax liability according to the assessment is refunded. 

In august 2009 the Faroese Minister of Finance presented a bill proposing to increase the taxation for 
individuals from 35 percent in 2009 to 39 percent in 2010 and then decrease the taxation by 1 percent 
point pr. year until 2014. The bill was adopted by the Faroese parliament by the end of December 2009 and 
the tax percentage applying to individuals in 2010 will be 39 percent, decreasing by 1 percentage point 
each year up until 2014 when the tax percentage will be back on 2009 level.  

12.1.1.2 Corporate shareholders 

The obligation to make advance tax deductions on dividend does not apply to dividends distributed to 
corporations, which are residents to the Faroe Islands. Furthermore, dividends distributed from a company 
registered in Faroese Islands to a company registered and tax resident in the Faroe Islands (Inter-company 
dividends), are tax-exempt.  

12.1.1.3 Shares owned through partnerships 

In the Faroe Islands, partnerships are not considered separate tax subjects. Consequently, the partners 
participating in partnerships will be subject to taxation of their share of the partnership according to their 
individual tax status. 

12.1.2 Taxation of dividends – foreign shareholders 

12.1.2.1 Individual shareholders 

If a company registered and resident in the Faroe Islands is distributing dividends to a foreign individual 
shareholder, the company is required to withhold tax at a rate of 39 percent. The tax rate shall decrease by 
one percentage point in the years 2011 to 2014, from 39 percent in 2010 to 35 percent in 2014.  

If the foreign individual shareholder is resident in a state with which the Faroe Island has entered into a 
double tax treaty (such as between the Nordic countries), the part of the withholding tax exceeding the rate 
set forth in the treaty may be refunded. The inter-Nordic tax treaty stipulates that withholding tax rate shall 
not exceed 15 percent tax on dividends distributed from company resident in a tax treaty state to 
shareholders resident in another tax treaty state, provided that the foreign individual shareholder is the 
beneficial owner of the dividends. Foreign individual shareholders resident in a treaty state may apply for at 
refund of the excess withholding tax (e.g. 24 percent in 2010) on dividends. The shareholder must file an 
application form to the Faroese tax authorities followed by documentation of tax residency abroad. There is 
no formal time-limit for the application. 

12.1.2.2 Corporate shareholders 

If a company registered and resident in the Faroe Islands is distributing dividends to a foreign corporate 
shareholder, the dividend distributing company is required to withhold tax at a rate of 18 percent. For 
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administrative reasons, the company will to begin with withhold 39%. The foreign company shall then 
provide the company or the Faroese tax authorities with documentation, proving that the company is 
registered and liable to pay taxes abroad, and the foreign company shall then receive payment of 21%. If 
the foreign corporate shareholder is resident in a state with which the Faroe Island has entered into a 
double tax treaty (e.g. the Nordic countries), the part of the withholding tax exceeding the rate set forth in 
the treaty may be refunded. The Nordic treaty stipulates that the withholding tax rate shall not exceed 15 
percent tax on dividends distributed from company resident in a tax treaty state to shareholders resident in 
another tax treaty state, provided that the foreign corporate shareholder is the beneficial owner of the 
dividends. If the foreign corporate shareholder holds shares representing at least 10 percent of the 
distributing company’s capital, the dividends is exempt from withholding tax, provided that the foreign 
corporate shareholder is the beneficial owner of the dividends. Foreign corporate shareholders resident in a 
treaty state may apply for at refund of the excess withholding tax on dividends. The shareholder must file 
an application form to the Faroese tax authorities followed by documentation of tax residency abroad. There 
is no formal time-limit for the application. 

12.1.2.3 Shares owned through partnerships 

Comments in section 12.1.1.3 apply. 

12.1.3 Taxation upon realization of shares – Faroese shareholders 

12.1.3.1 Individual shareholders 

A capital gain or loss generated by a Faroese individual shareholder through a disposal of shares in a 
company resident in the Faroe Islands is taxable or tax deductible in the Faroe Islands. The income is 
taxable at a rate of 39 percent, decreasing by one percentage point each year to 35 percent in 2014. The 
gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the 
number of shares disposed of. Special rules may apply for shares acquired before 16. November 2001. 

If shares acquired at different times are realized, the shareholder must apply a “first-in first-out” (FIFO) 
principle when calculating the gain or loss, i.e. the shares that were first acquired will be deemed as first 
sold. Losses on disposal of shares / securities may be set off against profit from other shares / securities 
but not against other income. However, losses may be carried forward indefinite and set off against profit 
from other shares / securities. Brokerage costs incurred in connection with the acquisition and realization of 
shares may be deducted from the Faroese individual shareholders’ taxable gain in the year of realization. 

Interest accrued on debt, which is obtained to fund the acquisition of shares may also be set off against 
profit from other capital gains. However, if the individual shareholder does not have any capital gain to set 
off against the interests, these interests may only be carried forward for five years for set-off purposes 
against other capital gains. 

Special taxation rules may be applicable for Faroese individual shareholders commercially trading in shares.  

12.1.3.2 Corporate shareholders 

Capital gains or loss generated by a Faroese corporate shareholder through a disposal of shares in a 
Faroese company is taxable or tax deductible in the Faroe Islands a rate of 18 percent. The gain is subject 
to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the number of shares 
disposed of. Special rules may apply for shares acquired before 16. November 2001. 

If shares acquired at different times are realized, the shareholder must apply a “first-in first-out” (FIFO) 
principle when calculating the gain or loss, i.e. the shares that were first acquired will be deemed as first 
sold. Losses on disposal of shares/securities may be set off against profit from other shares/securities, but 
not against other income. However, losses may be carried forward indefinite and set off against profit from 
other shares / securities. Brokerage costs incurred in connection with the acquisition and realization of 
shares may be deducted from the shareholders’ taxable gain in the year of realization. 

Interest accrued on debt, which is obtained to fund the acquisition of shares may also be set off against 
profit from other capital gains. However, if the individual shareholder does not have any capital gain to set 
off against the interests, these interests may only be carried forward for five years and set off purposes 
against other capital gains. 

Special taxation rules may be applicable for Faroese corporate shareholders commercially trading in shares 
and securities. 

12.1.3.3 Shares owned through partnerships 

Comments in section 12.1.1.3 apply.  
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12.1.4 Taxation upon realization of shares – Foreign shareholders 
For Investors not resident to the Faroe Islands, capital gains and losses on disposals of shares in the 
company are not subject to Faroese Taxation. 

Investors living outside the Faroe Islands are advised to investigate the tax consequences within their home 
countries. 

12.1.5 Net Wealth tax 
In the Faroe Islands tax regime all taxation is based on income. Consequently, there is no taxation on 
wealth. 

12.1.6 Duties on the transfer of shares 
In the Faroe Islands, there is no duty on transfer of shares. 

12.1.7 Inheritance tax 
 When shares are transferred from a Faroese resident donor by inheritance, an inheritance tax applies. This 
is regardless of where the company is domiciled. 

 The tax percentage is depending on the nature of relationship between the donor and the heir, and the 
market value of the inheritance (progressive tax rates). For close relatives, the duty is ranging from 1 
percent to 6 percent, whereas more distant relatives and inheritance by will, a duty ranging of 7 percent to 
12 percent applies. Companies are charged a 10 percent inheritance duty. 

Inheritance of shares from a donor who is not a Faroese resident is only taxable in the Faroe Islands if the 
inheritance is processed by a Faroese court.  

We encourage non-resident persons to the Faroe Islands to consult local advisors for advice on domestic tax 
rules concerning inheritance tax.  

12.2 Norwegian taxation  

This section summarizes Norwegian tax rules relevant to holders of shares in Bakkafrost that are residents 
of Norway for Norwegian tax purposes (“Norwegian shareholders”). 

12.2.1 Taxation of dividends 

12.2.1.1 Norwegian individual shareholders 

Dividends distributed to Norwegian individual shareholders are taxable as general income at a flat rate of 28 
percent to the extent the dividends exceed a calculated tax-free allowance. The allowance is calculated 
separately for each share as the tax cost price of the share multiplied with a determined risk-free interest 
rate, which will be based on the effective interest rate after tax on Norwegian treasury bills (Norwegian: 
statskasseveksler) with three months maturity. The annual allowance will be allocated to the shareholder 
owning the share on 31 December the relevant income year. The part of the annual allowance exceeding 
the dividend distributed on the share the same year (“unused allowance”) will be added to the tax cost price 
of the share and be included in the basis for calculating the allowance the next year, and may also be 
carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, and against gains upon the realization of, 
the same share. 

If certain requirements are met, Norwegian individual shareholders are entitled to a tax credit in the 
Norwegian tax for any withholding tax imposed on the dividends distributed in the jurisdiction where 
Bakkafrost is resident for tax purposes. However, tax exceeding the withholding tax rate according to the 
tax treaty is not deductible.  

12.2.1.2 Norwegian corporate shareholders 

Dividends distributed to Norwegian corporate shareholders are taxable as general income at a flat rate of 28 
percent. No tax-free allowance is calculated for corporate shareholders.  

If certain requirements are met, Norwegian corporate shareholders are entitled to a tax credit in the 
Norwegian tax for any withholding tax imposed on the dividends distributed in the jurisdiction where 
Bakkafrost is resident for tax purposes. However, tax exceeding the withholding tax rate according to the 
tax treaty is not deductible. 

If the Faroe Islands is not considered a low tax jurisdiction, dividends distributed to Norwegian corporate 
shareholders are tax free in Norway if the shareholder owns at least 10 per cent of the capital and has at 
least 10 per cent of the votes to be given in a shareholders meeting of the company for a consecutive 
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period of two years. The state may be considered a low tax jurisdiction if the general taxation of the 
company’s profits in that state is less than two thirds of the tax liability the company would have had had it 
been a tax resident of Norway. The general rate of corporate taxation in the Faroe Islands is 18 percent of 
net income, which is less than two third of the nominal tax rate in Norway. The general rate of corporate 
taxation in the Faroe Islands does not itself qualify the Faroe Islands as a low tax jurisdiction. The 
Norwegian Tax Authorities has not yet considered whether or not  tax provisions in the Faroe Islands leads 
to the conclusion that the general taxation of the company’s profits in the Faroe Islands is less than two 
thirds of the tax liability the company would have had had it been a tax resident of Norway. Hence the 
Faroe Islands could be considered a low-tax jurisdiction and the participation exemption method may not be 
applicable.  

3 percent of all tax-free income under the participation exemption method shall be entered as general 
income and taxed at the ordinary tax rate of 28 percent. Losses on realisation of shares under the 
participation exemption method may reduce the income from shares to zero, but not create a loss carry 
forward or reduce taxable income from other sources. 

12.2.1.3 Shares owned through partnerships 

Partnerships are as a general rule transparent for Norwegian tax purposes. Taxation occurs at partner level, 
and each partner is taxed on a current basis for its proportional share of the net income generated by the 
partnership at a rate of 28 percent, regardless of whether such income is distributed to the partners or not.  

If the Faroe Islands is not considered a low tax jurisdiction, dividends received by the partnership, from 
qualifying objects under the participation exemption method, are not taxed on a current basis. However, 3 
percent of all tax-free income under the participation exemption method shall be entered as general income 
and taxed at the ordinary tax rate cf. the description of tax issues related to corporate shareholders above. 

For partners who are Norwegian individual shareholders further taxation occurs when the dividends received 
are distributed from the partnership to such partners. Such distributions will be taxed as general income at 
a rate of 28 percent. The Norwegian individual shareholders will be entitled to deduct a calculated allowance 
when calculating their taxable income.  

Norwegian corporate shareholders holding shares through a partnership will be exempt from further 
taxation of their proportional part of dividends received and distributed by the partnership.  

12.2.2 CFC-legislation in Norway (NOKUS) 
According to Norwegian CFC-legislation (“NOKUS”), Norwegian resident individual and corporate 
shareholders are subject to annual taxation in Norway for their proportionate part of the taxable net income 
of a foreign company resident in a low tax jurisdiction (cf. section 12.2.1.2), if Norwegian resident 
shareholders have direct or indirect ownership of shares of 50 percent or more of a company’s share 
capital. The CFC-rules are not applicable if the company is based in a state which Norway has entered into a 
double tax treaty and the income of the company is not mainly of a passive character. The evaluation of 
whether a holding company has income of mainly passive character depends upon whether or not the 
holding company takes an active role in the management of the business of the subsidiaries. 

The Company is of the opinion that its income shall not be considered to be of passive character under the 
Norwegian CFC legislation. 

12.2.3 Taxation of capital gains upon the realization of shares 
Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realisation for Norwegian tax purposes.  

12.2.3.1 Norwegian individual shareholders 

A capital gain or loss generated by a Norwegian individual shareholder through a disposal of shares in a 
foreign company is taxable or tax deductible in Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted 
from the basis for computation of general income in the year of disposal. The general income is taxable at a 
rate of 28 percent. The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of 
the ownership and the number of shares disposed of. The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per 
share as the difference between the consideration received and the purchase price of the share. Any unused 
allowance on a share (see above) may be set off against gains upon the realization of the same share, but 
this may not lead to or increase a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain 
upon the realization of a share will be annulled. If shares acquired at different times are realized, the 
shareholder must apply a “first-in first-out” (FIFO) principle when calculating the gain or loss, i.e. the 
shares that were first acquired will be deemed as first sold. Costs incurred in connection with the acquisition 
and realization of shares may be deducted from the Norwegian individual shareholders’ general income in 
the year of realization. Special exit taxation rules may apply when a Norwegian individual shareholder 
moves abroad and the Norwegian tax residency ceases. 
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12.2.3.2 Norwegian corporate shareholders 

Capital gains or loss generated by a Norwegian corporate shareholder through a disposal of shares in a 
foreign company is taxable or tax deductible in Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted 
from the basis for computation of general income in the year of disposal. The general income is taxable at a 
rate of 28 percent. The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of 
the ownership and the number of shares disposed of. The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per 
share as the difference between the consideration received and the purchase price of the share.  

If the Faroe Islands is not considered a low tax jurisdiction, a gain or loss realised on the shares are tax 
free/non deductible in Norway, if the Norwegian shareholder has owned at least 10 per cent of the capital 
and have had at least 10 per cent of the votes to be given in a shareholders meeting of the company for a 
consecutive period of two years prior to the realisation of such gain or loss. As mentioned under section 
12.2.1.2, the Faroe Islands may be considered a low tax jurisdiction if the general taxation of the 
company’s profits in the Faroe Islands is less than two thirds of the tax the company would have had had it 
been a tax resident of Norway. 

However, 3 percent of all tax-free income under the participation exemption method shall be entered as 
general income and taxed at the ordinary tax rate of 28 percent. Losses on realisation of shares may reduce 
the income from shares to zero, but not create a loss carry forward or reduce taxable income from other 
sources.  

12.2.3.3 Shares owned through partnerships 

Partnerships are as a general rule transparent for Norwegian tax purposes. Taxation occurs at partner level, 
and each partner is taxed on a current basis for its proportional share of the net income generated by the 
partnership at a rate of 28 percent, regardless of whether such income is distributed to the partners or not.  

Capital gains received by the partnership, from realization of qualifying objects under the participation 
exemption method, are not taxed on a current basis. However, 3 percent of all tax-free income under the 
participation exemption method shall be entered as general income and taxed at the ordinary tax rate cf. 
the description of tax issues related to corporate shareholders above. 

For partners who are Norwegian individual shareholders further taxation occurs when the capital gains 
received are distributed from the partnership to such partners. Such distributions will be taxed as general 
income at a rate of 28 percent. The Norwegian individual shareholders will be entitled to deduct a calculated 
allowance when calculating their taxable income.  

Norwegian corporate shareholders holding shares through a partnership will be exempt from further 
taxation of their proportional part of capital gains received and distributed by the partnership. 

12.2.4 Net Wealth Tax 
Norwegian limited liability companies and certain similar entities are exempt from Norwegian net wealth 
tax. For other Norwegian shareholders, shares will form part of their capital and be subject to net wealth 
taxation by the state and the local municipality. Listed shares are valued at 100 percent of their listed value 
on 1 January in the assessment year. The maximum combined state and municipal rate of the wealth tax is 
1.1 percent. 

12.2.5 Duties on the transfer of shares 
No stamp or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer or issuance of shares in foreign 
companies. 

12.2.6 Inheritance tax 
When shares are transferred either through inheritance or as a gift, such transfer may give rise to 
inheritance or gift tax in Norway if the decedent, at the time of death, or the donor, at the time of the gift, 
is a resident or citizen of Norway, or if the shares are effectively connected with a business carried out 
through a permanent establishment in Norway. However, in the case of inheritance tax, if the decedent was 
a citizen but not a resident of Norway, Norwegian inheritance tax will not be levied if inheritance tax or a 
similar tax is levied by the decedent’s country of residence. 
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13 LEGAL MATTERS  

13.1 Regulatory framework 

Aquaculture in all countries is subject to an extensive regulatory framework, both nationally and 
internationally, part of which is updated/amended on a continuous basis in line with the industry’s 
development. This includes legislation specific to aquaculture, including that related to the license system 
and the control of fish diseases, as well as other public regulation which also affects aquaculture activities, 
including anti-pollution legislation, harbour and coastal water legislation, planning and building legislation, 
and requirements regarding food safety, labelling of food products, food hygiene and food additions. 
International regulations within the EU/EEA and WTO are also of particular importance in this context. 
Several treaties governing international trade provide for the possibility to take anti-dumping measures, 
countervailing measures against specific (product related export) subsidies and the safeguards against a 
sudden overflow by an unforeseen increase in imports. Furthermore, bilateral and multilateral free trade 
agreements provide for free trade of goods. This regulatory framework places clear limits on the industry’s 
growth and method of operation, but is also intended to ensure that the industry operates and develops in a 
sustainable manner. A number of authorities and government departments are involved in the regulation of 
the industry in the individual countries. 

This Prospectus includes only a brief description of the regulatory framework in force in the Faroe Islands as 
well as a short presentation of individual issues associated with the United States, the EU and Russia. 

13.2 International trade 

13.2.1 Exports to the European Union etc 
The Faroe Islands are a self-governing territory with its own elected government, encompassed by the 
external sovereignty of the Kingdom of Denmark. The Faroe Islands are not a member of the European 
Union. 

The Faroese have negotiated a fisheries agreement and a free trade agreement with the EU. At present the 
Faroe Islands are in negotiations with the EU to widen the scope of cooperation to the so called four 
freedoms – the free movement of goods, services, capital and persons. 

On 1 November 2006, the Faroese entered into a special economic treaty with Iceland, which established a 
single economic area, encompassing both countries where any discrimination regarding goods, services, 
capital and persons is prohibited. 

In addition to the EU and Iceland, the Faroe Islands have entered into regional free trade agreements with 
Norway and Switzerland as well as a Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment Agreement with the Russian 
Federation. The Faroese Government is in a process of investigating the feasibility of obtaining membership 
of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA). 

The current free trade agreement between the Faroe Islands and the European Union, from 1997, covers a 
broad scope of products with regard to Faroese export. Likewise, it follows from the agreement that the EU 
has duty-free access on all export to the Faroese market.  

The first Free Trade Agreement between the Faroese and the EU was concluded in 1991 and subsequently 
revised in 1996. After negotiations between the parties, Protocol 1 on market access was ratified and a 
great number of restrictions with regard to origin of products were removed. All quota ceilings have been 
lifted and still more goods are custom free or below the usual 3.0 flat rate. 

The scope of the Free Trade Agreement is very extensive if comparison is made with usual third country 
free trade agreements. Examples of this can be found in the Harmonized System (HS) Chapter 0301-0307 
and HS Chapter 16 in the Free Trade Agreement, according to which fresh fish and chilled fish are custom 
free. Frozen fish is also toll free in all areas of importance for the Faroese industry and processed fish goods 
are largely toll free in areas of importance for the Faroese industry. 

Currently, only four groups of products in the Free Trade Agreement are under restrictions when it comes to 
duty free access of Faroese goods in the EC market. These are: peeled shrimp with a quota up 3000 t (to be 
raised to 6000 t if requested by the Faroese Government) a herring with a quota of 700 t, preserved salmon 
with a quota of 400 t and other preserved: quota 1200 t. 

The Faroe Islands has a quota on export of trout to the EU on 700 tonnes. For the remaining volumes 
exceeding this quota, the Company will have to pay a toll of 12%. This toll has very little effect on the 
Company due to low volumes of trout, and possibilities to sell the fish toll free to other markets. 

Some years ago the EU authorities instigated proceedings against Faroese fish farmers, alleging that 
Faroese fish farmers had dumped prices. These allegations were dropped in 2002. In 2005 Faroese fish 
farmers were convicted of having dumped the price of trout, and punitive duties were imposed.  
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There is therefore a risk that fish farmers within the EU may put forward allegations of dumping, especially 
if the market price of salmon is below cost price for a prolonged period.  

13.2.2 Exports to the United States 
Large parts of the Company’s products are exported into the United States, and the United States import 
regulations applicable from time to time is accordingly of material importance for the Company. 

No impediments exist for the export of salmon and trout from Faroese fish farmers to the United States. 
Exporters shall, however, obtain a certificate of registration, which may be obtained from the FDA Registrar 
Corp. This requirement has been imposed according to the Health security and bioterrorism preparedness 
and response Act of 2002, P.L. 107-188.  

No veterinary conditions hinder trade with the United States.  

13.2.3 Exports to Russia 
Buyers from Russia shall pay duties on goods imported from the Faroe Islands. It is a precondition for sale 
to Russian customers that these customers have an agreement with the Faroese exporter and that the 
agreement has been accepted by the Russian authorities.  

13.3 Local regulation in the Faroe Islands 

13.3.1 Basic legislation 
Act on Aquaculture – Authorizations required for Fish Farming Operations  

Licences for the farming of fish and fish fry etc. are issued by the Faroese government according to 
Parliamentary Act No. 83 from 25 May 2003 on the farming of fish etc.   

It appears from the act that the Faroese government may issue licences to companies, which are authorized 
to conduct business within fish farming. It appears from § 5(3) that the licence is issued for a period of 12 
years from the date of issue. The Faroese government may prolong the licence period, if the licensee fulfils 
the conditions prescribed by the Act. If the company fulfils the conditions in the license and if a continuation 
of the activities is not contrary to overall development plans, which have been adopted, it must be assumed 
(but there can be no assurance for) that the company has a legal claim to have the license period 
prolonged. 

The Fish Farming Act also refers to the Act on the protection on the Environment, the Act on Animal 
Diseases as well as the Act on the Production of Food, which means that companies, which conduct fish 
farming operations, must also fulfil the conditions prescribed by these acts.  

It appears from § 7 of the act that licences for fish farming may be issued to public limited companies and 
private limited companies, which are registered with the Faroese Company Registry. It appears from § 7 
that the shares shall be registered shares. 

It also follows from § 7(2) that no physical or legal person may neither directly or indirectly own or control 
more than 50 per cent of the issued licences. The calculation of the licences is made according to § 13 in 
the Act on Competition. Altogether Bakkafrost holds 44% of all licenses in the Faroe Islands.  

The rule regarding a maximum ownership of 50 per cent of the licences does, however, not apply to 
licences with regard to fry. It appears from the act that the Faroese government shall receive written 
information on any material change in the ownership or voting rights in companies, which possess licences 
to conduct fish farming.  

If a transfer of ownership is deemed to be a breach of the legislation, the Faroese government may order 
the company to correct the matter within a deadline set by the government.  

It appears from § 7(4) that the government may under quite special circumstances give dispensation from 
the above mentioned rules. It appears from § 8 that the government may withdraw licences for fish farming 
operations if substantial preconditions have been changed since the licence was issued, or if the licence 
goes against overall development plans and protective measures according to § 11 of the act, or if the 
licensee breaches the conditions set in connection with the issuance of the licence. The licence may also be 
withdrawn, if the company breaches the rule on maximum ownership in § 7(3), or if the company does not 
use the licence. The licence may also be withdrawn, if the environmental licence of the company is 
repealed. It appears from § 14 that licences for fish farming may be assigned. The assignee shall, however, 
fulfil the conditions prescribed by the act. It appears from § 15 that licences for fish farming may be 
pledged according to the rules on pledging of movables. It appears from § 15(3) and (4) that a possible 
pledge does not hinder the authorities from using their powers, and the pledging does not give security in 
advantage of the rights of the issuer of the licence with regard to day fines etc. according to §§ 22 and 23.  
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13.3.2 Act on the Production of Food 
The production of food is regulated by Act No. 46 from 21 June 1985 on Food with later amendments. The 
act is administered by the Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency, which is an institution under the Faroese 
government. It appears from § 30 in the Act on Food that any production of food requires a specific 
authorization from Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency.  

A number of executive orders have been issued according to the Act on the Production of Food. To a great 
extent, rules regarding the production of food are the same, which apply within the EU.  

With executive order No. 9 from 5 February 2009, the Faroese government put into force for the Faroe 
Islands the Regulation of the Commission No. 2073/2005 on microbiological criteria for food with 
amendments according to regulation No. 1141/2007 from 5 February 2007.  

According to the Act on the Production of Food Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency also controls import 
and export of food.  

13.3.3 Legislation on Combating Animal Diseases etc.  
Act No. 16 from 23 February 2001 on combating animal diseases applies in the Faroe Islands.  

The act contains rules, from which duties apply from time to time on a licensee to combat animal diseases, 
and which initiatives the government may implement in order to combat animal diseases.  

The act gives the Faroese government the right to implement special protective measures to combat animal 
diseases, i.e. the government may demand that animals are put down. The act on Combating Animal 
Diseases is administered by Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency.  

Executive order No. 134 from 16 October 2009 on the running of fish farming installations with a view to 
hinder diseases has been issued according the Act on the Combating Animal Diseases.  

The executive order contains quite specific rules regarding the veterinary conditions in connection with the 
running of fish farming installations.  

The executive order contains rules regarding the geographical placement of fish farming installations as well 
as rules regarding distance between installations etc. The executive order contains a detailed description of 
the areas in the Faroe Islands, where fish farming activities are allowed. The act also contains operation 
plans, which i.e. contain rules regarding fallowing of localities with a view to preventing diseases and 
protecting the environment.  

The executive order also contains rules regarding the organization of fish farming installations, here under 
rules regarding the equipment, which shall be in place. Companies conducting fish farming activities shall 
from time to time keep preparedness in connection with possible accidents, here under in connection with 
the pollution of the environment as well as possible outbreaks of diseases.  

Fish farming companies shall from time to time keep a plan with regard to operations as well as procedures 
in connection with the internal control of operations. The executive order also contains rules regarding 
maximum size of biomass as well as rules on the releasing of fish fry as well as rules regarding 
requirements on hygiene.  

The Faroese government has also issued executive orders No. 19 and 20 from 14 March 2005 on combating 
ILA as well as the inoculation against the same.  

The control of lice in the Faroe Islands is regulated by statutory measures, which, among other things, 
covers synchronised regional de-licing at the end of winter to protect the production. In addition, obligatory 
systematic lice counting in all farms as well as boundary values for infestation levels are parts of the new 
departmental order No. 163 issued on 21 December 2009. All delicing treatments must be evaluated, and in 
case of lack of effects reasons for this must be sorted out. If the lice have become multiresistant 
appropriate measures must be taken to ensure fish health and welfare.  

In connection with the trade agreement with the EU the Faroe Islands have in 2001 and 2008 entered into 
veterinary agreements with the EU. According to said veterinary agreements, the Faroe Islands have 
undertaken to follow the rules of the EU in the veterinary area in all major areas with regard to the 
production of food, i.e. in connection with measures on combating/notification of diseases, animal welfare 
and measures in order to protect the animal welfare, applying to animal products, measures in order to 
protect public welfare etc.  

It is stated in the agreements that the agreements supplement the trade agreement between the Faroe 
Islands and the EU, and that they have been made with a view to consolidating and broadening the existing 
economic ties between the EU and the Faroe Islands with proper regard to the demand and securing proper 
competitive conditions in order to ensure a harmonic development of trade. The parties have undertaken 
not to lay down veterinary rules, which may entail a differential treatment or to implement new measures, 
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hindering trade. The parties have also undertaken to live up to the rights and obligations, which follow from 
the WTO-agreement on the use of measures with regard to health and the health of plants.  

It is a consequence of the veterinary agreement with the EU that the Faroe Islands are a part of the inner 
veterinary area of the EU. Consequently the Faroe Islands may export goods to the EU without any border 
control. The control within the EU area is administered by the veterinary authorities of the respective areas. 
In the Faroe Islands, the control is administered by the Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency, which has 
been licensed by the EU to conduct such control.  

The Faroe Islands have in similar fashion entered into a veterinary agreement with Russia. The agreement 
with Russia follows the same principles, which have been agreed between the Faroe Islands and the EU.  

The Faroese Food and Veterinary Agency has been licensed by Russian Authorities to conduct veterinary 
control and accept the goods prior to departure from the Faroe Islands. This is done through a health 
certificate for each shipment. It, however, occurs that goods are delayed, although formal conditions are in 
order.  

In 2008 Russian authorities imposed a ban on the import of salmon and other fish products from the Faroe 
Islands. In the summer of 2009 the ban was repealed as Russian authorities confirmed the licence of the 
Faroese authorities and also accepted the procedures, according to which trade is organized.  

13.3.4 Act on Environmental Protection 
The Faroese rules regarding environmental protection are found in Parliamentary Act No. 134 from 29 
October 1988 with later amendments, the latest of which has been made with Parliamentary Act No. 128 
from 22 December 2008.  

In chapter 5 the act contains rules regarding activities, which are deemed to be especially dangerous for the 
environment. Fish farming installations are covered by this chapter. Any company, covered by chapter 5, 
requires a specific licence from the government. The licence may be given for periods of 5 years. After the 
expiration of this period the government may implement new conditions, which the activities shall fulfil in 
order to obtain a new licence.  

If the activities do not fulfil the conditions, which are set in connection with the environmental licence, the 
government may issue a new deadline in order to fulfil these claims. If the conditions are not fulfilled, the 
government may as a last resort impose a ban against the continuing operations of the activity.  

13.4 Legal disputes 

The Company is involved in a court case in Belgium, where a company named Pieter’s has filed a lawsuit, 
claiming payment of approximately DKK 3,000,000 in connection with a delivery of goods in August 2000. 

The Company was originally ordered to pay the amount by the court but upon appeal, the company was 
acquitted by the High Court. The case has been appealed by Pieter’s to the Belgian Supreme Court. The 
case has not yet been closed. 

Other that as disclosed in this section, Bakkafrost is not and has not during the previous 12 months been 
involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had in the recent 
past, significant effects on the Company’s or the Group’s financial position or profitability, and to its 
knowledge no such proceedings are pending or threatened. 

13.5 Material contracts 

The Board of Directors for Bakkafrost and P/f Vestlax Holding on 8 January 2010 proposed to merge the 
companies with financial effect from 1 January 2010. Bakkafrost will be the continuing company, whilst 
Vestlax Holding ceased to exist. The merger was resolved by the general meeting on both companies on 15 
February 2010. The shareholders in P/f Vestlax Holding have received 972,064 new shares in the continuing 
company compared to the 2,991,789 shares outstanding in Bakkafrost pre merger. 

Other than the agreement between Bakkafrost and Vestlax regarding the merger of the two companies, as 
further described above and agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business, no material 
contract has been entered into by Bakkafrost or any member of the Group for the two years immediately 
preceding the date of this Prospectus, and no contract containing obligations or entitlements that are, or 
may be, material to the Group as of the date of this Prospectus has been entered into by any member of 
the Group. 

13.6 Selling and transfer restrictions 

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering of the Offer Shares in the Offering may in certain 
jurisdictions be restricted by law. Persons in possession of this Prospectus are required to inform 
themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. Neither the Company nor the Managers shall have 
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any responsibility or liability for any violation of such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute an 
offer of, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, any of the Offer Shares in any jurisdiction or in any 
circumstances in which such offer or solicitation would be unlawful. No actions have been taken to register 
or qualify the Offer Shares to be offered in the Offering or otherwise to permit a public offering of the 
securities in any jurisdiction outside of Norway and the Faroe Islands. Accordingly, if you reside in any 
country other than Norway and the Faroe Islands, you may not be permitted to subscribe for or trade Offer 
Shares. The Company and the Managers require persons into whose possession this Prospectus or the 
Offering comes to inform themselves of, and observe, all such restrictions. Any failure to comply with such 
restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. Neither the Company 
nor the Managers accepts any legal responsibility for any violation by any person of any such restrictions. 
You warrant to the Company and the Managers that you can lawfully participate in the Offering and comply 
with the terms of this Prospectus and applicable legislations, and expressly agrees to that the Company and 
the Managers can rely on this warrant and to indemnify the Company and the Managers with respect to any 
loss incurred by it as a result of your violation of this warrant. 

Investors should consult their professional advisors as to whether they require any governmental or other 
consent or need to observe any formalities to enable them to subscribe for the Offer Shares. 

13.6.1 United States 
The Offer Shares and the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with 
any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be 
offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred within the United States except pursuant to an exemption 
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and in 
compliance with any applicable state securities laws.  Accordingly, the Offer Shares in the Offering will not 
be offered or sold within the United States, except to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 
under the Securities Act.  Transfers of the Offer Shares will be restricted and each purchaser will be deemed 
to have made acknowledgments, representations and agreements, as described in this Prospectus. 

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, an offer or sale of the Offer Shares 
within the United States by a dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance 
with Rule 144A. 

Because of the following restrictions, prospective investors are advised to consult legal counsel prior to 
making any offer for, resale, pledge or other transfer of, the Offer Shares. 

The Offer Shares and Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any state 
securities law and may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption 
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable 
state laws.  Accordingly, the Offer Shares in this Offering are being offered and sold: 

In the United States only to “qualified institutional buyers” as such term is defined under Rule 144A under 
the Securities Act; and 

Outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Each purchaser of Offer Shares within the United States pursuant to Rule 144A, and each subsequent 
purchaser thereof, will be deemed to have represented and agreed as follows (terms used herein that are 
defined in Rules 144A or Regulation S are used herein as defined therein): 

You (A) are a qualified institutional buyer, (B) are aware, and each beneficial owner of such Offer Shares 
has been advised, that the sale of the Offer Shares is being made in reliance on Rule 144A and (C) are 
acquiring such Offer Shares for your own account or for the account of a qualified institutional buyer, as the 
case may be; 

You understand that the Offer Shares and Shares have not been and will not be registered under the 
Securities Act and may not be reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (A) (i) to a person 
who you reasonably believe is a qualified institutional buyer in a transaction meeting the requirements of 
Rule 144A, (ii) in an offshore transaction complying with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S or (iii) 
pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 there under, if 
available, and (B) in accordance with all applicable securities laws of the states of the United States; 

You acknowledge that the Offer Shares are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) 
under the Securities Act and that no representation is made as to the availability of the exemption provided 
by Rule 144 for resale of Offer Shares. 

Purchasers of the Offer Shares outside the United States will be deemed to have represented and agreed as 
follows: 

The purchaser: (a) is, and the person for whose account it is acquiring the Offer Shares, if any, is outside 
the United States, (b) is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of an affiliate of the 
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Company and (c) is not in the business of buying or selling securities or, if it is in such business, did not 
acquire the Offer Shares in the initial distribution of the Offer Shares; 

the purchaser is aware that the Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities 
Act and are being offered outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S; 

upon sale of the Offer Shares pursuant to Regulation S, the purchaser will be required, or will be deemed by 
its purchase thereof, to confirm that it is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Offer Shares 
pursuant to Regulation S described in this Prospectus; 

the purchaser has: (a) conducted its own investigation with respect to the Company and the Offer Shares, 
(b) had access to the Company’s public filings and to such financial and other information as it deems 
necessary to make its decision to purchase the Offer Shares, (c) received all information that it believes is 
necessary or appropriate in connection with our purchase of the Offer Shares; and (d) made its own 
assessment and have satisfied itself concerning the relevant tax, legal, currency and other economic 
considerations relevant to its investment in the Offer Shares; and 

The purchaser and any accounts for which it is acting are each able to bear the economic risk of the 
investment contemplated hereby. 

The Company will not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer made other than in compliance 
with the above-stated restrictions. 

13.6.2 European Economic Area 
In relation to each member state of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus 
Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) an offer to the public of any Offer Shares which are the subject 
of the Offering may not be made in that Relevant Member State other than offers contemplated by this 
Prospectus in that Relevant Member State after this Prospectus has been approved by the competent 
authority in that Relevant Member State and published and pass ported in accordance with the Prospectus 
Directive as implemented in that Relevant Member State. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an offer to the 
public in that Relevant Member State of any Offer Shares may also be made at any time under the following 
exemptions under the Prospectus Directive, if they have been implemented in that Relevant Member State: 

• to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so 
authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities; 

• to any legal entity which has two or more of (i) an average of at least 250 employees during the last 
financial year; (ii) a total balance sheet of more than EUR 43,000,000 and (iii) an annual net turnover of 
more than EUR 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts; 

• to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 
Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the Company for any such offer; or 

• in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive; 

provided that no such offer of Offer Shares shall result in a requirement for the publication by the Company 
or the Managers of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer to the public” in relation to Offer Shares in any 
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information 
on the terms of the Offering and any Offer Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 
purchase or subscribe for any Offer Shares as the same may be varied in that Member State by any 
measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, and the expression “Prospectus 
Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant 
Member State. 

13.6.3 United Kingdom 
No Offer Shares may be offered to the public in the United Kingdom prior to the publication of a prospectus 
in relation to the Offer Shares and the Offering that has been approved by the United Kingdom Financial 
Services Authority (the “FSA”) or where appropriate, approved in another Member State and notified to the 
FSA, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except to persons who fall within the definition of 
“qualified investor” as that term is defined in section 86(1) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
(the “FSMA”) or otherwise in circumstances which do not require the publication by the Company of a 
prospectus pursuant to section 85(1) of the FSMA. 

13.6.4 Australia 
This Prospectus has not been and will not be lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission or the Australian Stock Exchange, and is not a disclosure document for the purposes of 
Australian law.  This Prospectus (whether in preliminary or definitive form) may not be issued or distributed 
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in Australia and no offer or invitation may be made in relation to the issue, sale or purchase of the Offer 
Shares in Australia (including an offer or invitation received by a person in Australia), unless the offer or 
invitation does not need disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Division 2 of Part 7.9 of the Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth). Restrictions on the resale of the Offer Shares in Australia may also apply under Australia’s 
Corporations Act and, as such, professional advice should be obtained in such a situation. 

13.6.5 Japan 
The Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan, 
as amended (the “SEL”) and, accordingly, no Offer Shares will be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in 
Japan or to, or for the account or benefit of, any Japanese Person except under circumstances which will 
result in the compliance with the SEL and any other applicable laws and regulations promulgated by the 
relevant Japanese governmental and regulatory authorities and in effect at the relevant time. For the 
purposes of this paragraph, “Japanese Person” shall mean any person resident in Japan, including any 
corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan. 
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14 DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
The following definitions and glossary apply in this Prospectus unless otherwise dictated by the context, 
including the foregoing pages of this Prospectus.  

TABLE 14-1 DEFINITIONS & GLOSSARY OF TERMS:  

Applicant The investor applying for Offer Shares through submission of the 
Application Form 

Application The submission of the Application Form to the Managers 

Application Form The Application Form attached as Appendix 7 and 8 to this Prospectus 

Application Offices Nordea Markets, Føroya Banki and Carnegie 

Application Period From 09.00 CET 8 March 2010 to 17.30 CET 23 March 2010 

Aquaculture Fish farming or food production in water to supplement nature’s own 
production of fish and other seafood 

Articles or Articles of Association The current articles of association of Bakkafrost (Appendix 1) 

Bakkafrost P/f Bakkafrost, the holding company of the Group of companies.   

Board of Directors or Board   The Board of Directors of P/f Bakkafrost  

Bookrunners Nordea Markets and Føroya Banki 

Brood fish  Fish that are used for reproduction purposes 

Carnegie   Carnegie ASA   

CEO   Chief Executive Officer   

CET Central European Time 

CFO   Chief Financial Officer   

Company Bakkafrost and subsidiary companies, unless otherwise indicated by the 
context 

DKK or Danish kroner The lawful currency of Denmark 

EBIT   Earnings before interest and tax   

EBITDA   Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization   

EU  The European Union 

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations 

Faroese Public Company Act  Act no. 1356 of 9 December 2007 

Feed Conversion rate (FCR)  The relationship between feed input and growth of farmed production 

FHL  Fiskeri  og havbruksnæringens landsforening 

FO-GAAP GAAP; accounting principles generally accepted in Faroese Islands 

GDP   Gross Domestic Product, the total market value of all final goods and 
services produced in a country in a given year, equal to total consumer, 
investment and government spending, plus the value of exports, minus 
the value of imports. 

Green Shoe Over allotment option 

Group or Bakkafrost Group   The Company and its subsidiaries (as defined by section 1-3 of the 
Norwegian Public Companies Act.   

GW Weight of round fish after removal of heart, guts, stomach and kidneys. 
(gutted weight) 

GWE   Gutted Weight Equivalent (same as HOG)   

Hatchery A facility into which eggs are placed for hatching 

HOG   Head On Gutted (same as GWE)   

ICES  International Council for Exploration of the Sea 

IFRIC   International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee.   

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

ISIN Securities number in the Norwegian Registry of Securities (VPS) 

Kontali  Kontali Analyse AS 

Listing The listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs 

LWE  Live weight equivalents 
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Managers   Nordea Markets, Føroya Banki and Carnegie   

MDKK Millions DKK 

Money Laundering Act   The Money Laundering Act of 20 June 2003 no. 41 
(“Hvitvaskingsloven”).   

New Shares   New shares to be issued by the Company in the IPO   

NOK   Norwegian Kroner, the lawful currency in Norway   

Nordea Nordea Bank Norge ASA 

Norwegian Corporate Governance Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance dated 28 
November 2009 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2009 no. 75 

Offer Price The price payable for the Offer Shares of NOK 27 - NOK 31 

Offer Shares Includes New Shares intended to raise about Nok 82,000,000 in gross 
proceeds and minimum 14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 
Secondary Shares in a public offering through this Prospectus 

Offering Offering of New Shares intended to raise about Nok 82,000,000 in 
gross proceeds and minimum 14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 
Secondary Shares in a public offering through this Prospectus 

Oslo Børs Oslo Børs ASA 

PPE Property, Plant and Equipment 

Primary processing  The slaughter and initial processing of farmed fish, ex. bled and gutted 
fish 

Principal Selling Shareholder  P/f Føroya Banki 

Prospectus   This Prospectus dated 4 March 2010 prepared in connection with the 
Listing on Oslo Børs  

QIB   Qualified Institutional Buyer, as defined in Rule 144A under the US 
Securities Act.   

R&D Research & Development 

Secondary processing Processing subsequent to primary processing (e.g. filleting, skinning 
and cutting into portions) 

Secondary Shares Minimum 14,649,752 and maximum 18,645,271 Secondary Shares to 
be sold by the Selling Shareholders in the Offering   

Share Capital The share capital of the Company as registered in the Register of 
Business Enterprises as a combination of the total number of Shares 
issued times the par value of the Shares 

Shares The Company’s current Share Capital is DKK 46,250,000 divided on 
46,250,000 shares each with a par value of DKK 1, prior to the 
Offering. 

Subscriber   Investor ordering for Shares in the IPO  

US Securities Act or Securities Act The Securities Act of 1933, as amended.   

VPS   Verdipapirsentralen (Norwegian Central Securities Depository), which 
organizes the Norwegian paperless securities registration system.   

VPS account   An account with VPS for the registration of holdings of securities.   

Well boat  A special vessel for the transportation of live fish 

WFE  Whole fish equivalent (round, ungutted fish) 

YTD   Year to date   
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15 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

15.1 Documents on Display 

15.1.1 Appendix 
For the life of this Prospectus the following documents will be available as Appendices to the Prospectus: 

Appendix 1: Articles of Association for P/f Bakkafrost 

Appendix 2: P/f Bakkafrost: 2009 financial statements converted to IFRS, including the auditor’s report for 
the transition to IFRS in 2009 

Appendix 3: P/f Bakkafrost: 2008 annual financial statements FO-GAAP 

Appendix 4: P/f Bakkafrost: 2007 annual financial statements FO-GAAP 

Appendix 5: P/f Vestlax: 2009 financial statements FO-GAAP 

Appendix 6: Statement from independent Auditor regarding Pro forma figures 

Appendix 7: Norwegian Retail Application Form 

Appendix 8: Faroese Retail Application Form 

The Prospectus will be made publicly available at Company’s and Manager’s offices at the below addresses 
and at www.nordea.no/bakkafrost, www.carnegie.com and www.foroya.fo as of 8 March 2010. 

15.1.2 Company Office 
For the life of this Prospectus the following documents are available for inspection at the Company’s offices: 

Memorandum of Incorporation 

 

The Company's office:    

P/F Bakkafrost 
Bakkavegur 9, 
FO-625 Glyvrar 
Faroe Islands 
 

15.2 Statement regarding sources 

The Company confirms that when information contained in this Prospectus has been sourced from a third 
party it has been accurately reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware and able to ascertain from the 
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced 
information inaccurate or misleading. 
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NORWEGIAN RETAIL 
APPLICATION FORM 
P/f Bakkafrost 
NORWEGIAN RETAIL 
OFFERING  
 
 
 
 
Norwegian Retail 
Application Offices: 
 

Nordea Bank Norge ASA, 
Securities Services – Issuer Services 
P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum, NO-0107 Oslo   
TEL +47 22 48 62 62 
FAX +47 22 48 63 49 
www.nordea.no/bakkafrost 

 
Carnegie ASA 
P.O Box 684 Sentrum  NO-0106 Oslo 
TEL +47 22 00 93 20 
FAX: +47 22 00 99 60 
www.carnegie.no 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SPECIFICATION OF THE 
APPLICATION: 

For information regarding the Norwegian Retail Offering (the “Noregian Retail Offering”) by P/f Bakkafrost (the ”Company”), 
please see the prospectus dated 4 March 2010  (the “Prospectus”). Applications are subject to the terms and conditions set 
forth in the Prospectus and this Norwegian Retail Application Form. Words and expressions which are defined in the 
Prospectus shall have the same meaning when used herein. Norwegian Retail Application Forms may be faxed, mailed or 
delivered in the period from 0900 CET 8 March 2010 to 1400 CET on 23 March 2010 to one of the Norwegian Retail 
Application Offices. Properly completed Norwegian Retail Application Forms must be received by a Norwegian Retail 
Application Office by 1400 CET on 23 March 2010. It is not sufficient for the Norwegian Retail Application Form to be 
postmarked within the Norwegian Retail Application Period. Norwegian citizens may also apply for Offer Shares on the web 
pages  www.nordea.no/bakkafrost or www.carnegie.no within the Norwegian Retail Application Period. Neither the Company, 
nor the Managers nor the Norwegian Retail Application Offices may be held responsible for postal delays, unavailable fax lines, 
unavailable internet lines or servers or other logistical or technical problems that may result in applications not being received 
in time or at all by the Norwegian Retail Application Offices. By signing and submitting this Norwegian Retail Application Form, 
applicants confirm that they have read the Prospectus and are eligible to apply for Offer Shares in the Norwegian Retail 
Offering under the terms set forth in the Prospectus. The Company, the Managers and the Norwegian Retail Application 
Offices reserve the right to disregard improperly completed, delivered or executed Norwegian Retail Application Forms, or any 
application which may be unlawful. An application is irrevocable and may not be withdrawn, cancelled or modified once it has 
been received by a Norwegian Retail Application Office. The applicants must satisfy the applicable requirements under the 
Norwegian Money Laundering Act No. 11 of 6 March 2009. The notice of the extraordinary general meeting of the Company 
held on 15 February (with attachments), the Company’s articles of association and its annual reports for the years 2007 to 
2009 are available at the Company’s web page www.bakkafrost.com. 
 
An Indicative Price Range of NOK 27 – NOK 31 has been set for the Offer Shares. The final Offer Price may be above, below 
or within this price range. Notice of any change to the non-binding Indicative Price Range will be given through the Oslo Børs 
information system. The application can be made conditional upon the final Offer Price not exceeding the high end of the 
Indicative Price Range as included in this Norwegian retail Application Form (i.e. disregarding any changes in the Indicative 
Price Range). If the application is made subject to such condition, and the final Offer Price exceeds the high end of the 
Indicative Price Range, the applicant will not be allotted Offer Shares. If the application is not made subject to such condition, 
the application will be binding irrespective of the final Offer Price. The final Offer Price will be determined by the Company and 
the Principal Selling Shareholder following advice from the Managers after the expiry of the Book-building Period following a 
book-building process as described in the Prospectus.  
 
By signing this Norwegian Retail Application Form, the applicant grants Nordea Bank Norge ASA an irrevocable one-time 
authorisation to debit the subscription amount for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant from the bank account 
designated by the applicant below. The amount will be debited on or about 30 March 2010. The entire subscription amount 
must be available on the designated bank account no later than 29 March 2010. If there are insufficient funds at the 
applicant’s designated bank account, if it is impossible to debit the bank account for the subscription amount or if proper and 
timely payment is not otherwise made, the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant will be withheld. Interest will in such case 
accrue at the applicable rate under the Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payments of 17 December 1976 No. 100, 
currently 8.25% percent p.a. The Managers reserve the right to make up to three debits in the period up to seven 
workingdays if there are insufficient funds on the account on the debiting date. If an applicant fails to comply with the terms 
of payment, the Offer Shares will, subject to the discretion of the Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder, not be 
delivered to the applicant, and the Managers and the Principal Selling Shareholder reserve the right, at the risk and cost of 
the applicant (however, so that the applicant will not be entitled to any profit therefrom), to cancel the application and to re-
allot or otherwise dispose of the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as the Managers and the Principal 
Selling Shareholder may decide in accordance with Norwegian law. The original applicant remains liable for payment of the 
Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, cost, charges and expenses accrued, 
and the Company, the Managers or the Principal Selling Shareholder may enforce payment for any such amount outstanding. 
Applicants who do not have a Norwegian bank account  or is allocated Offer Shares for an amount in excess of NOK 5 million 
must contact the Managers to arrange for payment. 

Notification of allocated Offer Shares and the corresponding amount to be paid by each applicant is expected to be distributed 
in a letter on or about 24 March 2010. 

Delivery of the Offer Shares is expected to take place on or about the evening of  30 March 2010. The applicants may trade 
with the allocated Offer Shares once they have been listed on Oslo Børs, however only with standard t+3 setlement the first 
three trading days. No account to account transfers may be carried out in the VPS the first three trading days after Listing. 
The Company expects that the Offer Shares will be listed on Oslo Børs on or about 26 March 2010. 

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Managers disclaim any liability to persons who submit applications or 
orders for Offer Shares in the Norwegian Retail Offering. All persons who submit applications or orders for Offer Shares in the 
Norwegian Retail Offering shall be deemed to have accepted this disclaimer of liability. The Offering may, in certain 
jurisdictions, be restricted by law. For more information on applicable restrictions in respect of the Offer Shares, see section 
13.6 “Selling and transfer restrictions” of the Prospectus. 

 
 
 

Applicant’s VPS-account number (12 digits) *) I/we irrevocably apply for the following number of Offer Shares  
(minimum 500 Offer Shares – maximum 40,000 Offer Shares): 

 
 

                   
 
 

  
My/our application is conditional upon the final Offer Price not exceeding the 
Indicative Price Range (insert cross) (must only be completed if the 
application is conditional upon the final Offer Price not exceeding the high 
end of the Indicative Price Range):  
 

    

 
 

One-time authorisation for debiting bank account (required information): 

 
The undersigned hereby grants an irrevocable authorisation to Nordea Bank Norge ASA 
to debit the Norwegian bank account set out herein for the consideration for the                                         ________________________________________________________ 
Offer Shares allocted (number of allotted Offer Shares multiplied by Offer Price])                                                                    Bank account (11 digits) 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                     Place and date of application.      Binding signature. The applicant must be of age. 
          (Must be dated within the Norwegian Retail Application Period.)      When signed on behalf of another person, evidence of authority must be provided. 
 
 
PLEASE FILL IN DETAILS REGARDING APPLICANT BELOW (REQUIRED INFORMATION) 

Applicant’s first name 
 
Applicant’s surname/firm etc. 
 
Street address etc. (private applicants; home address) 
 
Postal code and area 
 
Nationality 
 
Telephone (at day time)/Telefax/e-mail 
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Appendix 8:  

Faroese Retail Application Form 



 
 
 

Applicant’s VPS-account number (12 digits)/Applicant’s nominee VPS-account number I/we irrevocably apply for the following number of Offer Shares  
(minimum 500 Offer Shares – maximum 40,000 Offer Shares): 

 
Account bank:__________________     Account number: ________________________ 

 

                   
 
 

  
My/our application is conditional upon the final Offer Price not exceeding the Indicative Price Range 
(insert cross) (must only be completed if the application is conditional upon the final Offer 
Price not exceeding the high end of the Indicative Price Range): 

    

 
 

One-time authorisation for debiting bank account (required information): 

 
The undersigned hereby grants an irrevocable authorisation to (insert name of account holding bank which must be the Faroes Retail Application Office or a Faroese Retail Sales Agency)  _____________________________ 
to debit the Faroese bank account set out herein for the consideration for the Offer Shares allocted (number of allotted Offer Shares multiplied by Offer Price] __________________________________________ 
           Bank account (reg. No. and account number) 
 

 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                     Place and date of application.      Binding signature. The applicant must be of age 18 years 
          (Must be dated within the Faroese Retail Application Period.)      When signed on behalf of another person, evidence of authority must be provided. 
DETAILS RE. APPLICANT (REQUIRED INFORMATION) 

Applicant’s VPS account No./nominee VPS account No. 
 

 

Applicant’s first name 
 

 

Applicant’s surname/firm etc. 
 

 

Street address etc. (private applicants; home address) 
 

 

Postal code and area 
 

 

Date of birth and national ID number 
 

  

Dividends to be credited to bank account (Reg. No. and account No.)) 
 

 

Nationality 
 

 

Telephone (at day time)/Telefax/e-mail 
 

 

 

FAROESE RETAIL 
APPLICATION FORM 
P/F Bakkafrost 
FAROESE RETAIL 
OFFERING 
  
 
Faroese Retail Application 
Office: 
 

Føroya Banki 
Húsagøta 3 
P.O. box 3048 
FO-110 Tórshavn 
Faroe Islands 
Tel +298 330 330 
Fax +298 319 055  
 

 
 
Faroese Sales Agencies: 
 

Eik Banki 
Yviri við Strond 2 
P.O. Box 34 
FO-110 Tórshavn   
Faroe Islands 
Tel +298 348 000 
Fax +298 348 862 
 
Suðuroyar Sparikassi 
P.O. Box 29 
FO-900 Vágur 
Faroe Islands 
Tel +298 359 870 
Fax +298 359 871 
 
Norðoya Sparikassi 
Ósavegur 1 
P.O Box 149 
FO-700 Klaksvík 
Faroe Islands 
Tel +298 475 000 
Fax +298 476 000 
 

 
 
 
SPECIFICATION OF THE 
APPLICATION: 

For information regarding the Faroese retail offering (the “Faroese Retail Offering”) by P/F Bakkafrost (the ”Company”), 
please see the prospectus dated 4 March 2010 (the “Prospectus”). Applications are subject to the terms and conditions set 
forth in the Prospectus and this Faroese Retail Application Form. Words and expressions which are defined in the Prospectus 
shall have the same meaning when used herein. Faroese Retail Application Forms may be faxed, mailed or delivered in the 
period from 8 March 2010 to 14.00 CET on 23 March 2010 to the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales 
Agencies. Properly completed Faroese Retail Application Forms must be received by the Faroese Retail Application Office or 
the Faroese Sales Agencies by 14.00 CET on 23 March 2010. It is not sufficient for the Faroese Retail Application Form to be 
postmarked within the Faroese Retail Application Period. The retail branches of Føroya Banki, Eik Banki, Suðuroyar Sparikassi 
and Norðoyar Sparikassi will be available to assist in delivering the Faroese Retail Application Forms to the Faroese Retail 
Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies. Note however, that the Faroese Retail Application Forms must be received 
by such retail branches no later than the day before the end of the application period specified above, i.e. no later than 22 
March 2010 to ensure that it will be received by the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies prior to 
the end of said application period.  By signing and submitting this Faroese Retail Application Form, applicants confirm that 
they have read the Prospectus and are eligible to apply for Offer Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering under the terms set 
forth in the Prospectus. Neither the Company nor the Managers or the Faroese Sales Agencies (including their respective 
retail branches) may be held responsible for delays in the mail system, busy facsimile lines or for non-receipt of Faroese 
Retail Application Forms forwarded by facsimile to the Faroese Retail Application Office or the Faroese Sales Agencies. The 
Company, the Managers and Faroese Sales Agencies reserve the right to disregard improperly completed, delivered or 
executed Faroese Retail Application Forms, or any application which may be unlawful. An application is irrevocable and may 
not be withdrawn, cancelled or modified once it has been received by the  Faroese Retail Application Office or a Faroese Sales 
Agency. The applicants must satisfy the applicable requirements under the Danish Decree which brings into force on the 
Faroe Islands the Act on Measures to Prevent Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism No. 626 of 27 June 2008 as 
amended from time to time.  
An Indicative Price Range of NOK 27 – NOK 31 has been set for the Offer Shares. The final Offer Price may be above, below 
or within this price range. Notice of any change to the non-binding Indicative Price Range will be given through the Oslo Børs 
information system. The application can be made conditional upon the final Offer Price not exceeding the high end of the 
Indicative Price Range as included in this Faroese retail Application Form (i.e. disregarding any changes in the Indicative Price 
Range). If the application is made subject to such condition, and the final Offer Price exceeds the high end of the Indicative 
Price Range, the applicant will not be allotted Offer Shares. If the application is not made subject to such condition, the 
application will be binding irrespective of the final Offer Price. The final Offer Price will be determined by the Company and the 
Principal Selling Shareholder following advice from the Managers after the expiry of the Book-building Period following a 
book-building process as described in the Prospectus.  
By signing this Faroese Retail Application Form, the applicant grants the Faroese Retail Application Office or the relevant 
Faroese Sales Agency an irrevocable one-time authorisation to debit the subscription amount for the Offer Shares allocated to 
the applicant from the bank account designated by the applicant below. The amount will be debited on or about 30 March 
2010. The entire subscription amount must be available on the designated bank account no later than 29 March 2010. If 
there are insufficient funds at the applicant’s designated bank account, if it is impossible to debit the bank account for the 
subscription amount or if proper and timely payment is not otherwise made, the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant will 
be withheld. Interest will in such case accrue at the applicable rate under the Decree wich brings into force on the Faroe 
Islands the Faroese Act on Interest on Overdue Payment No. 638 of 21 December 1977 as amended from time to time, 
currently 6.75 percent p.a. The Faroese Retail Application Office and the relvant Faroese Sales Agency reserve the right to 
make up to three debits in the period up to 6 April 2010 if there are insufficient funds on the account on the debiting date. If 
payment is not made within three days after the due date, the Faroese Retail Application Office or the relevant Faroese Sales 
Agency reserve the right without further notice to take over the allocated Offer Shares and/or, at the cost and risk of the 
applicant to sell the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as it decides in accordance with applicable 
regulations. The original applicant remains liable for payment of the Offer Price multiplied by the number of allocated Offer 
Shares, together with any interest, costs, charges and expenses accrued, and payment may be enforced for any such amount 
outstanding.  
Please note that the bank account and the VPS account or nominee VPS account shall be registered at the same account-
holding bank, and that the Faroese Retail Application Form must be submitted to the Faroese Sales Agency or the Faroese 
Retail Application Office that holds the applicant’s bank and VPS account or nominee VPS accounts.Delivery of the Offer 
Shares is expected to take place on or about 30 March 2010. An applicant will not under any circumstances be entitled to sell 
or transfer its Offer Shares until these shares have been paid in full by such applicant and registered on the applicant’s VPS 
account or nominee VPS account. The Company expects that the Offer Shares will be listed on Oslo Børs on or about 26 
March 2010. 
To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Managers and the Faroese Sales Agencies disclaim any liability to 
persons who submit applications or orders for Offer Shares in the Faroese Retail Offering. All persons who submit applications 
or orders for Offer Shares in the Faroeses Retail Offering shall be deemed to have accepted this disclaimer of liability. The 
Offering may, in certain jurisdictions, be restricted by law. For more information on applicable restrictions in respect of the 
Offer Shares, see section 13.6 “Selling and transfer restrictions” of the Prospectus. 
Finally in order to provide the Managers with information enabling them to perform the allocation procedure and Oslo Børs 
with information enabling them to determine whether the requirements for listing of the Company on Oslo Børs have been 
met, by signing this Faroese Retail Application Form the applicant authorizes the relevant Faroese Sales Agencies to provide 
Føroya Banki, and Føroya Banki as Manager, to provide Nordea Markets, as Manager, and Oslo Børs with the applicants 
name,  Date of Birth or V-tal, and number of Offer Shares allocated to the applicant .  



 
 

100226 
WWW.SIGNATUR.NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P/F Bakkafrost 
Bakkavegur 9 

FO-625 Glyvrar 
Faroe Islands 

 
Telephone: +298 40 50 00 
Fax:          +298 40 50 09 

www.bakkafrost.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nordea Markets Føroya Banki 
Middelthunsgate 17 Húsagøta 3 

P.O. Box 1166 Sentrum P.O. Box 3048 
NO-0107 Oslo FO-110 Tórshavn 

Norway Faroe Islands 
  

Telephone: +47 22 48 62 62 Telephone: +298 330 330 
Fax:           +47 22 48 63 49 Fax:           +298 319 936 

 
 
 
 

Carnegie ASA 
Stranden 1 

P.O Box 684 Sentrum 
NO-0106 Oslo 

Norway 
 

Telephone: +47 22 00 93 20 
Fax:          +47 22 00 99 60 

 




